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CORPORATE PROFILE 2 A& 4T

Guangdong - Hong Kong Greater Bay Area Holdings Limited (formerly
known as Hydoo International Holding Limited before 14 July 2020, the
“Company” or “GHKGBA Holdings”) is listed on the main board of the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 01396.HK) on 31 October 2013.
The Company’s corporate vision is to “empower the future of cities for
creating a better life”. The Company positions itself as a “new ecological
industrial city service provider”, with the aim of building a harmonious
industrial ecosystem that comprises mutually beneficial related parties,
such as customers, companies, governments, employees and the natural
environment, to deliver services to cities. The Company focuses on the
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area (the “Greater Bay Area”)
and situates its headquarters in the Greater Bay Area, regarding the
Greater Bay Area as a highland with a strategic value to develop residential
and urban renewal projects.

Guided by the development strategies of the Greater Bay Area, the
Company carried out strategic restructuring in 2019 by bringing in
strategic shareholders, coordinating the sharing of the strong financial
resources of these new strategic shareholders, providing a diverse range
of industrial resources as well as for their operating experience to assist
the Company with its innovative development and industrial upgrade.
In 2020, the Company strategically upgraded into a “new ecological
industrial city service provider” based on the corporate gene of “driving
urban prosperity with industrial development”. In order to better serve
the national strategy of the Greater Bay Area, the Company developed
the new “YOUNGO” brand based on the original brand of Hydoo for trade
centre business, implemented dual-brand operation and also change
name to Guangdong - Hong Kong Greater Bay Area Holdings Limited.

The Company continues to develop the trade centre business under the

brand of “HYDOO”, while expanding various business sectors under the
brand of “YOUNGO”, such as high-end housing, urban renewal, etc.
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CORE VALUE #/0MB{E

Corporate Positioning - New Ecological Industry City Service Provider EETER — FTAERREW RS

Corporate Vision - Empowering the future of cities for creating a better RS - AR KEETER
life

Entrepreneurship - Learning ability is competitiveness TEFE-EFNREFTFD
Core value - Integrity, innovation, excellence and win-win results ROEBE-—#E - B 28 HE
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CORPORATE INFORMATION 2 B & #}

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Zeng Yunshu (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Choi Hing (Co-Chairman)
(re-designated from a non-executive director on 27 June 2022)
Mr. Cai Hongwen (Co-Chairman)
Mr. He Fei (CEO) (appointed on 27 June 2022)
Ms. Wei Haiyan (appointed on 27 June 2022)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Feng Ke (appointed on 27 June 2022 and
resigned on 1 March 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Dai Yiyi (resigned on 7 April 2022)
Mr. Guan Huanfei (appointed on 27 June 2022)
Mr. Han Qinchun (appointed on 27 June 2022)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Han Qinchun (Chairman of the Audit Committee)
(appointed on 27 June 2022)

Mr. Guan Huanfei (appointed on 27 June 2022)

Mr. Dai Yiyi (resigned on 7 April 2023)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Dai Yiyi (Chairman of the Nomination Committee)
(resigned on 7 April 2023)

Mr. Zeng Yunshu

Mr. Han Qinchun (appointed on 27 June 2022)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Guan Huanfei (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee)
(appointed on 27 June 2022)

Ms. Wei Haiyan (appointed on 27 June 2022)

Mr. Han Qinchun (appointed on 27 June 2022)
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COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Liang Lina

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Zeng Yunshu
Mes. Liang Lina

REGISTERED OFFICE

PO Box 309

Ugland House

Grand Cayman KY1-1104
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL ADMINISTRATION AND MANAGEMENT
CENTERS IN THE PRC

Level 32, Block A

Hong Long Century Plaza

Luohu District

Shenzhen, the PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Room 1509, 15/F
Tower One, Silvercord
No. 30 Canton Road
Kowloon, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR

Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited
P.O. Box 1093, Boundary Hall

Cricket Square

Grand Cayman, KY1-1102

Cayman Islands
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CORPORATE INFORMATION 2 B & #}

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR IN HONG KONG

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai

Hong Kong

AUDITORS

Reanda Lau & Au Yeung (HK) CPA Limited

Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance with
the Financial Reporting Council Ordinance
(Chapter 588 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of China
Agricultural Bank of China
Zheshang Bank

LISTING INFORMATION
Share Listing

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
Stock code: 1396

Senior Notes Listing

The Company’s 13.85% senior notes due 2023
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited

COMPANY'’S WEBSITE

Www.youngogroup.com

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Telephone: (852) 2885 9877
Email: ir@youngogroup.com
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EIEEsim R 247

BUSINESS REVIEW

Since 2022, major challenges such as weak economic recovery, sovereign
debt risks, and the Ukraine crisis have intertwined, resulting in a situation
where the world economy is characterized by “one low, five high”
situation, namely, low growth, high inflation, high costs, high interest
rates, high leverage, and high uncertainty. Faced with challenges such as
the turbulent international environment and ongoing sporadic outbreaks
of COVID-19 domestically, China’s GDP reached RMB121 trillion in 2022,
with a year-on-year increase of 3%, indicating a slowdown in economic
growth.

In 2022, the real estate market continued the downward trend. The
central government maintained its regulatory policies of “housing for
living instead of speculation” and “region-specific regulatory policies”,
and the underlying principle of “stabilising land prices, housing prices,
and expectation”. Tightened policies on both the funding and pricing
sides and the weakened short-term income expectations of residents,
made it difficult to boost demand in the real estate market. Real estate
companies faced increased financial pressure, and some experienced debt
repayment crises both domestically and overseas, resulting in the break of
their financing chains. In the second half of the year, although the central
government released the signal of policy adjustment and optimization,
further smoothing the financing chains of real estate companies and the
recovery of consumer confidence in the real estate market still require
time.

Being continuously affected by various unfavorable factors including
macroeconomic environment, real estate market and financial
environment, and multiple rounds of COVID-19 pandemics in 2022, the
business development of the Group had been adversely challenged, the
Group recorded contracted sales amount of approximately RMB2,450.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2022 (“FY2022" or the “Year”),
which had decreased by approximately 46.5% as compared to the year
ended 31 December 2021 (“FY2021") (FY2021: RMB4,582.5 million). As at
31 December 2022, the total land bank of the Group with land use rights
confirmed was approximately 8.2 million sq.m. (31 December 2021: 9.4
million sq.m.).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS E I 8 & im & 2 7

OUTLOOK FOR 2023

The year 2023 is the critical year for the transition of Chinese economy
from the “epidemic prevention mode” to the comprehensive recovery
after the pandemic. Global economic growth is expected to slow down,
and external demand may become weak, leading to significant challenges
for China’s export trade. Domestic economic support may shift towards
internal circulation, while the transition of epidemic prevention and
control measures will still require time. Consumer demand may remain
weak, making stability in the real estate market increasingly important.
The central government continues to maintain the underlying principle
of “housing for living instead of speculation”, and there remains room
for optimizing policies on both the supply and demand sides. Policy
measures are expected to be further strengthened to support the
reasonable financing needs of enterprises. The financing chains of real
estate companies is expected to become more smooth, and their financial
situations may improve. However, the recovery of the market confidence
still requires time, and real estate companies still face significant pressure.

Facing the new landscape of future real estate development, the Group
will implement a prudent land acquisition strategy on the investment
side and develop projects through cooperation, to realise complementary
strengths, reduce investment risks, lower land expenditures, and
ensure sufficient cash flow. On the sales side, the Group will continue to
accelerate collection of sales proceeds and boost sales through proactive
and flexible sales strategies to strengthen operating cash flows and ensure
return on investment. On the operation side, the Group will strengthen
the implementation of quality improvement strategy to greatly improve
the product quality and service quality, and meanwhile, the Group will
continue to apply strict cost control, which in turn will enhance product
price premium and ensure the coordinated development of profitability
and high quality. On the financing side, the Company will strive to actively
expand financing channels, improve maturity profile and reduce financing
costs.

The Group will ride the tide of time to keep on actively exploring
investment opportunities in the Greater Bay Area, grasp the potential of
regional economic and industrial development and population policy,
and achieve balance between the development of scale and profit
enhancement in order to steadily forge ahead.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EIEEsim R 247

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

In FY2022, the Group’s revenue was approximately RMB3,168.1 million
(FY2021: approximately RMB5,570.9 million), which mainly generated from
property development and related services and trading business, amongst
which, revenue generated from property development and related
services was approximately RMB1,121.5 million (FY2021: approximately
RMB4,088.2 million), representing a decrease of 72.6%, which was mainly
due to the overall unfavourable operating environment in the real estate
industry in China and the continuous impact of the COVID-19 pandemic,
which has resulted in a severe decline in the overall sales area and average
selling price of properties when compared to the last year.

Cost of Sales

In FY2022, the Group’s cost of sales was approximately RMB3,214.1 million
(FY2021: approximately RMB4,835.6 million), which mainly encompassed
land cost, construction cost, cost generated from trading business,
capitalized interest and government grants credited to cost of sales.
Amongst the total cost of sales of the Group for the Year, the cost of sales
for the property development and related services was approximately
RMB1,168.0 million (FY2021: approximately RMB3,358.8 million),
representing a decrease of 65.2%, which was mainly due to the decrease
in delivered area of properties during the Year.

Gross (Loss)/Profit

In FY2022, the Group recorded gross loss of approximately RMB46.0
million, while the Group recorded gross profit of approximately RMB735.3
million for FY2021. The turnaround from profit to loss was mainly due to
the overall unfavorable operating environment in the real estate industry
in China and the continuous impact of the novel coronavirus epidemic,
which has resulted in a severe decline in the overall sales area and average
selling price of properties.

Other Net Loss

Affected by various unfavorable factors such as macroeconomic
environment, real estate market environment and financial environment,
and multiple rounds of COVID-19 pandemics, the Group has experienced
enormous operating, financing and cash flow pressure. Against
the backdrop of the adverse market conditions, the Group actively
implemented various measures to improve its liquidity, including reducing
non core and unessential operation businesses and assets to accelerate
cash collections, and recorded a net loss of approximately RMB56.2 million
during the Year (FY2021: loss of approximately RMB165.8 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS E I 8 & im & 2 7

Cost Control

The total amount of distribution and administration expense were
approximately RMB463.5 million for FY2022, representing a decrease of
30.8% from approximately RMB669.5 million in FY2021. The decrease was
mainly due to that the Group actively implemented various measures
including reducing non-core and unessential operations and expenses
and reducing the remuneration and benefits of the directors, senior
management team and employees, to against the backdrop of the
adverse market conditions.

Impairment Loss

During 2022, the whole market has been facing severe difficulties and
challenges and the fair value of the assets of the Group also decreased,
which resulted more impairment loss was provided during the Year.

During FY2022, the impairment loss of approximately RMB340.0
million (FY2021: RMB12.1 million) was recognized by the Group, mainly
representing (a) the impairment loss on financial assets measured at
amortisation cost of approximately RMB138.8 million (FY2021: RMB12.1
million); (b) the impairment loss on assets of disposal group classified
as held for sale of approximately RMB112.5 million (FY2021: Nil); and (c)
impairment loss on interest in joint ventures of approximately RMB88.8
million (FY2021: Nil).

Fair Value Loss on Investment Properties

The Group's investment properties carried at fair value as at 31 December
2022 were valued by Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory
Limited, an independent firm of surveyors.

In FY2022, due to unfavorable effect of the overall slowdown of real
estate market, a fair value loss of RMB677.4 million was recognised for
the existing investment properties by the Group (FY2021: approximately
RMB9.7 million).

Finance Costs

Financial cost mainly included interest expense on bank loans, senior
notes and other borrowings. In FY2022, the finance costs of the Group
were approximately RMB400.3 million, representing an increase of 34.8%
from approximately RMB297.0 million of the last year. The increase was
mainly due to increase in bank loans and other borrowings during the
Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EIEE 1m0 47

Taxation

Income tax expenses comprised PRC CIT, PRC LAT and deferred taxation.
The Group recorded a minus tax expense for FY2022, which was mainly
due to that the Group recorded operating loss and fair value loss in
investment properties for the Year.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

In 2022, the Group’s capital resources primarily included cash flow
generated from business operations, cash from bank loans and other
borrowings, and advances from controlling shareholders, which were used
in our business operations and investment in development of projects.

The Group expects that cash flow generated from business operations
and borrowings will continue to be the main sources of funds in the
coming year. Therefore, the Group will continue to strengthen cash flow
management, improve the efficiency of capital returns of projects and
stringently control the cost and various expenses. Meanwhile, the Group
will make investment only after conducting stringent scientific assessment
and considering changes in policies and markets. Besides, the Group
will continue to explore the opportunities to cooperate with foreign and
domestic investors, in order to provide other sources of funding for the
business development.

Cash Position

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s total cash balances (including
pledged and restricted cash) amounted to approximately RMB1,940.4
million (31 December 2021: approximately RMB2,136.8 million). The
pledged and restricted cash was mainly pledged to banks for certain
mortgage facilities granted to purchasers of the Group’s properties,
pledged for bank loans and pledged for bills payables.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS E I 8 & im & 2 7

Borrowings

The Group adopts a prudent financial policy for proactive conduct of
debt management and optimizing debt structure to ensure balance in
financial risks and cut-down of finance costs. As at 31 December 2022, the
Group had bank loans and other borrowings of approximately RMB4,909.7
million (31 December 2021: approximately RMB3,271.3 million) and
senior notes of approximately RMB2,609.8 million (31 December 2021:
approximately RMB2,346.5 million) and financial liabilities measured at
amortised cost of approximately RMB352.6 million (31 December 2021:

fﬁ/T)\

AEBRAZEMNIIEBER - BB ESETER
B BLEBEE  BRORTEHERELE
EEERKA - B2022F 128318 - REBETE
TN EMEELHAREL909.78E7T(2021F12
A318 : HARKE3271388T) BAEENA
ARE26098HET(20215F12A318 : HARK
23465EH &) MABBRKATENESRHEED
BARE3526EE (20215128318 : AR

RMB863.5 million) as follows: 863.5HEIL) o E -
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET ARETTT
Repayment Period BREH
Repayable on demand and within 1 year WMEDRHEEN —FUR 3,202,125 1,000,245
Repayable after 1 year but within 2 years —FRERMFAEE 2,211,009 3,534,735
Repayable after 2 years but within 5 years WMERBERFAEE 2,310,419 1,555,297
Repayable after 5 years AFREE 148,529 391,043
Total ast 7,872,082 6,481,320

A portion of the bank loans and other borrowings were secured by
a pledge of properties and equipment, land use rights, investment
properties, properties under development, completed properties held for
sale and cash at bank of the Group.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had contingent liabilities relating
to guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities provided by domestic
banks to its customers amounting to approximately RMB3,255.5 million
(31 December 2021: approximately RMB3,243.7 million). Pursuant to
the terms of the guarantees, upon default in mortgage payments by a
purchaser, the Group would be responsible for repaying the outstanding
mortgage principal together with accrued interest and penalties owed
by the defaulting purchaser to the bank, but the Group would be entitled
to assume legal title to and possession of the related property. These
guarantees will be released upon the earlier of (i) the due registration
of the mortgage interest held by the commercial bank upon the subject
property; or (ii) the satisfaction of the mortgage loan by the purchaser of
the property.
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Commitments

Capital commitments outstanding as at 31 December 2022 contracted but
not provided for in the financial statements were as follows:

AYE

72022F 12 A3 HERTHE RV BRMER NERE
BB AEIET ¢

As at 31 December

M12H831H
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARBTT

Construction and development contracts BEREREY 1,348,488 5,000,054
Land agreements THAEX - 251,550
Total et 1,348,488 5,251,604

Key Financial Ratios

The following table sets out our key financial ratios as of the dates
indicated:

FEHHE
TREFIRMBEFT B BT BN -

As at 31 December

M12A31H

2022 2021
Current ratio® e O 1.40 1.62
Gearing ratio® BEAEX 34.7% 27.1%
Notes: BeE -

(1) Current ratio is calculated by dividing current assets by current liabilities.

(2)  Gearing ratio is calculated by dividing bank loans and other borrowings,
senior notes and other financial liabilities measured at amortised cost by total
assets.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

The Group'’s businesses are principally conducted in Renminbi. Other
than certain overseas bank deposits, interests in joint ventures, the senior
notes and other borrowings denominated in foreign currencies, the Group
does not have any material exposure directly due to foreign exchange
fluctuations. The management will continue to closely monitor foreign
currency exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

() RBULFIZERDEERNURBDAMGETE

Q BEAGBHERRBITERREMEES BER
BRAESBKAGENEMSRBERNEEE

N
=5
Al °

SMNEE LB

AEBEBTEAAREET - RIAINETHER
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FEEIN  AEEYEEREHINERSHEMNE
RERR - B EHIHED VB EINERR L R
HERZELEITERINERS
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Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries, Associated
Companies and Joint Ventures

On 3 March 2022, the Company and Silver Ocean Investments Limited
(“Silver Ocean”) entered into a share transfer agreement, pursuant to
which, the Company had agreed to sell, and Silver Ocean had agreed
to acquire, 100% equity interests in Well Harmony Enterprises Limited,
a then wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, at a consideration
of HK$151,135,000. For details of this transaction, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 3 March 2022.

Save as disclosed above and in the section headed “Connected
Transaction” in the Directors’ Report of this report, the Group had no
material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associated companies or
joint ventures during FY2022.

Employment and Remuneration Policy

Human resource has always been the most valuable resource of the Group.
In terms of the remuneration system, the Group built comprehensive value
chains and diversified incentive mechanism, and formed a comprehensive
remuneration system with basic salary, performance based salary, short-
term incentives as well as medium and long term incentives covering
various businesses, which have greatly enhanced the enthusiasm of
operation units and employees. The remuneration committee of the
Company reviews such packages annually, or when occasion requires.
The Company has also adopted a share option scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute
to the success of the Group's operations.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 855 employees (31 December
2021: 1,275 employees). For FY2022, total staff costs of the Group were
approximately RMB176.2 million (FY2021: approximately RMB248.5
million).

BEANBREENBARE - BEQATIRESE
NG|

720223 A3H © &R A H Silver Ocean
Investments Limited ( [ Silver Ocean | ) ] 32 f% 13
wEpE - BRERNDEZGS  A2FREH
& - Silver OceanRAIEEE AN RER2EWB A
AIEFI 2B R A F00%MEE - RERE
151,135,0007C ° AKX HHIFIE - FREAR
AIHEIA2022F3 A3AM RS ©

all

BREAREAREEETEREFERS | —FiH
WENBRI - REER2022MBFELEEKR
BB HEMBLAR  BERARRAERA]

BERFMBUR

AT —ERAKESEENER - FHE RS
| ANEEREYTREER - ZITCABIEE
T AEARTE - BHHE  EHRBETE
HHABSRESFEHENEEFTHER - A
BTRKEEMRETINERN - AARFHME
BeBFYIMBBRRTZEFFE - NRBTERME
BRE S EERAKERINEEFLERD
BERSEERHMER -

72022124318 - NEBR 8 H855A(20214F
12A318 1 1,275A) 20201 R E & » @B
TITHRAHNARE1762BE TR0 HEFE 4
ARE2485FETT) ©
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Capital Structure

On 17 August 2022, the Board proposed to implement a share
consolidation (the “Share Consolidation”) on the basis that every ten
(10) issued and unissued existing shares of the Company of HK$0.01 each
will be consolidated into one (1) consolidated Share of HK$0.1 each (the
“Consolidated Share(s)”), details of which are set out in the circular of the
Company dated 26 August 2022. The Share Consolidation was approved
by the Shareholders at the special general meeting of the Company
held on 23 September 2022 (the “SGM”) and became effective on 27
September 2022.

As at 31 December 2022, the Company’s total number of issued shares
was 453,735,400 at HK$0.1 each (after adjustment for capital consolidation
which became effective on 27 September 2022) (31 December 2021:
4,537,354,000 at HK$0.01 each).

BEARERE

202298 H170  EFEREHRETROEHF(TR
BEG])  EEAFT0)RFREE.0TEITH
ARARBEEITRARBETRERNDEHAE )RS
REEIVETTHAE RN ([ E6RM ) « FFI5E
RARARHEA202298 A26 8 2 WK » IR A O
RARAFIN2022F9 A3 H BT 2 R ERIAS
([RERBERI RS ]) FERERE - WH2022F9 7
27BRBAERL -

R2022F 128318 » ARARIBEITRHDBEEA
453,735,400 % & L E0.178 70 2 B (B2 2022
FOR27AERZRAE HHEL FHEE) (20214
124318 : 4,537,354,000/% F X E{E0.0178 7T 2 &
m) e
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For the financial year ended 31 December
BEZ12ABLEMBEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARB®TRT ARETT ARBTRT ARETR

Results E3
Revenue WA 3,168,080  5570,884 3,737,158 1583308 2,842,202
Gross profit/(loss) T8,/ (5518) (45,974) 735254 1,286,733 572,880 1,142,917
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRIBT(B51B),/ 8 (1,916,618) (355,669) 725,883 (144,361) 416,620
Income tax FRSH 187,591 (89,441) (369,610) (132,924) (306,733)
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(EIE),/ FIE (1,729,027) (445,110) 356,273 (277,285) 109,887
Attributable to: AT & B
Equity shareholders of the Company AR AR (1,571,832) (498,484) 360,696 (271,221) 106,995
Non-controlling interests i (157,195) 53,374 (4,423) (6,064) 2,892
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(EER),/ B (1,729,027) (445,110) 356,273 (277,285) 109,887

16  GUANGDONG - HONG KONG GREATER BAY AREA HOLDINGS LIMITED 275 &422 & 5 [R A 7
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As at 31 December

MW12831H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TRE ARETRT ARETRT ARETT AREBTT
Financial position B AR

Non-current assets FERBEE 2,708,667 3,650,383 4,252,906 3,749,929 3,525,690
Current assets AR 19,998,734 20,222,582 14,724,095 11,098,893 11,045,370
Current liabilities TEaRE 14,311,628  12,490269 11,986,892 7,619,921 7,354,244
Net current assets MEEEFE 5,687,106 7,732,313 2,737,203 3,478,972 3,691,126
Total assets less current liabilities BEERREAR 8,395,773 11,382,696 6,990,109 7,228,901 7,216,816
Non-current liabilities FERBAE 4,881,168 5,725,569 1,131,745 2,279,894 1,937,922
Net assets BEEEE 3,514,605  5657,127 5858364 4,949,007  527889%
Share capital (RN 36,598 36,598 36,598 31,825 31,825
Reserves & 3,384,945 5051474 5555799 4,900,927 5,207,006

Total equity attributable to equity KA R
shareholders of the Company e i R ER 3,421,543 5088072 5592397 4932752 5,238,831
Non-controlling interests R 93,062 569,055 265,967 16,255 40,063
Total Equity R 3,514,605  5657,127 5858364 4,949,007 527889

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 F %R
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The Board hereby present this annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group mainly comprise property
development and sale, property management, operation, trading of
non-ferrous metals and chemical products and other business. The
Group focuses on the development of urban renewal projects and high-
end housing projects in the Greater Bay Area, especially in Shenzhen,
Dongguan and Huizhou. Details of the principal activities of the principal
subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note 15 to the financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A business review of the Group is set out on page 7 of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to supporting the environmental sustainability
and complying with PRC environmental protection laws and regulations.
These include regulations on air and noise pollution and discharge of
waste and water. The Group has taken various compliance procedures to
ensure adherence to applicable laws, rules and regulations. In accordance
with the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide, as set
out in Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), further details
of the Group’s environmental policies will be set out in our Environmental,
Social and Governance report, which is scheduled to be published before
the end of April 2023.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS
There was no incident of non-compliance with relevant laws and

regulations that had or would have a significant impact on the Company
during FY2022.

RESULTS

The Group's results for FY2022 are set out in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss of this annual report.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD

The Group did not hold any significant investments (representing any
investment in an investee company with a value of 5% or more of the total
assets of the Company as at 31 December 2022) during the year ended 31
December 2022.
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DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
FY2022 (FY2021: nil).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during
FY2022 are set out in note 33 to the financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during FY2022 are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and note 33 to the financial statements, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, details of the Company’s reserves
available for distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of
Cayman Companies Law are set out in note 33 to the financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during FY2022 are set out in note 10 to the financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Revenue attributable to the Group’s single largest customer and five
largest customers of the property development and related services
segment accounted for approximately 0.5% and 1.4% of the Group's
revenue respectively in FY2022.

The aggregate purchases from the Group’s single largest supplier and
five largest suppliers of the property development and related services
segment accounted for approximately 28.3% and 53.6% respectively, of
the Group’s total purchases for FY2022.

None of the Directors or any of their associates, or any shareholders who,
to the knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital has any interests in the Group’s five largest suppliers
or customers.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, there was no material and
significant dispute between the Group and its suppliers and/or customers.
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DONATIONS

During FY2022, the charitable contributions and other donations totaled
approximately RMB0.4 million (FY2021: RMB1.3 million).

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2022
are set out in note 15 to the financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company approved and adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) on 30 May 2019. The purpose of the Share Option
Scheme is to recognize the contribution of the employees of the members
of the Group and Directors who have contributed to the Group (the
“Qualified Participants”) by granting share options to them as incentive
and/or reward.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued pursuant to the
Share Option Scheme is 40,148,440 shares (taking into account the Share
Consolidation), representing approximately 8.85% of the total issued
shares of the Company as at the date of this report, and is subject to
the refreshment of the 10% limit by the approval of the shareholders at
general meeting and the limit as set out in Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options granted
under this Share Option Scheme to any Qualified Participant (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options), in any 12-month period up
to and including the date on which an offer for the grant of an option is
made by the Board (the “Offer Date”), shall not exceed 1% of the number
of shares in issue on the Offer Date. Each grant of options to a Director,
chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or any of their
respective associates, under this Share Option Scheme must comply with
the requirements of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

An option is accepted by the grantee when a signed offer letter together
with a remittance of RMB1.00 by way of consideration for the grant is
received by the Company. The remittance of RMB1.00 shall be received by
the Company no later than 7 days from the Offer Date.

The Share Option Scheme is effective for a period of ten years
commencing from 30 May 2019, after which no further options shall be
offered under this Share Option Scheme but the provisions of the Share
Option Scheme shall in all other respects remain in full force to give effect
to the exercise of any options granted under this Share Option Scheme
prior to 30 May 2029. As at 31 December 2022, the remaining life of the
Share Option Scheme is approximately six years and five months.
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On 27 September 2022, the Share Consolidation on the basis that every
ten issued and unissued existing shares of the Company be consolidated
into one consolidated share became effective.

Pursuant to Rule 17.07(3) of the Listing Rules, as at 31 December 2022,
the total number of shares that may be issued in respect of share options
granted under the Share Option Scheme was 6,252,000 shares (taking
into account the Share Consolidation), representing approximately 1.38%
of the weighted average number of shares in issue of the Company for
FY2022 and the exercise price per share for the outstanding share options
is HKS5. The exercise price of share options is determined by the Board
in its absolute discretion, and shall be at least the higher of (i) the closing
price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the grant date; (ii) the average of the closing
price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheets for the five (5) trading days immediately preceding the
grant date; and (i) the nominal value of a share of the Company (that is
HK$0.1) (taking into account the Share Consolidation).

The number of share options available for grant under the Share
Option Scheme were 17,208,440 and 11,208,440 as at 1 January 2022
and 31 December 2022, respectively (taking into account the Share
Consolidation).

With the effectiveness of the new Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules with
effect from 1 January 2023, the Company shall comply with the relevant
rules of the new Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules under the transitional
arrangements before the Share Option Scheme is amended to comply
with the new Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
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Particulars of the outstanding share options granted under the K202 B F EHE - £EERDEHE (BRER
Share Option Scheme during FY2022 (taking into account the Share BAEFED BN AFEEBEI)  REERETER
Consolidation except the fair value of share options granted at the date of HRRITE AR IBEHS AT

grant) are set out below:

Fair value of
share options
Closing price granted at the
of shares date of grant
immediately before the
At Granted  Exercised Lapsed  Cancelled At beforethe date  Exercise price Share
1 January during during during during 31December  Date of grant of of grant  of share options  Consolidation
Grantees 2022 the year the year the year the year 2022 shareoptions (HKS pershare)  (HKS pershare)  (HKS per share)
(Note) (Note)
ERER
Riradtis
RERH Rt BEH
RN0E &R AER AER KER HonE Rl BfAKnE  BRETEE LAYEE
REA 1818 &¥ fife x| iz 2R3N ERERD (Bngk)  (BnsR)  (Rn8R)
(W) (W)
Directors
g2
Mr.He Fei = 3,000,000 = S = 3,000,000 26June 20229 25 50 0.031%
s 20025672680
Mr. Chen Junyu® - 3,000,000 - 3,000,000 - - 19January 20227 41 50 0.069"
RERTLY 200251 A1987
Mr. Yang Sanming® 2,100,000 - - 2,100,000 - - 12June 20200 485 50 -
L 20046A1280
Mr. Wang Dewen® 700,000 S = 300,000 = 400000 12 June 20208 485 50 =
TN 20056A1280
Mr. Lam Chi Yuen Nelson® 63,000 - - 63,000 - - 12June 20200 485 50 -
RSN 20056A1280
Mr. Yue Zheng® 63,000 - - 63,000 - - 12June 20207 485 50 -
Flgtes 2005651288
Other Participants
HftSHAR
64 Employees 6,797,000 - - 4,669,000 - 2128000 12June 20209 485 50 -
642 EE 20205641280
27 Employees 2,597,000 - - 1873000 - 724000 7 December 20209 410 50 -
7EER 20205125780
Total 12320000 6,000,000 - 12,068,000 - 6,252,000
Eh

Note: The share price and exercise price have been adjusted to reflect the effect of MisE : ZEREEBHREFERARE - URER2022F9 A%
the share consolidation completed in September 2022. KEIRD At B2
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Notes:

m

(4)

Mr. Chen Junyu was appointed as an executive Director of the Company
and granted 3,000,000 Options on 20 January 2022. He has resigned as an
executive Director of the Company with effect from 6 May 2022 and the
relevant Options have lapsed.

Mr. Yang Sanming has resigned as an executive Director of the Company with
effect from 27 June 2022 and the relevant Options have lapsed.

Mr. Wang Dewen has resigned as an executive Director of the Company with
effect from 27 June 2022.

Mr. Lam Chi Yuen Nelson has resigned as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company with effect from 20 June 2022 and the relevant
Options have lapsed.

Mr. Yue Zheng has resigned as an independent non-executive Director of
the Company with effect from 27 June 2022 and the relevant Options have
lapsed.

The outstanding share options granted on 26 June 2022 shall vest and
exercise according to the following schedule:

DIRECTORS’ REPORT EE 24

BT

(1) BEARLEN202F1 B0 B EEEAERATHNIT
E=E - W 3,000,000 AR E - 1 E H2022
F5A6HREBEARRNITESNEL - HHEER
R -

(2 BoBHEAEH202F6A27HEEFHEARNITE
ERETS - ABRERERED K -

() IEXEATH2022F6A27HERHEATRNITE
BRIRRTS -

(4 MEERLAEEH2022F6 A20H B E A RIELIE
WITESENES - BEBERED K -

(5) FEIFEAEDB20226F6 27 BB =N B IEH
TTEZMNHS - AREERED K -

(6) 20229626 A% M BEIIE IR R TRFEI R
BRATE -

Percentage of shares under an

Respective Vesting Date

option that shall be vested

Exercise Period

ZHEERY EREBREETHROEIL 1TEH

1 April 2023 30% From 1 April 2023 to 1 July 2023
2023F4A1H FH2023F4 1B E2023F7A1H
1 April 2024 30% From 1 April 2024 to 1 July 2024
20244718 1202454 A1 HE20245F7H1H
1 April 2025 40% From 1 April 2025 to 1 July 2025
2025F4A1H 20254 A1H=2025%7A1H

The outstanding share options granted on 19 January 2022 shall vest and
exercise according to the following schedule (all share options granted
on this date has lapsed as the grantee, Mr. Chen Junyu has resigned as an
Executive Director of the Company on 6 May 2022):

(7) 720221 4198 R LR BERERRA TRERERS
BRITE(FEEEARERITLEER20229F5H6H
BAARARNITES AL BT HOERE
HE L)

Percentage of shares under an

Respective Vesting Date

option that shall be vested

Exercise Period

ZEHREAH EREBEREETHROEIL 1TEH

1 April 2022 30%  From 1 April 2022 to 1 July 2022
2022F4R1H H2022F4 1B E2022F 7818
1 April 2023 30% From 1 April 2023 to 1 July 2023
20234818 F2023F4 418 E2023F7/1H
1 April 2024 40% From 1 April 2024 to 1 July 2024
2024F481H 20244 A1HE20245F7A1H
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(8) The outstanding share options granted on 12 June and 7 December 2020
shall vest and exercise according to the following schedule:

(8) 20206 H128 K127 BB H MBS AEIZ IR IA
THEARBBRTE :

Percentage of shares under an

Respective Vesting Date option that shall be vested Exercise Period

EHEEAN EREBREETHROBIL  T6£E

1 April 2021 30% From 1 April 2021 to 1 July 2021
202154 A1H 202154 1H 202157318
1 April 2022 30% From 1 April 2022 to 1 July 2022
202254710 202264 418 £2022567H1H
1 April 2023 40% From 1 April 2023 to 1 July 2023
20234 H1H F20235F4 H1HZE20235F7H1H

(9)  The prices disclosed represent the fair value of share options granted at the
date of grant before the Share Consolidation. The fair value of the Options is
measured at grant date using the binomial option pricing model, taking into
account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. For
details, please refer to Notes 1(t)(ii) and 32(ii) to the financial statements.

Further details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 32 to the
financial statements.

(9) BB

BENERRRTERNEHANERE RS

BWAFEE - - BRENAAERNRHAHER
TR E BRI AT RAT R B AR R A (6K
Rigtat g - FBEF2HPBREIMET 106G &
32(ii) °

BRABBIERT S BEN M SRR E32 -
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
The Directors during FY2022 and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zeng Yunshu (Chairman)
(appointed as the Chairman on 27 June 2022)
Mr. Wong Choi Hing (Co-Chairman)
(re-designated from an executive Director and the Chairman to
a non-executive Director and the Chairman on 20 January 2022,
re-designated from a non-executive Director and the Chairman to an
executive Director and a Co-Chairman on 27 June 2022)
Mr. Cai Hongwen (Co-Chairman)
(appointed as a Co-Chairman on 27 June 2022)
Mr. He Fei (CEO)
(appointed as an executive Director and CEO on 27 June 2022)
Ms. Wei Haiyan (appointed on 27 June 2022)
Mr. Chen Junyu (former executive Director, Co-Chairman and CEQ)
(appointed as an executive Director, Co-Chairman and
CEO on 20 January 2022 and resigned as an executive Director,
Co-Chairman and CEO on 6 May 2022)
Mr. Yang Sanming (former executive Director, executive CEO and
CEO and former CEO)
(re-designated from CEO to executive CEO on 20 January 2022 and
resigned as an executive Director and executive CEO on 27 June 2022)
Mr. Wang Dewen (former executive Director and Co-CEO)
(resigned as Co-CEO on 20 January 2022 and resigned as an executive
Director on 27 June 2022)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Feng Ke
(appointed on 27 June 2022 and resigned on 1 March 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Dai Yiyi (resigned on 7 April 2023)

Mr. Guan Huanfei (appointed on 27 June 2022)

Mr. Han Qinchun (appointed on 27 June 2022)

Mr. Lam Chi Yuen Nelson (resigned on 20 June 2022)
Mr. Yue Zheng (resigned on 27 June 2022)

The Board has recommended the re-appointment of the Directors
standing for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company. The Company'’s circular contains detailed information of the

Directors standing for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT EEE#H &

EEREFERHBEN
RONFBFERBERREBPNESS

HITESE

@RS (EE)
(202256 27 A EZ X AT F)
THRELE(BEEE)
(2022F1 A20B RATTEE R R FAEIEBNTT
BENEFE  2022F6 A27HHAFMITES M
FERATRITESE MBEERE)

BRSNS (B EFE)

(2022F6 A27HEZ T A REEE)
IR (4BF)

(20226 A27THEZ T BIITEERER)
ML (2022F6 A27HERT)
BRERCEFIBTESE  BELEREE)

(2022F 1 A0 EZ X B ITES R ETE

FMAEL 0 20225 A6 AR TITES  BIEE

FEFRAEH)

B = RS (B 7TE BR B TTAEZ R FTAEZL)

(2022%F1 B20H AT HITRE

2022F6 H27 B BHER I TE ST TER)

TEXRE(GIHTTEEFGEAE)
(202241 A20H BB R 425, © 2022F6 A 27
BBIRNITES)

FHTES

BRI A
(202246 427 AEZFITH2023F3 A1 B BHT)

BYEHITES

B — 54 (20234 A7B BHT)
B mIES 4 (20225F6 A 27 B EER(E)
BRERT(2022F6 27 HERT)
MRED IR SR A (7220224F6 A20 B BEE)
FEIBSE A4 (7A20224F 6 A 27 HEHE)

EXgCHBRARREERFBFASG LEH

RERBEEZES - AR BB IREE
TZEFZFHAER -
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The Board has received an annual confirmation of independence from
each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Board considers all independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

Each of the Directors of the Company has entered into a service contract/
appointment letter with the Company for a period of three years. None of
the Directors of the Company proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company or any
of its subsidiaries which is not determinable within one year without
payment of compensation other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS, TRANSACTION
OR ARRANGEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

None of the Directors has or had material beneficial interests, whether
directly or indirectly, in any significant contract, transaction or
arrangement in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries, its holding companies or a subsidiary of its holding
companies was a party during FY2022.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS, TRANSACTION OR ARRANGEMENT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

None of the controlling Shareholders or its subsidiaries (if applicable)
has or had material interests, either directly or indirectly, in any contract,
transaction or arrangement of significance, whether for the provision of
services or otherwise, to the business of the Group to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party during FY2022.

BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical information of Directors and Senior Management of
the Company are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

EFQCRESBUIFRTESTRIELTMRA
FIBRELNFEBILERR - EFEERRE
BEIFNTESHABTIE -

ARBEEEFHARRIBERBELNEEH
SBM=F - HREERFEFASEENAAT
EEZMEEARRRKEEAMBARTE TR
—FRANMIMECEIEMERIN MR LEZREE
#) o

EEREXESY  XHRRHPHHER

EER2028 MFRAERR R KEEMMEL
A - AERARSEERARMME A RME L
HEAREXGARNEIAERSD RENLTHE
T BEEEEERERATAEAE S -

ERERREXSH  XTHAREPD
Ha

AR AR B P B A ) (AR ) 1020228 U 2
FEAR X B ELAE ] fY /B X B P R] 7 B AR SR B 2 7%
BRNEIAEAGLN  X5ALH(THES BT
W EM) P BMEERIERAEEMNEKR

s -
EFREREEREE

ERARREENGRAEEENEEATHARAK
FHROEERSREEEREE] & -
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ENFORCEMENT OF THE DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

A deed of non-competition (the “Non-Competition Deed”) was entered
into by Mr. Zeng Sheng, Mr. Cai Hongwen, Junsheng Holdings Limited
(“Junsheng Holdings”), Ruixinhaide Holdings Limited (“RXHD Holdings”),
Hakka Park International Group Co Ltd. (“Hakka Park”), Guang Yitong
Technology Limited (“Guang Yitong”) and China Guangdong-Hong
Kong Greater Bay Area Holdings Limited (“China Greater Bay Area
Holdings”), (collectively, the “Covenantors”) with the Company. Each
of the Covenantors has unconditionally and irrevocably undertaken
to the Company that he/it would not, and would procure that his/its
associates (other than any members of the Group) would not, during the
restricted period, directly or indirectly, either on his/its own account or in
conjunction with or on behalf of any person, firm or company, enterprise
or organisation, to carry on, develop, be engaged in, operate, participate
in, or interest in or render any services to or otherwise be involved in (in
each case whether as a shareholder, director, agent, partner, employee or
otherwise) any business which is in competition with the business carried
on by the Group (the “Restricted Business”), save for the existing business
which is currently or already owned, operated, participated, being
invested in or carried on by the Covenantors as of the date of the Deed.

The Covenantors have further undertaken to procure that, during the
restricted period, any business investment or commercial opportunity
which competes with the Restricted Business (the “New Opportunities”)
identified or offered to him/it or any of his/its associates (other than
through the Group) (the “Offeror”) is first referred to the Company in the
following manner: (a) each of our Covenantors is required to, refer, or to
procure the referral of, the New Opportunities to the Company, and shall
give written notice to the Company of any New Opportunities containing
such information necessary for the Company (the “Offer Notice”); and
(b) the Offeror will be entitled to pursue the New Opportunities only if (i)
the Offeror has received a notice from the Company declining the New
Opportunities and confirming that such New Opportunities would not
constitute competition with core business of the Company, or (ii) the
Offeror has not received such notice from the Company within 60 days
from the Company’s receipt of the Offer Notice. Upon receipt of the Offer
Notice, the Company shall seek opinions from the independent non-
executive Directors who do not have material interests in the matter.

Each of the Covenantors has confirmed to the Company that it had fully
complied with the terms of the Non-Competition Deed during FY2022 for
disclosure in this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT EE 24

RMITAMBEN
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DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE INDIVIDUALS
WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Particulars of the Directors’ emoluments and five highest paid individuals
for FY2022 are set out in notes 7 and 8 to the financial statements and the
emolument policy of the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance
Report of this annual report.

No Director has waived or has agreed to waive any emoluments during
FY2022.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Report Period, the following Directors were considered to
have interests in the following businesses, which compete or are likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group as
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Zeng Yunshu is a director of each of Heyuan Guangrun Investment
Co., Ltd., Heyuan Guangrun Industrial Development Co., Ltd. and Xingning
Xihe Real Estate Co., Ltd..

Mr. Cai Hongwen is a director of each of Heyuan Guangrun Investment
Co., Ltd. and Heyuan Guangrun Industrial Development Co., Ltd.. He also
directly holds 50% interests in Guangdong Hongyi Group Limited.

The principal business activities of Guangdong Hongyi Group Limited,
Heyuan Guangrun Investment Co., Ltd., Heyuan Guangrun Industrial
Development Co., Ltd. and Xingning Xihe Real Estate Co., Ltd. are real
estate development. The Board considers that the business of aforesaid
companies may compete with the business of the Group.

Each of the Covenantors, including Mr. Cai Hongwen and Mr. Zeng Sheng
(the son of Mr. Zeng Yunshu), has signed the Non-competition Deed
which is in favour of the Company. Each of the Covenantors also procures
that his associates would be subject to the Non-competition Deed. Mr.
Zeng Yunshu, being an associate of Mr. Zeng Sheng by virtue of farther-
son relationship, is therefore subject to the Non-competition Deed.
For details of the Non-competition Deed, please refer to the paragraph
headed “Enforcement of the Deed of Non-competition” of this annual
report. Further, when making decisions on the business of the Group, the
abovementioned Directors, in the performance of his duty as a Director of
the Company, shall fulfil his fiduciary duties and act in the best commercial
interest of the Group as a whole.

EFFMRLEESTMAL

BARLRR0 M BFEENERHIN R AZR
BHMATHBHRUBERERME7RS  MAR
A BNBUR RSN A F IR EEATRE -

B E S 1020220 BUF E IR KR B IRE T #r
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BHEEEXFAEARARN —UES -

ARTEBREARARMATRNEBERMAE
ERABNIBZERAEHENRSE EFERR
HlRRIMEB A e BN R ER R BT

RO - BRFBEEMEBEE(RE
BAENRFIORFETANRAANTHFR
# e B—URNTT - YITREEBBEAZRRA
BFERY BEWELEHRNRXTHERGBLE
MBEA  AHBXRRTEFRY - BETH
FRAOWFESE - F2HANFRI AT IEFRO)
—ff o WS EREBFEMEBRARERBEN
RER - ERTEESRNATESTNRER - &
BITHBAGEEE  UARNEEBENHREREN
mITH -

GUANGDONG — HONG KONG GREATER BAY AREA HOLDINGS LIMITED B &&= iR AR A 7



DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO"))
as notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
he/she is taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or as
recorded in the register maintained by the Company under section 352 of
the SFO, or as notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the “Model Code”) contained in the Listing Rules, were as follows (taking
into account the Share Consolidation):

Long position in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company

DIRECTORS’ REPORT EEE#H &

EEEFHER

R2022F 128318 ARREERESITHAE
RAQ B S EEARE AR (& R EHFRPEK
B[ B %R EERH ) EXVIR) K% - 18REN D
MiEEREAREERES LS GG EXVIE7 NS
DEEME AN E KBRS MOAR (BIER
BEFERHERONE BIEXmEEkR BlE
MR MR R ) RABLRARRIRIEZES L
BIEMES206FEELMOER AR - SR
BEEMABAMEN EMBEITAESETESRS
EIZZESTRI(TH2EESF A ) ZBMEe AN A 7 LB AT
iR AR I T (B E BRI E HH1E)

REXTRG RAEABRONETR

Approximate
Percentage of
the Company’s
Corporate Personal Share Family Total total issued
Name of Directors Class of securities interest interest options interest share capital share capital”
R
BRITARARN
ESps #5ER LI AL B B L BREALY
Mr. Zeng Yunshu Ordinary shares 276,443,719 - - - 276,443,711 60.93%
BERLE LR
Mr. Cai Hongwen Ordinary shares 276,443,7110 - - - 276,443,711 60.93%
Y )G 3l
Mr.He Fei Ordinary shares and 22,686,770 - 3,000,000 - 25,686,770 5.66%
Share Options
fAR%E LRRARE R
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Notes:

M

3)

The percentage shareholding is calculated on the basis of 453,735,400 Shares
issued as at 31 December 2022.

These Shares are held by China Guangdong — Hong Kong Greater Bay Area
Holdings Limited (“China Greater Bay Area Holdings”). As at 31 December
2022, China Greater Bay Area Holdings is owned as to 60% by Ruixinhaide
Holdings Limited (“RXHD Holdings”) and RXHD Holdings is owned as to
90% by Mr. Zeng Yunshu. By virtue of Part XV of the SFO, Mr. Zeng Yunshu
is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by China Greater Bay Area
Holdings. The spouse of Mr. Zeng Yunshu is deemed to be interested in the
Shares which Mr. Zeng Yunshu is interested in under Part XV of the SFO. As
at 31 December 2022, Mr. Zeng Yunshu and his spouse are deemed to be
interested in 276,443,711 Shares of the Company through China Greater Bay
Area Holdings and RXHD Holdings, representing approximately 60.93% of the
453,735,400 issued Shares of the Company.

These Shares are held by China Greater Bay Area Holdings. As at 31 December
2022, China Greater Bay Area Holdings is owned as to 40% by Hakka Park
International Group Co Ltd. (“Hakka Park”), and Hakka Park is wholly owned
by Guang Yitong Technology Limited (“Guang Yitong”), which is in turn
owned as to 100% by Mr. Cai Hongwen. By virtue of Part XV of the SFO, Mr.
Cai Hongwen is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by China
Greater Bay Area Holdings. The spouse of Mr. Cai Hongwen is deemed to be
interested in the Shares which Mr. Cai Hongwen is interested in under Part
XV of the SFO. As at 31 December 2022, Mr. Cai Hongwen and his spouse
are deemed to be interested in 276,443,711 Shares of the Company through
China Greater Bay Area Holdings, Hakka Park and Guang Yitong, representing
approximately 60.93% of the 453,735,400 issued Shares of the Company.

This represents the share options granted pursuant to the Share Option
Scheme (taking into account the Share Consolidation). Details of Share
Option Scheme are set out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” of
this report.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, to the knowledge
of the Board, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company
had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be: (i) notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8

of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which the

Directors and chief executive were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO); (ii) recorded in the register kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or (iii) notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2022, according to the register of members kept by
the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO and so far as is known
to, or can be ascertained after reasonable enquiry by the Directors, the
following person/entity (other than the Directors or chief executives of
the Company) had an interest or short position in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or be directly and indirectly interested in 5%
or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to
vote on all circumstances at general meetings of the Company:

Long position in the shares and underlying shares of the

Company
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FERRER
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Approximate
percentage of
Number of Shares the Company's
RH#E total issued
Name Nature of interest Corporate interest Share option share capital™
EARAH
BRITRRAKH
A BRNE ARER fB IR Al
China Greater Bay Area Holdings Beneficial owner 276,443,711 - 60.93%
REEBZRER E&ABA
RXHD Holdings Interest in controlled corporation? 276,443,711 - 60.93%
iz B rERR B EE R
Mr. Zeng Yunshu Interest in controlled corporation 276,443,711% - 60.93%
EEREE XD EEER
Guang Yitong Interest in controlled corporation® 276,443,711 - 60.93%
Guang Yitong XA EEERY
Hakka Park Interest in controlled corporation® 276,443,711 - 60.93%
EXT B EE R
Mr. Cai Hongwen Interest in controlled corporation® 276,443,711 - 60.93%
Rk R EEERS
Eminent Ascend Beneficial owner 33,280,000 - 7.33%
s ExABA
SUNET GLOBAL LIMITED Interest in controlled corporation® 33,280,000 - 7.33%
SUNET GLOBAL LIMITED R EEERS
Mr. Wong Kim Interest in controlled corporation® 33,280,000 - 7.33%
Fal%ksE RS EE RO
Mr. He Fei Beneficial owner 22,686,770 3,000,000 5.66%
AmEE ExAmBA

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 F %R

31



32

DIRECTORS' REPORT EE 24

Notes:

(1) The percentage shareholding is calculated on the basis of 453,735,400 shares
issued as at 31 December 2022.

(2)  As at 31 December 2022, China Greater Bay Area Holdings is owned as to
60% by RXHD Holdings and RXHD Holdings is owned as to 90% by Mr. Zeng
Yunshu. By virtue of Part XV of the SFO, each of RXHD Holdings and Mr. Zeng
Yunshu is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by China Greater Bay
Area Holdings as at 31 December 2022.

(3)  Asat 31 December 2022, China Greater Bay Area Holdings is owned as to 40%
by Hakka Park, and Hakka Park is wholly owned by Guang Yitong, which is
in turned owned as to 100% by Mr. Cai Hongwen. By virtue of Part XV of the
SFO, each of Guang Yitong, Hakka Park and Mr. Cai Hongwen is deemed to be
interested in all the Shares held by China Greater Bay Area Holdings as at 31
December 2022.

(4)  As at 31 December 2022, the spouse of Mr. Zeng Yunshu is deemed to be
interested in the Shares which Mr. Zeng Yunshu is interested in under Part XV
of the SFO.

(5)  As at 31 December 2022, the spouse of Mr. Cai Hongwen is deemed to be
interested in the Shares which Mr. Cai Hongwen is interested in under Part XV
of the SFO.

(6) Eminent Ascend is wholly-owned by SUNET GLOBAL LIMITED, which in turn
wholly-owned by Mr. Wong Kim, hence each of SUNET GLOBAL LIMITED and
Mr. Wong Kim is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Eminent
Ascend.

(7)  The spouse of Mr. Wong Kim is deemed to be interested in the Shares which
Mr. Wong Kim is interested in under Part XV of the SFO.

(8)  The spouse of Mr. He Fei is deemed to be interested in the Shares which Mr.
He Fei is interested in under Part XV of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, to the knowledge of the
Directors, no other person (other than a Director or chief executive of the
Company) had, or were deemed or taken to have interest or short position
in the shares or underlying shares which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which were recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBT
SECURITIES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ Interests in Securities”,
at no time during the fiscal year under review was the Company or any of
its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors or chief
executives of the Company (including their spouses or children under 18
years of age) to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

The Board confirmed that save as disclosed below, none of the related
party transactions set out in notes 13, 19, 22, 24 and 38 to these financial
statements constituted non-exempt connected transactions or non-
exempt continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

On 16 February 2022, the Company and Hande Holdings Limited (“Hande
Holdings”) entered into a share transfer agreement, pursuant to which,
the Company had agreed to sell, and Hande Holdings had agreed to
acquire 70% equity interests in Revere Effort Limited, a then wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, at a consideration of HK$33,000,000
(the “Disposal”). As at the date of this transaction, Hande Holdings is
wholly-owned by Mr. Wong Kim, who is a son of Mr. Wong Choi Hing (the
Co-Chairman and an executive Director of the Company), and the brother
of Mr. Wang Dewen (an then executive Director of the Company), hence
Hande Holdings is an associate of a connected person of the Company as
defined under Rule 14A.12 of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Disposal
constitutes a connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules. As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios (as
defined in Rule 14A.77 of the Listing Rules) for the Disposal exceed 0.1%
but all are less than 5%, the Disposal is exempt from the circular (including
independent financial advice) and shareholders’ approval requirements
under Rule 14A.76(2) of the Listing Rules, but is subject to the notification
and announcement requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
For details of this transaction, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 16 February 2022.

Saved as disclosed above, during FY2022, the Group had not entered into
any connected transactions or continuing connected transactions which
are required to be disclosed in this annual report pursuant to the Listing
Rules. The Group has complied with the relevant disclosure requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the Year, the Company and its subsidiaries have not purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s shares listed on the Stock
Exchange.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles, or the
laws of Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company was
incorporated, under which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares
on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of the bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as at 31
December 2022 are set out in note 24 to the financial statements.

SENIOR NOTES

The Company had issued 13.85% senior notes due 2023 with principal
of US$277,220,000 on 12 October 2021 (“2023 Senior Notes”), and
additionally issued 2023 Senior Notes with principal of US$$26,400,000 on
15 December 2021. The 2023 Senior Notes are listed and traded on The
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited. For the details of senior
notes the Company, please refer to note 25 to the financial statements.

The proceeds of the 2023 Senior Notes were primarily used for the
repayment of debts including the redemption of the 2021 Senior Notes
and refinancing other existing medium to long term offshore debts which
will become due within one year.
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On 17 April 2023, the Company had commenced an exchange offer
(the “2023 Exchange Offer”) for (i) at least US$67,500,000, or 90%
of the outstanding principal amount of the 12.0% Senior Notes due
2023 (the “May 2023 Minimum Acceptance Amount”); and (ii) at least
US$273,258,000, or 90% of the outstanding principal amount of the 2023
Senior Notes (the “October 2023 Minimum Acceptance Amount”) upon
the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the exchange offer
memorandum dated 17 April 2023. The purpose of the 2023 Exchange
Offer is to improve the Company’s financial condition, extend its debt
maturity profile and improve its cash flow. Upon the terms and subject
to the conditions for the 2023 Exchange Offer, the Company is offering
to exchange the May 2023 Minimum Acceptance Amount and the
October 2023 Minimum Acceptance Amount held by eligible holders for
the following consideration, for each US$1,000 principal amount of the
existing notes:

Consideration of the outstanding May 2023 Notes:

(@) USS$1,010in aggregate principal amount of the new notes; and
(b) the accrued interest therefrom.

Consideration of the outstanding October 2023 Notes:

(@) USS$1,000 in aggregate principal amount of the new notes; and
(b) the accrued interest therefrom.

The 2023 Exchange Offer had expired at 4:00 p.m., London time on
25 April 2023. The Company had informed the eligible holders that,
US$75,000,000, representing approximately 100.00% of the total
aggregate principal amount of the outstanding May 2023 Notes, and
US$287,819,000, representing approximately 94.80%, of the total
aggregate principal amount of the outstanding October 2023 Notes, have
been validly tendered for exchange and accepted pursuant to the 2023
Exchange Offer.

For details, including the reasons of issue the 2023 Senior Notes and the
2023 Exchange Offer, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated
23 September 2021, 27 September 2021, 5 October 2021, 7 October 2021,
8 October 2021, 13 October 2021, 17 April 2023 and 26 April 2023.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Save as disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report of this annual
report, the Board is of the opinion that the Company had complied with
the code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules during the Year.
Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are set
out in the Corporate Governance Report of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the latest practicable date
prior to the date of this annual report, the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE RECOMMENDED

If the shareholders of the Company are unsure about the taxation
implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or the
exercise of any rights in relation to the Shares of the Company, they are
advised to consult an expert.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Mr. Feng Ke has resigned as a non-executive Director with effect from 1
March 2023 due to other personal developments. For details, please refer
to the Company’s announcement dated 1 March 2023.

Mr. Dai Yiyi has resigned as an independent non-executive Director with
effect from 7 April 2023 due to other personal developments. Since Mr.
Dai’s resignation, the Company has failed to complied with Rules 3.10(1),
3.10A, 3.21 and 3.27A of the Listing Rules. For details, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 6 April 2023.

The Remuneration Committee has recommended, and the Board has
approved the reduction of the emoluments of the independent non-
executive Directors from HKD300,000 per annum to HKD150,000 per
annum with effect from 1 March 2023.

Save as the above, there were no subsequent events between the end of
the reporting period and the date of this annual report that would have a
material impact on the Group.
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CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 1 June
2023 to 6 June 2023 by the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares
of the Company will be effected. In order to determine the identity of
members who are entitled to attend and vote at the AGM, all share
transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716,
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen'’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
not later than 4:30 p.m. on 31 May 2023.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five years is set out on pages 16 to 17 of the annual report.
This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements.

PRINCIPAL RISKS

The risks and uncertainties of the business of the Group are principally
associated with the property market in Mainland China, and the Group'’s
income in the future will be affected by such risks and uncertainties. The
property market in Mainland China is affected by a number of factors
which include, among others, economic environment, property supply
and demand, the PRC government’s fiscal and monetary policies, taxation
policies and austerity measures on the real estate sector, etc. The financial
risk management policies of the Group are provided in note 35 to the
financial statements of this annual report.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

A discussion of the likely future development of the Company’s business is
set out on page 8 of this annual report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

During FY2022, no contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of
the Company were entered into or existed during the year ended 31
December 2022.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITIES

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, the Directors and
other officers of the Company are entitled to be indemnified out of the
assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained
by him as a director or other officer of the Company in defending any
proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given in his
favour, or in which he is acquitted. Such permitted indemnity provisions
are currently in force and were in force during the year ended 31
December 2022.

REVIEW OF ANNUAL RESULTS

The Company’s annual results for the year ended 31 December 2022 have
been reviewed by the Audit Committee, which opines that applicable
accounting standards and requirements have been complied with and
that adequate disclosures have been made.

AUDITORS

KPMG has resigned as the auditor of the Company with effect from 1
August 2022. The Board has appointed REANDA LAU & AU YEUNG (HK)
CPA Limited as the new auditor of the Company with effect from 3 August
2022 to fill the casual vacancy following the resignation of KPMG and
to hold office until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting
of the Company. A resolution for the re-appointment of REANDA LAU &
AU YEUNG (HK) CPA Limited as the auditors of the Company for FY2023
will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM. The consolidated financial
statements of the Company for FY2022 have been audited by REANDA
LAU & AU YEUNG (HK) CPA Limited.

For and on behalf of the Board
Zeng Yunshu

Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 April 2023
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The Board hereby present this corporate governance report in the annual
report of the Company for FY2022.

The Company recognises the value and importance of achieving high
standard of corporate governance to enhance the corporate performance
accountability and is committed to doing so. The Company has developed
and implemented sound governance policies and measures to preserve
our value and business model over the longer term as described in this
annual report and achieve our objectives. These policies and measures
include but not limited to the applicable principles and code provisions as
set out in the CG Code, and the Board is responsible for performing such
corporate governance duties. The Board is also committed to the principles
and code provisions of the CG Code. Save as disclosed in the paragraph
headed “Corporate Governance” in this annual report, the Directors are of
the opinion that the Company has complied with the principles and code
provisions set out in the CG Code during the Year and up to the date of
this annual report. The Company will continue to review and enhance its
corporate governance practice to ensure compliance with the CG Code.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Board Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises seven Directors,
including five executive Directors and two independent non-executive
Directors. Brief details of the Directors are set out in the sections headed
“Directors and Directors’ Service Contracts” and “Biographical Details of
the Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report. The overall
management and supervision of the Company’s operation, the function
of formulating overall business strategies and aligning the Company’s
culture with its purpose, value and strategy are vested in the Board.

Save as disclosed in the paragraphs headed “Corporate Governance” of
the Corporate Governance Report of this annual report, during the Year
and up to the date of this annual report, the Board has complied with
the requirements of Rules 3.10 and 3.10A of the Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors
with at least one independent non-executive Director having appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial management
expertise, and the requirement that independent non-executive Directors
represent at least one-third of the Board.

The Company has received annual confirmation from each independent
non-executive Director pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules.
The Company considers that each of the independent non-executive
Directors is independent in accordance with the independence guidelines
as set out in the Listing Rules. All the Directors, including the independent
non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board
for its efficient and effective functioning. Independent non-executive
Directors are invited to serve on the audit committee of the Company
(the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee of the Company
(the “Remuneration Committee”), and the nomination committee of the
Company (the “Nomination Committee”).
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The CG Code requires Directors to disclose to the Company, the number
and nature of offices held in public companies or organisations and other
significant commitments as well as their identity and the time involved.
The Directors have agreed to disclose their commitments to the Company
in a timely manner.

ROLE AND FUNCTION AND DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for and has general powers for the management
and conduct of the business of the Company. It delegates day-to-day
management of the Company to executive Directors and the senior
management of the Company within the control and the authority
framework set by the Board. The delegated functions and responsibilities
are periodically reviewed by the Board.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters of the Company,
including approving and monitoring all policy matters, overall strategies
and budgets, internal control and risk management systems, material
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interests),
financial information, appointment of Directors and other significant
financial and operational matters. Directors may seek independent
professional advice in performing their duties at the Company’s expense
and are encouraged to consult the Company’s senior management
independently.

In addition, the Board has also delegated to the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee, and the Nomination Committee various
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference. Further
details of these committees are set out on pages 47 to 51 of this annual
report.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out duties in good faith, in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in the interest of the
Company and its Shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to indemnify its
Directors in respect of legal actions against them.

Relationship between Directors

There are no financial, business, family or other material relationships
among members of the Board.

INDEPENDENT VIEWS

The company has established a mechanism to ensure independent
views are available to the Board, including, amongst others, measures
ensuring the independence of the independent non-executive Directors
and adequacy of resources to the Board when needed. The Board has
conducted annual review on the implementation and effectiveness of the
mechanism and is satisfied with the results.
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CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS AND THE
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT ¥ & a3 &

EFRERTHRAREESE

The changes of the information of the Directors and the chief executive BARARRANFFHRAMRERAFRAHNES
since the date of 2021 annual report of the Company and up to the date FEETBRABERZ8Z FmRAI%E13.51B(1)
of this annual report are set out below pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the & -

Listing Rules:

Name of Director/Chief Executive

EE BRTHRABHS

Changes
L3

Mr. Zeng Yunshu
2B

Mr. Wong Choi Hing

THESE

Mr. Cai Hongwen

IRt

Mr. He Fei
AR A

Ms. Wei Haiyan

Y

Mr. Feng Ke

R E

Mr. Dai Yiyi

B —tE

Mr. Guan Huanfei

e e

Mr. Zeng Yunshu has been appointed as the Chairman of the Board on 27 June 2022.
EREER202F6 A27TBWETREZTEERE -

Mr. Wong Choi Hing has been re-designated from a non-executive Director and the
Chairman of the Board to an executive Director and a co-Chairman of the Board on 27
June 2022.

EREEEN202F6 A27HHIFNTEFTREFTS IR AT RN TETRESTSH
EEXE -

Mr. Cai Hongwen has been appointed as the co-Chairman of the Board on 27 June 2022.

IR AR 2022F6 H27THBE T AEESHETF -

Mr. He Fei has been appointed as an executive Director and the CEO on 27 June 2022.

ARSI ER2022F6 A27 A EZEBNITESE AR FBE -

Ms. Wei Haiyan has been appointed as an executive Director and a member of the
Remuneration Committee on 27 June 2022.

WERLLTN20202F6 27 BZERRNITEELFMEZESKE -

Mr. Feng Ke was appointed as a non-executive Director on 27 June 2022 and has
resigned on 1 March 2023.
SRR 2022F6 A 27 A R ERIFNITESZ I EMN2023F3 1B BHE -

The emoluments of Mr. Dai Yiyi has been reduced from HKD300,000 per annum to
HKD150,000 per annum with effect from 1 March 2023. Mr. Dai Yiyi resigned as an
independent non-executive Director with effect from 7 April 2022.

BT —SEENFE B EF300,0008 KR EEFF150,000/8% - 52023F3 A 1HEL
o BT E2023F4 A7 REHEB U IFNITES -

Mr. Guan Huanfei has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director, the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee on 27
June 2022. The emoluments of Mr. Guan Huanfei has been reduced from HKD300,000
per annum to HKD150,000 per annum with effect from 1 March 2023.

R IESEEN2022F6 H27 B EZERB U IFNITES FNEEG TR REREZE
g8 - BRIk EMFHBE B B4 300,0007%5 8% = FF 150,000/ - 5202343
R1BRRAERR -
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Name of Director/Chief Executive

EE BRETBRASHS

Changes
L3

Mr. Han Qinchun

BRELE

Mr. Chen Junyu

RERELE

Mr. Wang Dewen

TRXEE

Mr. Yang Sanming

5 =FREE

Mr. Yue Zheng

EIFE

Mr. Lam Chi Yuen Nelson

WEERELE

Mr. Han Qinchun has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director,
the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of each of the Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee on 27 June 2022. The emoluments of Mr. Han
Qinchun has been reduced from HKD300,000 per annum to HKD 150,000 per annum with
effect from 1 March 2023.

BEREREN202F6H27ARZERABUIINTES  FREZEGFF  FHEES
SRERREZEENE - BRELENFHIHCE B EF300,0007%8 K E =5 4150,000
VBHE - B20235F3 A1 HRAERL ©

Mr. Chen Junyu resigned as an executive Director, co-Chairman of the Board, and the
CEO on 6 May 2022.
RERFLLEN 2022F5 A6 HBHEMITES - EFSWFE T /F A -

Mr. Wang Dewen resigned as an executive Director and a member of the Remuneration
Committee, and been re-designated as a consultant to the Company on 27 June 2022.
EENGEENR2022F6 A27HEHERTE T RFMESEXNERT - RARATA/AR
AIEAR °

Mr. Yang Sanming resigned as an executive Director and the executive CEO on 27 June
2022.
B =R ER202256 A27 B BHENITE S RIITEE -

Mr. Yue Zheng has resigned as an independent non-executive Director, the chairman
of the Remuneration Committee, a member of each of the Audit Committee and the
Nomination Committee on 27 June 2022.

FIEEER202F6 H27ABHEB U IFNTES - FNEESEE  BEREEGKE
RiIERZE KB o

Mr. Lam Chi Yuen Nelson has resigned as an independent non-executive Director, the
chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee on 20
June 2022.

MEREEN2022F6 208 BFHEBIENTES ERLZEG TR EFTWEESR

Other than those disclosed above, in the Company’s announcement BREAL - RARIAEIR2022F8 1AM AEF K&
dated 1 August 2022 and in the section headed “Biographical Details of ~ ANFHFEELSNEREREE | —EprREE
Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report, there is no other Hh - EEEME R ARE E TR AIE13.51B() &
information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the HeER o

Listing Rules.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Chairman of the Company (i.e. Mr. Zeng Yunshu) and the CEO (i.e. Mr.
He Fei) have segregated and clearly defined roles. The Chairman of the
Company provides leadership for the Board. The CEO has responsibility
for the Group’s overall business and development strategies, and daily
management generally.

During FY2022, the Chairman of the Board has held a meeting with the
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other
Directors.

INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Each appointed Director is provided with necessary induction and
information to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the
Company’s operations and business as well as his responsibilities under
relevant statutes, laws, rules and regulations. According to the records
of the Company, all Directors (i.e. Mr. Zeng Yunshu, Mr. Wong Choi Hing,
Mr. Cai Hongwen, Mr. He Fei, Ms. Wei Haiyan, Mr. Chen Junyu, Mr. Yang
Sanming, Mr. Wang Dewen, Mr. Feng Ke, Mr. Dai Yiyi, Mr. Guan Huanfei,
Mr. Han Qinchun, Mr. Lam Chi Yuen Nelson and Mr. Yue Zheng) have
attended training sessions conducted by the Company’s legal advisers as
to Hong Kong laws on duties and obligations of directors of companies
listed on the Stock Exchange including connected transactions and
corporate governance. The Company also provides periodic legal updates
and developments on the Listing Rules, the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, news updates from the Stock Exchange and the Securities &
Futures Commission of Hong Kong and other relevant legal and regulatory
requirements to all of the Directors, as well as regular updates on the
Company'’s performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a
whole and each Director to discharge their duties.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code of conduct of
the Company for Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific
enquiry to all Directors, all Directors have confirmed that they have
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code during
the Year. Employees who are, or likely to be, in possession of unpublished
inside information in relation to the Company or its shares are prohibited
from dealing in the shares of the Company during the black-out period.

EFRERTHRAR

ARRERF (B ERETE) RITBRAS (AMAIRSE
HE)ZBEECREREEE D c ARFAIFERES
SREBEAE - THRERVAEAEE 2 BB
EBNERRER-—REATEE -

RORVBEE  EFQ@TFEHMBESTTES
B T B FFMITERRT T —REH -

AREBHESRERE

ARAGREMETEFRHSENABIZII R
B UEREHARRNEEREHFANERE
EHROED - RAIRRPIRENEETEEER
R RBEARBLE  FAEES(MEEREL -
FHEELLE  FEBXELE - AREL - BBHK
T BREREE B=ZWKLE  FEXEE
BRIEE B —%4E - BRIFERLE  BREFL
£ MBEREREEREL)IEHEARNRAE
BERBERERERBIM LT AREETRE R
BENEI  BREEXZREEER - ARF
NEPRAEBESREEBLMARR - FERA
GROIEDEREHRRBR - REBEMIARER
EFMHEERERZEENTHLEMARE
RREEEFR  ANBBAARBRIR - AR KA
SNEHEH  NEREZSBELEESET

BTFRGFRHRETA

ARREHRABRETAERARRIZEFEITES
REMJETTH - KRAZREFLAREN
% FIABESEHERR  FERAFEDLENE
ETRIFTRERMRE - EHALATERARER
RRBEEBRNARAFAREENEES - BTG
REEHRNEERRARD -
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Save as disclosed below, the Board is of the opinion that the Company
had complied with the code provisions as set out in Part 2 of the CG Code
contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules during the Year. Paragraph
E(d)(i) of the Part 1 of the CG Code under Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules
states that an issuer shall provide details of non-compliance with Rule
3.21 of the Listing Rules and an explanation of the remedial steps taken to
address non-compliance with establishment of an audit committee.

Compliance with Rules 3.10(1), 3.10A, 3.21 and 3.25 of the
Listing Rules

According to Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules, the Board
must include at least three independent non-executive Directors and
the Company must appoint independent non-executive Directors
representing one-third of the Board, respectively. In addition, Rule 3.21
of the Listing Rules requires, among others, an audit committee to
comprise a minimum of three members and that the committee must
be chaired by an independent non-executive director. Rule 3.25 of the
Listing Rules provides that the remuneration committee must be chaired
by an independent non-executive director and comprise a majority of
independent non-executive director.

Following the resignation of Mr. Lam Chi Yuen Nelson (“Mr. Lam”) as
an independent non-executive Director on 20 June 2022, the Board
comprised only two independent non-executive Directors, each of
the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) and the remuneration
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) of the Company comprised
only two members, the Audit Committee did not have a chairman and the
Remuneration Committee did not have a majority of independent non-
executive director. Following the appointment of Mr. Guang Huanfei and
Mr. Han Qinchun as independent non-executive Directors of the Company
on 27 June 2022, the Company has re-complied with the requirements of
relevant Listing Rules.

Compliance with Rules 3.10(1), 3.10A, 3.21 and 3.27A of the
Listing Rules

Mr. Dai Yiyi has resigned as an independent non-executive Director with
effect from 7 April 2023 due to other personal developments. Since Mr.
Dai’s resignation, the Board includes only two independent non-executive
Directors, each of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee
comprises only two members, and the Nomination Committee does not
have a chairman nor a majority of independent non-executive directors.
Therefore the Company has failed to complied with Rules 3.10(1), 3.10A,
3.21 and 3.27A of the Listing Rules. The Company is endeavoring to identify
a suitable candidate to be appointed as an independent non-executive
Director and fill the associated vacancies as soon as practicable within
three months to ensure compliance with the relevant Listing Rules. For
details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 6 April 2023.

®ERER

BRATHRES EZERBRARANRAFEEAN
A LRS- MAEEXERTRE B
ST RIS - BT AR RIM B Ol R EVR T
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Each of the Directors has entered into service contract or letter
of appointment with the Company, which may be terminated in
accordance with the respective terms of the service contracts or letters
of appointment. For details, please refer to the section headed “Directors
and Directors’ Service Contracts” of this annual report.

None of the Directors has a service contract which is not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).

In accordance with Articles 16.2 and 16.3 of the Articles, any Director
appointed by the Board or by an ordinary resolution either to fill a casual
vacancy or as an addition to the Board, shall hold office only until the
following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be
eligible for re-election at that meeting. In accordance with Articles 16.18
of the Articles, at every annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors
for the time being shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director
shall be eligible for re-election at the annual general meeting.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are set out in the Articles. The Nomination Committee
is responsible for reviewing the Board composition and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of
Directors and succession planning for Directors, in particular the Chairman
and chief executive officer.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Company has adopted the practice of holding Board meetings at
least four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals pursuant to
code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code. Notice of not less than fourteen days
are given for all regular board meetings to provide all Directors with an
opportunity to attend, and include matters in the agenda for a regular
meeting pursuant to code provision C.5.3 of the CG Code.

All Directors are provided with the meeting agenda and relevant
information related to the agenda in advance before the meeting. They
have access to the senior management and the company secretary of the
Company at all time and may, upon reasonable request, seek independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense.

ZERERES
REFCHEARATLRBANKEE - LAIR
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Minutes of the meetings are kept by the company secretary of the FERLBBARRTNRATWERT -

BIAKHBE

Company with copies circulated to all Directors for information and BEREHN  UHBEREH -EFERETES
records. Minutes of the board meetings and committee meetings EENERLHYTIHIETEREEEME

record sufficient details of the matters considered by the Board and the
committees and the decisions reached, including any concerns raised
by the Directors. Draft minutes of each Board meeting and committee
meeting are sent to the Directors for comments within a reasonable time

after the date on which the meeting was held. Minutes of board meetings

are open for inspection for the Directors.

13 Board meetings and two general meetings were held during the Year.

Individual attendance of the Directors is as follows: g HEEHENESTOT

RARFER  BITTBREFESH

BEENFBRMEKRARER - BRESOHIMA
‘M- BEFERRELER
REZBRTHAHR - BRAERHAZXZESE
Bl - EX QRN ERCHAIHESSER -

ZRLER BB

WOPNLEUN

No. of meetings attended/
No. of meetings held*

HESHRAE SRR

Board General
meetings meetings
Directors X EBEggR BERE
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Zeng Yunshu (Chairman) BERLE(EE) 13/13 2/2
Mr. Wong Choi Hing (Co-Chairman) FHEEE(BELE) 13/13 2/2
Mr. Cai Hongwen (Co-Chairman) BB St (R E) 10/13 2/2
Mr. He Fei (appointed on 27 June 2022) IR A4 (720226 A27 HIEZR ) 4/4 11
Ms. Wei Haiyan (appointed on 27 June 2022) ZE T (FR2022F6 A27 B IERT) 4/4 11
Mr. Chen Junyu (appointed on 20 January 2022, FRE RS54 (72202251 5208 & E -
resigned on 6 May 2022) 20225 A6 A BHE) 4/4 0/0
Mr. Yang Sanming (resigned on 27 June 2022) 5 =Rt 4 (7A2022% 6 A27 HEHT) 9/9 11
Mr. Wang Dewen (resigned on 27 June 2022) T A (20226 A27 B BHT) 9/9 11
Non-executive Director FHTES
Mr. Feng Ke (appointed on 27 June 2022 and BRI A (0202256 A27 HEZ IR
resigned on 1 March 2023) 2023F3 81 HEHT) 3/4 0/1
Independent Non-executive Directors BYHITES
Mr. Dai Yiyi (resigned on 7 April 2023) BN — £ (7R2023F4 A7HEBHT) 13/13 2/2
Mr. Guan Huanfei (appointed on 27 June 2022) B8 IEE 4 (7420224F 6 A27 HEZR(T) 4/4 0/1
Mr. Han Qinchun (appointed on 27 June 2022)  ##Z& & A4 (74202246 A27 HEZR(T) 4/4 1/
Mr. Lam Chi Yuen Nelson MR R P A (722022456 A20H BHT)
(resigned on 20 June 2022) 717 0/0
Mr. Yue Zheng (resigned on 27 June 2022) FIF 54 (7R20225F6 A27 HEHT) 9/9 11

* The number of meeting held are calculated in respect of the specific term of *

each Director.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee, and the Nomination Committee, to handle
particular responsibilities of the Board and certain affairs of the Company.
All board committees of the Company are established with defined
written terms of reference which have been uploaded to the website
of the Stock Exchange and that of the Company, and are provided with
sufficient resources to discharge their duties.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee on 27 September 2013
in compliance with Rule 3.21 and Rule 3.22 of the Listing Rules and with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code and Corporate
Governance Report as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules and the
roles and the responsibilities delegated to the Audit Committee by the
Board. The revised terms of reference have been adopted by the Board
on 27 December 2018. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to
review the financial information of the Company, to oversee the financial
reporting process, risk management and internal control systems of the
Group, to oversee the audit process, to make recommendation on the
appointment, re-appointment and removal of external auditor and to
perform other duties and responsibilities as assigned by the Board.

The Group has an internal audit function and has formulated and adopted
risk management policy in providing direction in identifying, evaluating
and managing significant risks. The management identifies risks that
would adversely affect the achievement of the Group’s objectives, and
assesses and prioritizes the identified risks according to a set of standard
criteria. Risk mitigation plans and risk owners are then established for
those risks considered to be significant. Risk management report and
internal control report are submitted to the Audit Committee and the
Board of Directors. The Board of Directors is responsible for the risk
management and internal control systems and will perform annual review
on the effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control
systems, including but not limited to the Group’s ability to cope with its
business transformation and changing external environment; the scope
and quality of management’s review on risk management and internal
control systems; result of internal audit work; the extent and frequency of
communication with the Board of Directors in relation to result of risk and
internal control review; significant failures or weaknesses identified and
their related implications; and status of compliance with the Listing Rules.

EXERAE
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As at 31 December 2022, the Audit Committee consists of three
independent non-executive Directors. The three members are Mr. Han
Qinchun, the chairman of the Audit Committee and an independent non-
executive Director, Mr. Guan Huanfei, an independent non-executive
Director, and Mr. Dai Yiyi, an independent non-executive Director (resigned
on 7 April 2023). During the Year, five Audit Committee meetings were
held to, among other matters, (1) review and recommend the half-yearly
and annual results to the Board for approval; (2) review the Group’s
financial controls, internal control and risk management systems; (3)
review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and practices; (4)
review and consider the whistleblowing policy and system; (5) review the
external auditor’s independence and the objectivity and effectiveness
of the audit process; and (6) review the terms of reference of the Audit
Committee. For the details in respect of compliance with Rule 3.21
of the Listing Rules, please refer to the paragraph headed “Corporate
Governance” in this Corporate Governance Report.

The attendance of the Directors at the Audit Committee meetings was as
follows:

2022F12A31H - BEE R =R\ IEHNTT
EBENK - —RKBE R BEEALE(BEREZEE
ITERBIUIFENITES) « BnIEnE(BIUIER
TER)REN—LECBELIERNITES * 72023
FA4R7BEE) - RAFER » BITTERNERZR
BgeR  WHABRIMWBZLFERFEHE
B UEREFEIE  QFZASENYKE
s NEEEE R AR EIEFIE  QERAEEN
MBREFTHEREL  OFZRERBRBEE
RHIE ) BZIMNEXBME LB REBZRRE
EERBAEN: ROBZEZZESNHRES
c AN ABRIEST EWARRB2UEMNFE - B2
BIACEE RRERNIES A —F/ -

ExhEERZEeEENBERNOT

Number of Attendance

Directors 2= HERE
Mr. Han Qinchun (Committee chairman) BRBEFE(ZEEEE)

(appointed on 27 June 2022) (720226 A27BEZET) 2/2
Mr. Guan Huanfei (appointed on 27 June 2022) R IE S (72202256 A27 AR T) 2/2
Mr. Dai Yiyi (resigned on 7 April 2023) BN — £ (R2023F4 A7H BHT) 5/5
Mr. Lam Chi Yuen Nelson (resigned on 20 June 2022) RER IR ST 4 (FR2022F 6 A20H BEE) 3/3
Mr. Yue Zheng (resigned on 27 June 2022) IS5 A (7220224F 6 A 27 B #HT) 3/3
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE =R

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 27 September
2013 in compliance with Rule 3.25 and Rule 3.26 of the Listing Rules and
with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code and
Corporate Governance Report as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules and the roles and the responsibilities delegated to the Remuneration
Committee by the Board. The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee are to make recommendations to the Board on the policy and
structure for all Directors’ and senior management remuneration and to
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual Directors and senior management.
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The Remuneration Committee comprises two independent non-
executive Directors and one executive Director. The three members are
Mr. Guan Huanfei, the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and
an independent non-executive Director, Ms. Wei Haiyan, an executive
Director, and Mr. Han Qinchun, an independent non-executive Director.
During the Year, three Remuneration Committee meetings were held
to, among other matters, (1) make recommendations to the Board on
the policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior management’s
remuneration; (2) assess the performance of executive Directors; (3)
approve the terms of executive Directors’ service contracts; and (4)
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors, non-executive Directors, independent non-
executive Directors and members; and (5) review the grant of Options to
two executive Directors, Mr. Chen Junyu (resigned on 6 May 2022) and
Mr. He Fei. Having considered factors including their skills and experience,
responsibilities with the Company and the current market trend of
emolument packages, the Remuneration Committee considered the
grant to be appropriate and align the grantees’ interests with those of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole and the purpose of the Share
Option Scheme. For details of the grant of Options, please refer to the
section headed “SHARE OPTION SCHEME" in the Director’s Report of this
annual report. The Company has adopted model (ii) of the remuneration
committee as described in code provision E.1.2(c) of the CG Code.

The attendance of the Directors at the Remuneration Committee meetings
was as follows:

FNEEEEMBBUIFNTEER —RNITE
EHK - ZBKB A BRIk E(FEE e
ERBUFRTES)  WERLT(BITES)
MBRELE(BUIIENITES) - REAFER
BIOITIRFHEESSH - L(HEFBE)MA
EZeEREENSREEAENZEHMBCE
MO QFERITESMERE - QBLERITE
EREAHNER - R@REEFSEEERHNT
BE - FHNTEF BUNTESLRSRER
ABWF AR - RGN ERE TR
TEF  RERIILE(R2022F5 86 BBHT) K fd]
AL - FEESEREZ  BEERERER -
HARGEAENETRBATNS EAFHFEIS
B HHEEGRARSERTREEEN - BRH
ERAEREEERABARR R RREFE—8
W HEBRETZNE M - BN REERENF
B FLMAFEREZESSHREPIBRE
2l—f - AAREFEACEEATASFANEX
E1.2(0) P i M BZE 8 2R (i) °

EEHFEFHNRESSZNBRAOT

Number of Attendance

Directors 2= HERE
Mr. Guan Huanfei (Committee chairman) MR E(ZEEEE)

(appointed on 27 June 2022) (A20225F6 A27BEEE) 11
Ms. Wei Haiyan (appointed on 27 June 2022) I (7202256 27 HEZRT) 11
Mr. Han Qinchun (appointed on 27 June 2022) BRELAE(R2022F6 A27HERT) 11
Mr. Yue Zheng (resigned on 27 June 2022) IS5 A4 (7220224F 6 A 27 B #HT) 3/3
Mr. Lam Chi Yuen Nelson (resigned on 20 June 2022) MR S HE (72202246 A20H BHT) 2/2
Mr. Wang Dewen (resigned on 20 June 2022) TS A (74202246 B 27 HEHT) 3/3
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The primary goal of the Group’s remuneration policy for executive
Directors is to enable the Company to retain and motivate executive
Directors by linking their compensation with their individual performance.
The remuneration package includes basic salary, performance and/or
discretional bonus, participation in the Share Option Scheme, other share
option scheme (if any) and other benefits. Remuneration of the non-
executive Director includes mainly the Director’s fee, which is a matter for
the Board to decide by reference to the duties and responsibilities of the
non-executive Director. Remuneration of the independent non-executive
Directors includes the Director’s fee which is determined by the Board
based on the duties and responsibilities of independent non-executive
Directors and their participation in the Share Option Scheme or other
share option scheme (if any).

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 27 September
2013 with written terms of reference in compliance with the requirements
of the CG Code and Corporate Governance Report as set out in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules and the roles and the responsibilities delegated
to the Nomination Committee by the Board. The primary duties of the
Nomination Committee are to review the structure, size and composition
of the Board and make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and removal of Directors. In the nomination procedures, the
Nomination Committee makes reference to criteria including candidates’
reputation, integrity, accomplishment, experience and professional and
educational background.

As at 31 December 2022, the Nomination Committee comprises two
independent non-executive Directors and one executive Director.
The three members are Mr. Dai Yiyi, the chairman of the Nomination
Committee and an independent non-executive Director (resigned on
7 April 2023), Mr. Zeng Yunshu, an executive Director, and Mr. Han
Qinchun, an independent non-executive Director. During the Year, four
Nomination Committee meetings were held to, among other matters,
(1) review the structure, size and composition of the Board and to
review the diversity policy of the Board; (2) assess the independence of
independent non-executive Directors; (3) review, consider and approve
the nomination policy; and (4) make recommendations to the Board on
the candidates of new Directors and the re-appointment of Directors.
The Nomination Committee has adopted the nomination criteria and
procedures as disclosed in this Corporate Governance Report when
making recommendations on the candidates of new Directors. For details
in respect of the resignation of Mr. Dai Yiyi and the implications, please
refer to the paragraph headed “Corporate Governance” in this Corporate
Governance Report.
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The attendance of the directors at the Nomination Committee meetings
was as follows:

ESHFRAREEEENBRAT

Number of Attendance

Directors 2= HERE
Mr. Dai Yiyi (Committee chairman) B —hkE(ZEE8FE)

(resigned on 7 April 2023) (FA2023F4 A7BEHT) 4/4
Mr. Zeng Yunshu DENESLE 4/4
Mr. Han Qinchun (appointed on 27 June 2022) BRAEL A (20226 A27HERT) 11
Mr. Yue Zheng (resigned on 27 June 2022) IS5 A4 (7220224F 6 A 27 B #HT) 3/3

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy with effect from 24 March
2014 and discussed all measurable objectives set for implementing the
policy. The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board with a view to enhancing its effectiveness and achieving
a high standard of corporate governance. It endeavours to ensure that
the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business. Selection of
candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
experience (professional or otherwise), talents, skills, knowledge, length
of service and other qualities of Directors. The ultimate decision of all
Board appointments should be based on meritocracy and the likely
contributions that the selected candidates will bring to the Board. The
Nomination Committee has reviewed such board diversity policy in the
Year. During the Year, the Company’s existing composition of the Board as
well as its senior management team are highly diverse in age, educational
background and professional experience. Brief biographical details of the
Directors are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of the
Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

Pursuant to the amended Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules (effective from 1
January 2022), the Stock Exchange will not regard a single gender board
of directors as achieving member diversity. As at the date of this report,
the Board consists of one female Director and six male Directors, which is
in compliance with the requirement of appointing at least a director of a
different gender. The Board is of the opinion that Board diversity (including
gender diversity) has been achieved with reference to the current
circumstances of the Company, and the present structure of the Board can
ensure the independence and objectivity of the Board.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board ratified and adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”)
which sets out the principles and guidelines that the Company intends
to apply in relation to the declaration, payment or distribution of its net
profits as dividends to the Shareholders of the Company on 27 December
2018. In accordance with the Articles of the Company and subject to
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, when considering the
declaration and payment of dividends, the Board will take into account,
among other things, the financial results, cash flow situation, business
conditions and strategies, future operations and earnings, capital
requirements and expenditure plans, interests of Shareholders, restrictions
on payment of dividends, and other factors that the Board may consider
relevant. The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of cash
or scrip or by other means that the Board considers appropriate. Any
unclaimed dividend shall be forfeited and shall revert to the Company in
accordance with the Articles. The Board will review the Dividend Policy as
appropriate from time to time.

CRITERIA FOR NOMINATION AND APPOINTMENT OF
DIRECTORS

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the following
criteria should be considered:

Character and integrity;

Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and experience and diversity aspects under the Board Diversity
Policy that are relevant to the Company’s business and corporate
strategy;

Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on the
Board;

Requirement for the Board in accordance with the Listing Rules
and whether the candidate would be considered independent with
reference to the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

Any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board in
terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence, gender and
cultural diversity;

Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge duties as
a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s) of the Company;

Such other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company’s
business and succession plan and where applicable, may be adopted
and/or amended by the Board and/or the Nomination Committee
from time to time for nomination of directors and succession
planning.
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NOMINATION PROCEDURES OF DIRECTORS
Appointment of New Directors

May select candidates for directorship from various channels,
including but not limited to internal promotion, re-designation,
referral by other member of the management and external
recruitment agents;

Upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new director and
the biographical information (or relevant details) of the candidate,
evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set out above to
determine whether such candidate is qualified for directorship;

If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank them by order
of preference based on the needs of the Company and reference
check of each candidate (where applicable).

Re-election of Directors

Should review the overall contribution and service to the
Company of the retiring Director and the level of participation and
performance on the Board.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing corporate governance duties
including:

(@) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices in
relation to its compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors;

(e) to develop, review and monitor the implementation of the
shareholders’ communication policy to ensure its effectiveness,
and to make recommendation to the Board where appropriate to
enhance shareholders’ relationship with the Company; and

(f)  toreview the Company’s compliance with Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules (the CG Code).
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL REPORTING IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements for FY2022 which give a true and fair view of the
affairs of the Company and the Group and of the Group’s results and cash
flows. The Directors also acknowledge their responsibilities to ensure that
the financial statements of the Group are published in a timely manner.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed
assessment of the Company’s consolidated financial statements, which are
put to the Board for approval. The Company provides all members of the
Board with updates on Company’s performance, positions and prospects.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the auditors of the Company regarding their reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of the Company is
set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and for reviewing their effectiveness. The risk
management and internal control systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. A defined management structure with specified
limits of authority and responsibilities is developed for safeguarding
assets against unauthorized use or disposition, the maintenance of proper
accounting records for the provision of reliable financial information for
internal use or for publications and the compliance of applicable laws,
rules and regulations.

An internal audit department has been established to perform regular
financial and operational reviews and recommend necessary actions to
the relevant management. The works carried out by the internal audit
department ensure risk management and internal control measures are in
place and function properly as intended.

The results of the internal audit and reviews are reported to the Audit
Committee and the Board at least once a year, who carried out annual
review on the internal control and risk management systems for the Year,
and they were satisfied with the effectiveness and the adequacy of such
systems of the Group during the Year.
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An information disclosure policy is in place to ensure potential inside
information being captured and confidentiality of such information
being maintained until consistent and timely disclosure is made in
accordance with the Listing Rules. The policy regulates the handling and
dissemination of inside information, which includes:

Designated reporting channels from different operations informing
any potential inside information to designated departments;

Designated persons and departments determining further disclosure
as required; and

Designated persons being authorised to act as spokespersons and
respond to external enquiries.

REMUNERATION OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration of the
members of the senior management (other than Directors) by bands for
FY2022 is set out below:
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Number of Individuals

Emolument Bands NI E AE
Nil to RMB1,000,000 AR #1,000,0007T AR 1
RMB1,000,001 to RMB3,000,000 AR #1,000,00170 2 A R #3,000,0007T 4

5

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

KPMG rendered its resignation as the auditor of the Company with effect
from 1 August 2022 and Reanda Lau & Au Yeung (HK) CPA Limited has
been appointed as the new auditor of the Company with effect from
3 August 2022. For FY2022, the remuneration paid and payable by the
Group to the independent auditors in respect of audit and non-audit
services provided by them were as follows:

%85 3L % B 6D BN &

EEHSHMEEMEBERNR XM
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RMB’000

AREFIT

Audit services!” FENZIREO 1,800
Review services = PR 750

Note:

(1) Including fees for audit of annual financial statements and review of interim
financial report.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Liang Lina is the company secretary of the Company.

Ms. Liang Lina (22 B8 i), aged 40, has been the Company Secretary and
the secretary of the Board since July 2020, and has been the Co-chief
financial officer of our Group since January 2022. Ms. Liang has extensive
experience in auditing, financial management, offshore financing,
investor relations, and corporate governance. Ms. Liang joined the Group
in November 2011, holding various positions including the deputy
director of financial department, the director of investor relationship
department and the general manager of the office of the Board. Ms.
Liang was deeply involved in many significant capital markets projects
of the Group, including the listing of the Group on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, offshore financing, merger and acquisition, business
cooperation, and was also responsible for corporate governance, investor
relations and company secretarial duties. Prior to joining the Group, Ms.
Liang worked in Ernst & Young and had more than 7 years’ experiences
in auditing. Ms. Liang holds a bachelor degree in Accounting from the
Central University of Finance and Economics, and a master degree in
Finance from Peking University. Ms. Liang is currently a member of each
of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.

During the Year, Ms. Liang Lina has undertaken not less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONSHIP

The Company believes that effective communication with Shareholders
and other investment community is essential. The Company has developed
a shareholders’ communication policy. The policy aims to promote
effective communication with shareholders and other stakeholders,
encourage shareholders to engage actively with the Company, and enable
shareholders to exercise their rights as shareholders effectively. The Board
reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the communication
policy for the Year, and was satisfied with the results. The Company
communicates with the Shareholders and/or potential investors mainly
in the following ways: (i) the holding of Shareholders’ meetings which
provide opportunities for the Shareholders to communicate directly with
the Board. The Directors and the chief financial officer/Company Secretary
of the Group will attend Shareholders’ meetings to answer the questions
raised by Shareholders; (ii) the publication of announcements, annual
reports, interim reports and/or circulars as required under the Listing
Rules and press releases providing updated information of the Group; (iii)
the availability of published documents together with the latest corporate
information and news of the Group on the Company’s website at http://
www.youngogroup.com/; (iv) the holding of briefings from time to
time; and (v) meeting with investors and analysts on a regular basis and
participating in investor road shows and sector conferences.
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During the Year, the executive Directors, the chief financial officer and the
head of investor relations of the Group held regular briefings, attended
investor forums and participated in roadshows and conducted meetings
with institutional investors and financial analysts in China, Hong Kong
and overseas countries to keep them abreast of the Group's business and
development. Investors can also communicate with the Company through
email at ir@youngogroup.com.

WORKFORCE DIVERSITY

The Group has put in place appropriate recruitment and selection
practices to achieve diversity at workforce level, including taking into
considerations a diverse range of candidates and factors such as the
capabilities, qualifications, duties and responsibilities and gender diversity
when recruiting staff members. During FY2022, the Board was not aware
of any constraints or circumstances which make achieving gender diversity
across the workforce (including senior management) more challenging or
less relevant. As at 31 December 2022, the gender ratio in the workforce
(including senior management) is 60.6% (male): 39.4% (female), and the
Group considers that the current circumstances of gender diversity are
satisfactory. For further details of gender ratio together with the relevant
data, please refer to the section headed “Key Performance Indicators
Table” in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report published by
the Company on 28 April 2023.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS
Convening of Extraordinary General Meeting

Besides the request of the Board, the extraordinary general meeting shall
also be convened through the following measures:

(@) on the written requisition of any two or more Shareholders who hold
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which
carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company, on
a one vote per share basis in the share capital of the Company (and
the foregoing Shareholders shall be able to add resolutions to the
meeting agenda), as at the date of deposit of the requisition of the
Company deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong
Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such principal
office, the registered office, specifying the objects of the meeting
and signed by such Shareholders; or

(b) on the written requisition of any one Shareholder of the Company
which is a recognized clearing house (or its nominee(s)) who holds
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which
carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company as at
the date of deposit deposited at the principal office of the Company
in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such a
principal office, the registered office, specifying the objects of the
meeting and signed by the Shareholder.
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Putting Forward Proposals

Shareholders may put forward proposals for consideration at a general
meeting in accordance with the applicable laws and the Articles. If a
Shareholder, who is entitled to attend and vote at the relevant general
meeting, wishes to nominate a person (not being the nominating
shareholder) to stand for election as a Director, he or she should give to
the secretary of the Company notice in writing of the intention to propose
a person for election as a Director and notice in writing by that person
stating his or her willingness to be so elected, commencing no earlier than
the day after the dispatch of the notice of the relevant general meeting
and ending no later than seven days prior to the date of such general
meeting.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, the procedures
are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about the
Company to the Board could send their enquiries to the headquarters of
the Company in Shenzhen at Level 32, Block A, Hong Long Century Plaza,
Luohu District, Shenzhen, the PRC (email address: ir@youngogroup.com).

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

In order for the Company to, amongst others, (i) hold hybrid general
meetings and electronic general meetings; (ii) bring the memorandum
and articles of association of the Company (“M&A”) in line with
amendments made to the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands and the
Listing Rules, in particular, the Core Shareholder Protection Standards in
the updated Appendix 3 to the Listing Rules with effect from 1 January
2022; and (iii) incorporate certain housekeeping amendments, the Board
proposed to seek the approval of the shareholders of the Company at
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 20 June 2022 for
amendments to the M&A, and of the adoption of the second amended
and restated M&A. Details of the proposed amendments to the M&A were
set out in Appendix Il to the circular of the Company dated 13 May 2022.

The second amended and restated M&A were adopted upon the passing
of a special resolution at the annual general meeting held on 20 June
2022.

The second amended and restated M&A are available on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zeng Yunshu ( § 2 4& ), aged 70, had been appointed as our Co-
Chairman and executive Director since October 2019 and resigned as
Co-Chairman of the Board in January 2022. Since 27 June 2022, Mr. Zeng
has been appointed as the Chairman. Mr. Zeng is also a member of the
nomination committee of the Company. He has been engaged in business
operations for over 20 years and is a senior economist. He has successfully
established a number of enterprises with proven experience in property
development and management. Mr. Zeng was the chairman of the
board of directors from January 2007 to November 2011 and executive
director from January 2007 to June 2012 of Hong Long Holdings Limited
(now known as Suncity Group Holdings Limited) (stock code: 1383.hk).
Mr. Zeng worked at Shenzhen Petrochemical Industry (Group) Co. Ltd.
and domestically associated enterprise in Shenzhen in 1991. From 1981
to 1990, Mr. Zeng served at various departments of the Xingning and
Meizhou municipal governments. Mr. Zeng was the Standing Committee
Member of the Meizhou CPPCC, and currently holds positions at a number
of organisations and associations, including vice president of Shenzhen
Charity Federation, honorary president of Guangdong Hakka Chamber
of Commerce, permanent honorary president of Shenzhen Ningjiang
Cultural Promotion Association and permanent honorary president of
Shenzhen Hongli Charitable Foundation. Mr. Zeng has received numerous
honors, such as “Yiju Top 30 Real Estate Pioneers of Shenzhen” and “Gold
Award for Personal Charitable Donations in Pengcheng”.

Mr. Zeng is a director of each of RXHD Holdings and China Greater Bay
Area Holdings.
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Mr. Wong Choi Hing ( £ B H# ), aged 70, had been appointed as our
Chairman and executive Director since October 2019. Since January
2022, Mr. Wong Choi Hing had been re-designated as non-executive
Director. Since 27 June 2022, Mr. Wang has been re-designated as an
executive Director and a co-Chairman of the Board. He is the founder
of our Group. He has over 20 years’ experience in the development and
operation of large-scale trade and logistics centres and is one of the
core leader of the industry, participating in the formulation of industry
standards and industry self-regulations. From October 2010 to August
2014, Mr. Wong was Chairman of the Board, executive director and CEO
of the Group, chaired and witnessed the important stage of the Group’s
listing in Hong Kong. Mr. Wong has received a number of social honours,
including being member of the 11th and 12th Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference (“CPPCC”) National Committee, vice-president
of the 3rd and 4th China Society for Promotion of the Guangcai Program,
Standing Member of the 10th and 11th executive committee of All-China
Federation of Industry and Commerce, founding president of Hong Kong
China Chamber of Commerce, Chairman of Friendship Federation of Hong
Kong Jiangxi Community Organisations, permanent honorary president
of Federation of Hong Kong Shenzhen Association, honorary president
of Federation of Hong Kong Chiu Chow Community Organizations,
honorary president of Federation of Hong Kong Guangdong Community
Organisations, honorary president of Chaozhou and Shantou Chamber
of Commerce in Shenzhen, vice-chairman of Shenzhen Harmony Club,
executive president of the General Association of Jiangxi Entrepreneurs,
among others.

Mr. Wong Choi Hing is the father of Mr. Wang Dewen, a former executive
Director of the Company (resigned on 27 June 2022). Mr. Wong is also the
father of Mr. Wong Kim, the beneficial owner of Eminent Ascend, which
owns 7.33% of issued share capital of the Company as at 31 December
2022.
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Mr. Cai Hongwen ( £ 8 X ), aged 59, had been appointed as our Co-
Chairman, executive Director and CEO since October 2019. He resigned as
CEO of the Group in June 2020 and resigned as Co-Chairman of the Board
in January 2022. He was appointed as the co-Chairman of the Board on 27
June 2022. He is a construction engineer and an architect. Mr. Cai has been
engaged in business operations for more than 20 years, during which he
has successfully established Guangdong Hongyi Group and China Hakka
Park which is the first cultural tourism industry park project in China
and which the project was selected as the "Guangdong Province New
Urbanization 2511 Beautiful Town Pilot Project”, and won the “2017 Third
China Outstanding Contribution Award in the Tourism Industry”, that is,
the "Pegasus Award”, and he has also engaged in many tourism real estate
projects across the country. Mr. Cai was a member of the 11th and 12th
Guangdong Provincial People’s Congress, member of the 4th, 5th and 6th
Meizhou Municipal People’s Congress, Standing Committee Member of
the 5th, 6th and 7th Meizhou Municipal People’s Congress, vice-chairman
of Meizhou Federation of Industry and Commerce, and chairman of
Meijing District Federation of Industry and Commerce. He currently
holds positions at a number of organisations and associations, including
executive vice-president of Guangdong Hakka Chamber of Commerce,
mentor of the Top 10,000 National Outstanding Mentors for Innovative
Entrepreneurship, visiting professor and member of the governing
board of Jiaying Academy in Meizhou of Guangdong Province, and vice
president of the Quanjinglian and director of Feature Towns Committee,
honorary president of Guangdong Province Wuhua Chamber of
Commerce, Vice President of Guangdong Real Estate Industry Association,
honorary president of Meizhou Real Estate Industry Association, president
of Meizhou Wuhua Chamber of Commerce. Mr. Cai has received numerous
honours, such as the “Guangdong May 1st Labour Certificate Award”,
“Meizhou Outstanding Private Entrepreneur”, Meizhou’s Third "Ten
Outstanding Youth”, “Meizhou Entrepreneurship Star” and “Glorious
Career Medal”. Mr. Cai is enthusiastic about social welfare, education,
medical care and rural revitalization. He has made donations amounted to
more than RMB500 million.

Mr. Cai is a director of each of Hakka Park and China Greater Bay Area
Holdings (a controlling shareholder of the Company).
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Mr. He Fei, aged 51. Mr. He has been appointed as an executive Director
and CEO of the Company since 27 June 2022. During the period from May
2020 to April 2021, Mr. He served as a director and the chief executive
officer of Myhome Real Estate Development Group Co., Ltd. (a company
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (the “SZSE"), stock code: 000667.
SZ) (the “Myhome Real Estate”). He had been the co-chief executive
officer of the Myhome Real Estate from November 2019 to May 2020.
During the period from January 2018 to November 2019, Mr. He served
as a vice-president and regional general manager of Shenzhen in CIFI
Holdings (Group) Co. Ltd. (a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 0884.HK). During the period from April
2004 to December 2017, Mr. He had worked at China Merchants Shekou
Industrial Zone Holdings Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the SZSE, stock
code: 001979.5Z) (the “Merchants Shekou”), and had successively served
as the general manager of Foshan Merchants Real Estate Co., Ltd. and
Guangzhou Merchants Real Estate Co., Ltd., a deputy general manager of
Guangzhou management headquarter of Merchants Shekou, assistant to
the general manager, the general manager of the operation management
centre and a deputy general manager of the Merchants Shekou. Mr.
He had served as a deputy director and project manager of Shenzhen
No.1 Construction Engineering Company from July 1993 to April 2004.
Mr. He obtained a Master degree of Engineering Management from the
Southeast University in 2004.

Ms. Wei Haiyan, aged 47. Ms. Wei has been appointed as an executive
Director of the Company since 27 June 2022. Ms. Wei has been the
chairman of the board of the Ruixin Haide Group Co,. Ltd. from
December 2010 to June 2022. She is involved in the overall planning and
development strategy decisions and is responsible for the management
of investment, administration and human resources. Ms. Wei has been
the vice president of Suncity Group Holdings Limited (previously known
as Hong Long Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1383.HK) from September 2000 to
February 2011, and has extensive experience in internal management of
corporations. Ms. Wei graduated from the Graduate School of Chinese
Academy of Social Sciences in 1998. She completed the advanced seminar
on information management at Tsinghua University in 2006 and was
awarded as an information analyst. Ms. Wei was appointed as a member
of the fifth and sixth Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference,
Meizhou, Guangdong Province.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Guan Huanfei, aged 65. Mr. Guan has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since 27 June 2022. Mr. Guan
obtained a Doctor degree in Economics in 2000 from Wuhan University
and was a postdoctoral researcher in Theoretical Economics with Fudan
University from 2000 to 2002. Mr. Guan has been a part-time researcher
of the Insurance Research Centre of Fudan University since 2004. He
has been appointed as a part-time lecturer of professional degree of
Fudan University since 2013. Mr. Guan has been appointed as a visiting
professor of Jilin University of Finance and Economics since August 2019.
He has been appointed as the off-campus tutor for master students of the
University of International Business and Economics since September 2022.
Mr. Guan has been an economic and technical consultant of People’s
Government of Jilin Province for years. Mr. Guan has extensive experience
in finance and insurance industry in Hong Kong and the People’s Republic
of China. He held various senior managerial positions in the People’s
Insurance Company of China (Jilin Branch), the business department of
Hong Kong and Macao Regional Office of China Insurance Group, China
Taiping Insurance (HK) Company Limited and China Pacific Insurance
Co., (H.K.) Limited. He also held offices at the Bank of Communications,
including the deputy chairman of the risk asset management committee,
the deputy chairman of credit asset management committee, the
chairman of loan verification committee, the deputy general manager
of the Bank of Communications Hong Kong Branch, a director of Bank of
Communications Trustee Limited, the chairman and chief executive of
China BOCOM Insurance Company Limited and an executive director and
general manager of BoCommlLife Insurance Company Limited.

Mr. Guan is currently an independent non-executive director of each of
China Nonferrous Mining Corporation Limited (a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1258.HK), Shandong Hi-
Speed Holdings Group Limited (previously known as China Shandong
Hi-Speed Financial Group Limited, a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 412.HK), Huarong International
Financial Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 993.HK), Sunwah Kingsway Capital Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 188.HK), and Shanghai Zendai Property Limited (a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 755.HK).
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During the period from December 2017 to June 2018, Mr. Guan served as
a non-executive director of Ping An Securities Group (Holdings) Limited (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 231.
HK). Mr. Guan had been the chairman emeritus of Culturecom Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 343.HK) and the chairman of the board of directors of UCAN.COM
Group Limited, a subsidiary of Culturecom Holdings Limited from July
2013 to March 2016. Mr. Guan was an independent non-executive director
of Solis Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 2227.HK) from August 2019 to September 2020.
Mr. Guan was also an independent non-executive director of China Wood
International Holding Co., Limited (formerly known as HongDa Financial
Holding Limited) (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 1822.HK) during the period from June 2018 to May
2020. Mr. Guan was an executive director and chairman of the board of
directors of Enterprise Development Holdings Limited (a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1808.HK) from June
2020 to May 2021.
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Mr. Han Qinchun, aged 64. Mr. Han has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since 27 June 2022. Mr. Han
has extensive experience in investment, financial management and
management of listed companies. Mr. Han has been appointed as
the founder and chairman of a Hong Kong fintech company - Hong
Kong Private Markets Limited since November 2014. He has been an
independent non-executive director of LongiTech Smart Energy Holding
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 1281.HK) since April 2015. Mr Han was an independent non-
executive director of Lingbao Gold Group Company Limited (a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 3330.HK)
from March 2012 to July 2021. In addition to the performance of his
supervisory responsibilities as an independent non-executive director,
Mr. Han uses his own experience, knowledge and resources to provide
financial management related advice and support to the listed companies’
development strategy, particularly in the area of capital market operation.
Mr. Han was appointed as a director and distinguished professor of
the Real Estate Centre at Peking University HSBC Business School from
2011 to 2015. He was a chief executive director of Straits Development
Holding Company Limited since August 2012 to November 2014, where
he was responsible for the company’s development strategy, capital
market operation, financial management and investment and financing
management. He was appointed as vice-chairman and co-chief executive
director of Suncity Group Holdings Limited (previously known as Hong
Long Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 1383.HK) since March 2006 to February 2010. From
2000 to 2006, Mr. Han served as a supervisor at a number of leading Hong
Kong investment banks, including Shun Hing China Investment Limited
(Hong Kong), BOCI Securities Limited (Hong Kong), China Everbright
Securities International (HK) Limited and ABC International Holdings
Limited (Hong Kong) before moving on to real estate company to take on
leadership position, where he has accumulated extensive cross-border
experience, resources and perspectives. Mr. Han worked as a planner for
the government agencies of the Ministry of Chemical Industry and the
Ministry of Forestry of the People’s Republic of China in Beijing from 1982
to 1993.

Mr. Han obtained a Bachelor degree in Planning in 1982 from Xi'an
University of Architecture and Technology and a Master of Science in
Real Estate in 1995 from The University of Hong Kong, and then obtained
a doctor degree in Real Estate Economics and Management from The
University of Hong Kong in 1998.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. He Fei (fi1 ), aged 51, has been appointed as an executive Director
and CEO of the Company since 27 June 2022. For Mr. He Fei’s biographical
details, please refer to “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management — Executive Directors” in this annual report.

Mr. Mao Jun (E #9), aged 49, has been appointed as a vice president of
the Group since March 2020, and is primarily responsible for the Group’s
investment development, and city and industry integration business.
Mr. Mao is an industrial and civil construction engineer, a real estate
intermediate economist, and has a qualification of a registered first grade
architect. Mr. Mao received an Executive MBA degree from Cheung Kong
Graduate School of Business, a bachelor’s degree in industrial and civil
construction from Wuhan Industrial University (now Wuhan University of
Technology). Mr. Mao has over 20 years of working experience in real estate
companies. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Mao was the managing director
in Shenzhen Shenghui United Development Management Co., Ltd. from
August 2016 to March 2020, fully responsible for the company’s operations
and management. Mr. Mao was also the chief engineer and vice president,
as well as the general manager in a regional company of Guangdong
Hongyi Group Limited from August 2010 to August 2016, responsible for
overall development and management of the projects of the regional
company. From August 2009 to May 2010, Mr. Mao served as the deputy
general manager of Shenzhen Minghao Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
and the general manager of its Hunan company, fully responsible for the
expansion and the development of Hunan company. From August 2005
to July 2009, Mr. Mao served as the deputy general manager of Huasheng
Real Estate Development Co., Ltd of Shenzhen Huasheng Holding Co.,
Ltd, responsible for the management of the business segments of design,
engineering, cost, tendering and procurement. Prior to that, Mr. Mao had
worked for China CITIC Group (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd., Shenzhen Baohua
Investment Co., Ltd., Shenzhen Xingtong Real Estate Development Co.,
Ltd. and Wuhan Steel Design & Research Institute Shenzhen Yard.
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Mr. Wang Chuan (EJI]), aged 45, has been appointed as a vice president
of our Group since April 2022, and is primarily responsible for the
marketing management, commercial management and property
management of our Group. Mr. Wang graduated from Chongqing
University with a Bachelor of Engineering degree in Civil Engineering. Mr.
Wang has many years of experience in managing the whole process of
real estate development and operation. From July 2021 to March 2022,
Mr. Wang served as the vice president of Shenzhen Central City Group Co.,
Ltd. and the president and partner of Shenzhen Central City Management
Holding Co., Ltd.. From June 2020 to July 2021, Mr. Wang served as the
president of Fosun Yosun Industrial Development Group and was mainly
responsible for the overall operation management of development and
construction, asset management and industrial operation. From June 2019
to June 2020, Mr. Wang served as the president of operations of Shenzhen
Weiye Group Co., Ltd. and was responsible for the overall operation
management of the group. From April 2017 to April 2019, Mr. Wang served
as the executive president of Shenzhen Huagiang New City Development
Co., Ltd. and the general manager of its Nantong subsidiary, and was
responsible for the overall management of the real estate business and
asset management sector. From June 2008 to February 2017, Mr. Wang
served as the assistant to the chairman of Shenzhen Hanjing Group Co.,
Ltd and the general manager of the brand marketing center. Before that,
Mr. Wang worked in Hongkong China Travel Service Investment (China)
Limited and Shenzhen Zhuyou Investment Co., Ltd., and was mainly
engaged in marketing planning, engineering management and brand
management.

Mr. Zhong Ding Hua ( £ £ % ), aged 51, has been appointed as a chief
financial officer of our Group since September 2020. He is primarily
responsible for the financing and investor relations affairs of the Group.
Mr. Zhong has more than 20 years of experience in the real estate
industry in the PRC and has extensive operational experience in project
financing, overseas mergers and acquisitions, corporate diversification
and internationalization, and financial management. From July 1994 to
July 2001, Mr. Zhong served as the finance manager, finance director, and
deputy general manager of the finance department of Shenzhen Nanshan
Development Group. From 2005 to May 2010, he served as the finance
supervisor of Zhuoyue Real Estate Group Co., Ltd.. From September
2011 to June 2016, he served as deputy general manager of the funds
department of Shenzhen Hazens Real Estate Group Co., Ltd.. From July
2016 to October 2018, he served as the president of Shenzhen Zhengde
Financial Holdings Co., Ltd.. From January 2019 to June 2020, he served as
the chief investment and finance officer of Legend Strategy International
Holdings Group Company Limited (stock code: 1355), a company listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Zhong
graduated from the Department of Finance in Jinan University in the
PRC majoring in International Finance in 1994. In 2004, he completed the
postgraduate diploma certificate program at the University of Auckland in
the New Zealand.
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REANDA

Reanda Lau & Au Yeung (HK) CPA Limited

FIREBERE(FE)EHENSEHMBRAE

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Guangdong -
Hong Kong Greater Bay Area Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Guangdong -
Hong Kong Greater Bay Area Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 79 to 236, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022,
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement
for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2022 and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”"). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) together with any ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 1(b)(i) to the consolidated financial statements
which states that, the Group incurred a loss of RMB1,729,027,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2022 and, as of that date, the Group had net
current assets of RMB5,687,106,000, and the Group's current portion of
bank loans and other borrowings amounted to RMB592,345,000 and
senior notes due in 2023 amounted to RMB2,609,780,000 while its cash
and cash equivalents amounted to RMB76,113,000. Further, as at 31
December 2022, the Group failed to pay the interest on senior notes of
approximately US$29,093,000 (equivalent to RMB196,592,000) due and
payable pursuant to the relevant indentures. Subsequent to 31 December
2022, the Group failed to pay the interest on senior notes due and payable
pursuant to the relevant indentures. Such non-payment of the interest
on senior notes has caused an event of default pursuant to the terms
and conditions of the relevant indentures, and may lead to demand for
acceleration of repayment. Moreover, as at 31 December 2022, the Group
was unable to repay certain amount due to third parties of RMB66,000,000
according to their scheduled repayment dates. These conditions indicate
the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The directors of the Company have been undertaking various measures
to improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position, which are set out
in note 1(b)(i) to the consolidated financial statements. Our opinion is not
modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described
in the Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section, we have
determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be
communicated in our report.
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Valuation of investment properties

BREWMENEE

BRHE GRS 11 R 10)89 271 BOE °

Refer to note 11 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on note 1(i).

The key audit matter
HRBENEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

RMRBERE N EEFARETSH

As at 31 December 2022, the Group held a portfolio of
investment properties located in Jiangxi, Guangxi, Shandong,
Guangdong and Hunan provinces in Mainland China with an
aggregate fair value of RMB1,901,500,000 which accounted
for 8% of the Group's total assets at that date. The investment
properties principally comprise commercial trade logistics
centers.
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The net fair value loss of investment properties recorded in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss represented 35.3%
of the Group’s loss before taxation for the year ended 31
December 2022.
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Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of investment
properties included the following:

BAEFHEREMENEERRNBZREF 21

. obtaining and inspecting the valuation reports
prepared by the external property valuers engaged by
management and on which the directors’ assessment of
the fair values of investment properties was based;
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. assessing the external property valuers’ qualifications,
experience and expertise in the properties being valued
and considering their objectivity and independence;
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Valuation of investment properties

BREMENEE

Refer to note 11 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on note 1(i).

BRHE GRS IRZI11 R 1)) 271 BOR °

The key audit matter
HRBEEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

RARBLRE N EEFARESH

The fair values of the investment properties as at 31 December
2022 were assessed by the directors based on independent
valuations prepared by a firm of qualified external property
valuers. The determination of these fair values involves
significant judgement and estimation, particularly in relation
to selecting the appropriate valuation methodology,
capitalisation rates, market rents and average market price of
the comparable properties.
BREMEN202F12A3MBNRABEHESFER 65
RONER Y R AL E R AR BB A EM L - BZEAAER
HEE P REXRHE R - FRIEEREENMERE - B
et - AR BMENTSES R FEHERR

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a
key audit matter because of the inherent risks involved in
estimating the valuations of investment properties, particularly
in light of the current economic circumstances.

BB L REMENLEERAREZEE - AAMFR
EMENHESROERRR - KR RERE AN LER

5 o

discussing with the external property valuers their
valuation methodology and the key estimates and
assumptions adopted in their valuations;

ERHNER ) 3 ik B D & SR A FI A 1 (B 75 VR A R il (B 5P
ME B ARE

challenging the key estimates and assumptions
(including capitalisation rates, prevailing market rents
and comparable market transactions) adopted in the
valuations, on a sample basis, by comparison with
available market data; and
BARREMSHBEETHE  ERAERRANE
EFTNBRR(BEERMCLLE - RITTIHHEES AL
BRHi5R5) : &

comparing tenancy information, including committed
rents and occupancy rates, provided by the Group to the
external property valuers with underlying contracts and
related documentation, on a sample basis.
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Assessing the net realisable value of inventories

AHEEEN TR R FE

F2RHE IS HRNE 18 R AT 18 BT BUE

Refer to note 18 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on note 1(n).

The key audit matter
HRBENEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

RMRBERE N EEFARETSH

As at 31 December 2022, the aggregate carrying value of the
Group's leasehold land held for future development, properties
under development and completed properties held for sale
(together “inventories”) totalled RMB14,445,046,000. These
principally comprise wholesale trading market units and other
commercial and residential units in Dongguan, Shenzhen,
Xingning, Ganzhou, Lanzhou, Jining and Yantai.
20225128310 - ERENARRSHEEE LM - £
MERFEETIYVXR (GBI FEDNERAESHARAR
#14,445,046,0007T - ZEFETEBRERERSE - FRII - H
=8N BN BENEANBYURSRTRETRHEM
RESRFESET -

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. The calculation of the net realisable value for each
property development project at the financial reporting date is
performed by the management.
FEAKAREAI R FENBRIEESIE - ZEMEFREERE
R BERE B R FEHREERETH -

Our audit procedures to assess the net realisable value of
inventories included the following:

BAFHEF ER A 2R FERRNBZEF 21

. assessing the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key internal controls over the preparation
and monitoring of management budgets and forecasts
of construction and other costs for each property
development project;

- FAMARGRELERSEVEFERENAEERE 2
ENHEMBARRTRREITH ERAMES - ERE
BiAEE AL

. conducting site visits to property development sites, on
a sample basis, and discussing with management the
progress of each property development project and the
development budgets reflected in the latest forecasts for
each property development project;

- UM REMERERAETERR - WEER
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. evaluating the valuation methodologies and challenging
the key estimates and assumptions adopted in the
valuations, including expected future selling prices,
by comparing expected future selling prices to, where
available, recently transacted prices for similar properties
and the prices of comparable properties located in the
nearby vicinity of each development;
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Assessing the net realisable value of inventories

AHEEEN TR FE

Refer to note 18 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on note 1(n).

BRSO TS IRFE MG 18 RITEE 1(n) B E 5T

The key audit matter
HRBEEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

RARBLRE N EEFARESH

The calculation of the net realisable value of inventories
involves significant management judgement and estimation
in preparing the updated estimations of the costs to complete
each property development project for leasehold land held
for future development and properties under development as
well as in assessing the expected future selling prices for each
property development project (with reference to recent sales
transactions in nearby locations and the rates of new property
sales) and the estimated future selling costs (including price
discounts which may be required to stimulate sales).
REARRGREHEL D RERYEREYEMBIEE LT
XAV R ET - ARG E S A X ERB NFERARRE
B(2EMMBIPNHER S KT MEHE X)) RIGFR
KIHEX A (BIEREHE TR EZNERITHE - St 8T
BRI ERFES REXEIEE B EGET

We identified assessing the net realisable value of inventories
of the Group as a key audit matter because of the inherent
risks involved in estimating net realisable values, particularly
in light of the current economic circumstances and various
property market measures implemented by local governments
in various cities across Mainland China.

BN AR A 2RFEY MNESRR - FhIRERREAN
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FiEERHE BEXREFENAERFEBBREZEER -

. for those leasehold land held for future development
and properties under development, discussing with
management, on a sample basis, the development
progress and challenging management’s development
budgets with reference to signed construction contracts
and/or unit construction costs of recently completed
projects developed by the Group; and

- HRRARFREHSLHRERYE  HEBEN®
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. assessing the sensitivity analyses prepared by
management to determine the extent of changes in key
estimates and assumptions that, either individually or
collectively, adopted in assessing net realisable value,
may result in material misstatements in inventories and
considering the likelihood of such a movement in those
key estimates and assumptions arising and the potential
for management bias in their selection.
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Provision for land appreciation tax (“LAT”) in Mainland China

B 3t 1+ st IRE B ([ £ 43R E B ) BB

B2 E RN 6 KT 10 EETHE -

Refer to note 6 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on note 1(u).

The key audit matter
HRBENEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

RMRBERE N EEFARETSH

LAT in Mainland China is one of the main components of the
Group's taxation charge.

PEAME T HIBERE BEEERBHANEZEXIES
Z—o

LAT is levied on sale of properties, at progressive rates ranging
from 30% to 60% based on the appreciation of land value.
At the end of each financial reporting period, management
estimates the provision for LAT based on its understanding
and interpretation of the relevant tax rules and regulations,
the estimated total sales of properties less total deductible
expenditure, which includes lease charges for land use
rights, property development costs, borrowing costs and
development expenditure. When the LAT is subsequently
determined, the actual payments may be different from the
estimates.
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We identified provision for LAT in Mainland China as a key
audit matter because of its significance to the consolidated
financial statements and because the estimated provisions for
LAT are based on management’s judgement and interpretation
of complicated tax laws and regulations.

BN T IRER R S H M RRNEZL - BEEE
TEHEET R 80 # R R E AN AR ER MBI MUE R IR
BEZE - ARBME R ETNRENIRE E5EH

WEZFA -

Our audit procedures to assess the provision for LAT in
Mainland China included the following:

HARHE R E A IR ER B BRI EZIEF B

assessing the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of management’s key internal controls over
the calculation of the estimated LAT provisions;
HEEE RN BT T IS ER R A A
EHIERET - BieMES /0L

evaluating the Group’s LAT provisions, on a sample basis,
as at 31 December 2022 which involved challenging
management’s assumptions and judgements based on
our experience, knowledge and understanding of the
practices of the application of the relevant tax laws by the
various local tax bureaus;

RIBRPIR&EER - MBI X375 515 5 e B AERE TR
ERBROER - HE EEERN2022F12A431H0
HIBER R - HEEENRRMAGREER

evaluating management’s assumptions and judgements
based on our assessment of the value of the estimated
sales of properties and the deductible expenditure; and
BREZRMEDEMLTHEBENAINRFAZ TG
ERERENRR AL &

re-calculating the provision for LAT of the Group and
comparing our calculations with the amounts recorded
by the Group.

EMFE ESENITHMEETEE - LHRMOE
B EEBETHENSTRETHR -

FToN
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT B M #% B3R &

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

SHMBERRREXMEMRELIIMER

EEFUEMERAR - HUEERETENE
BANEZEMES - BTBREAHIMBERE LI
EAZ AR S o

BAOHEHMBRENBERAL TRERMBES
BT ZFEMESBRTAEANEES

A

A ©

HBABRMEAHMBRENERZ  RANEEIR
FEEMES  FUBRET  ZREMESSSE
HAHMBRRIBPIEFTZBRTH T RIS
AFEEAEBREUTFEERERBLAIB
e

EREMEHTOIE  REARREMESR
FEEA#ERRL  RPFERELEE - £E
FE - BVREEARE -

EENaHMERRARENRE

EFAAARBER ST EAEESRMMER
B 76 3RS A B R BB ARG B4R 55 B SR i
BEEMPENAHUBERER  UHERRAREA
DFIF S 2k B A T3 12 B X BRRF SR ER AR 1T B B
ME AR R O AEEN AR -

ERBAaMM RN  EFAAM E5E
FEKEMEE N YAEERER T HREEFEL
LEMNER  URERBELLERSFER
BRIEZEAER BEXEFRIFLEE 5
BEHMOERNBERTER

BERZEEMBESEETEE
TEENEIE -

BEREMPB®R
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

BB RS ot R R ENRE

BAMBRE  RYAHUMBRREBES I FE
EEﬁé,ﬁké‘ﬁﬁﬁaEkﬁﬁ%éﬁﬁ@éﬁﬁa%ﬂ%ﬂﬁ%%é\ﬁ
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RrABBE IR - SHARBRUR Al A B IRFF R EE AR B 2 -
IMREEBHEMERRELEKRATERZER G
B R 2 AR IR R B S SRR P AE AV IR EOR
E o BIBRRERBUR AT RIREE K -
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. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

- HEERRFELLESTERNREEEL
o REBFIERMELNERE  BEIEF
ERZRNBEREENENIEEN - #W
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- B EREAERBAXBRDNYBE
BMAR BENEREE M@ﬂAHW%
BRVEXBR - WMAE BEEESEZNS
M - BT - HFIRBERERAEEH
Bffe

BREMERN  HMARELZEQBB TN
EZRE BWERH  BEAEZERES  BERK
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Reanda Lau & Au Yeung (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Franklin Lau Shiu Wai

Practising Certificate Number: P01886

Hong Kong, 28 April 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT ORLOSS & ti&&s &

for the year ended 31 December 2022
HE202F12A31BIEFH

(Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBHITR)

2022 2021
Note RMB’'000 RMB’000
BfaE ARET ARETTT
Revenue N 3 3,168,080 5,570,884
Cost of sales BHER A (3,214,054) (4,835,630)
Gross (loss)/profit E£(#8),/F (45,974) 735,254
Other net loss H g5k 4 (56,202) (165,755)
Selling and distribution costs SHE A5 SEA AR (180,597) (167,845)
Administrative expenses THAX (282,901) (501,657)
Impairment loss on financial assets measured at REEK AT EN R REE
amortisation cost BEEE 5(c) (138,804) (12,073)
Impairment loss on assets of disposal group &SRR E ERERTE
classified as held for sale 5(c) (112,478) -
Impairment loss on interests in joint ventures NE &b FEERREREE 5(c) (88,759) -
Loss from operations before fair value loss on BEWMEDNEEIER
investment properties BEER (905,715) (112,076)
Fair value loss on investment properties WEMEIEEE 11 (677,364) (9,700)
Loss from operation after fair value loss on BREYEAREFER
investment properties K EE (1,583,079) (121,776)
Share of losses of joint ventures MEEEDEBE 13(a) (273) (152)
Share of losses of an associate DB EBE 13(b) (525) -
Finance income g 0N 5(a) 67,511 63,233
Finance costs BhE KA 5(a) (400,252) (296,974)
Loss before taxation MRELAIES 1B 5 (1,916,618) (355,669)
Income tax Frig®t 6(a) 187,591 (89,441)
Loss for the year FREE (1,729,027) (445,110)
Attributable to: LT &AL :
Equity shareholders of the Company RAREEHR (1,571,832) (498,484)
Non-controlling interests FEPERR R AR (157,195) 53,374
Loss for the year FAEE (1,729,027) (445,110)
Restated
=7
Loss per share BREE
Basic and diluted (RMB cents) EXRREE(ARED) 9 (346.4) (109.9)

The notes on pages 87 to 236 form part of these financial statements.
Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company
attributable to the loss for the year are set out in note 33(b).

F87TE26E FTH M T BRZEY MK —IB
7 o REEEMNAND RS R R BRI FFIEEH N
F5E33(b) ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME St B R Ett 2 HIMA R

for the year ended 31 December 2022
HE202F12A31BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi)

(AAREEDIR)
2022 2021
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARET AREBTFT
Loss for the year TN TR R (1,729,027) (445,110)
Other comprehensive income for the year FRAEMZEBA (BRHRIER
(after tax and reclassification adjustments) BN ERER)
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to Higr e EE8RmIER ¢
profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation of financial BMEFREIEINF A RIS RER A
statements of subsidiaries outside the mainland M ERR
China (140,548) 31,678
— Gain on revaluation of property, plant and — Y% - BERREBEARE
equipment upon transfer to investment L ES T A R
property 21,941 S
- Deferred tax liabilities on recognition of —ME - BERREBEERRE
revaluation of property, plant and equipment VIERESNIEERIESE
upon transfer to investment properties (5,485) -
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year FREMEME (Eﬁﬁ)/ﬂ&)\ ___________________ (124092) 31,678
Total comprehensive loss for the year FRAEZHEBHAE (1,853,119) (413,432)
Attributable to: UT&EFEG :
Equity shareholders of the Company R B AR (1,691,305) (474,503)
Non-controlling interests e AE R (161,814) 61,071
Total comprehensive loss for the year FRAEZHEEIBATE (1,853,119) (413,432)
The notes on pages 87 to 236 form part of these financial statements. F87E 236 E FATHMIEB N X EM B mE A — 1B
o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION & B # AR R 3=

at 31 December 2022
20225128318
(Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBHITR)

2022 2021
Note RMB’'000 RMB’'000
BfaE ARET ARET T
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% - BB KRB 10 189,203 402,734
Investment properties KEME 1" 1,901,500 2,750,900
Intangible assets B EE 12 12,581 15,882
Goodwill kS 2,252 2,252
Interests in joint ventures NEEEER 13(a) 136,897 213,213
Interests in an associate REE AR 13(b) 6,041 =
Deferred tax assets BIEFIIEEE 14(b) 460,193 193,616
Finance lease receivable BEREREUWGRE 16 - 6,410
Other non-current assets HMIERBEE 17 - 65,376
2,708,667 3,650,383
Current assets REBEE
Inventories and other contract costs FERHAE KA 18 14,445,046 13,892,948
Other financial assets HthemEE 2,009 10
Trade and other receivables E 5 K H b IR 19 3,006,108 3,898,719
Prepaid tax SEANEVRE] 14(a) 322,752 294,074
Pledged and restricted cash EEARERFIES 20 1,864,240 763,517
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEFEY 21 76,113 1,373,314
19,716,268 20,222,582
Assets of disposal group classified as held for sale HEFEHEREE 34 282,466 =
Total current assets MENEEMATE 19,998,734 20,222,582
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 R EARERFRIE 22 4,437,238 5,947,883
Contract liabilities AREE 23 4,684,621 3,902,358
Bank loans and other borrowings BITER R EMER 24 592,345 531,631
Senior notes BEER 25 2,609,780 468,614
Lease liabilities HEaE 27 3,736 8,473
Current tax liabilities BNEAfiIE B & 14(a) 691,910 795,484
Deferred income RIEWA 28 201,918 259,268
Other current liabilities HEMnsasE 29 1,022,614 576,558
14,244,162 12,490,269
Liabilities directly associated with disposal group HEFESHRBE
classified as held for sale 34 67,466 -
Total current liabilities BB B 14,311,628 12,490,269
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION & B ¥ AR R =

at 31 December 2022
2022512 A31H
(Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBHITR)

2022 2021
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B R ARBT T ARETT

Net current assets REEEFE 5,687,106 7,732,313
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBEE 8,395,773 11,382,696
Non-current liabilities FRBERS
Bank loans and other borrowings RITERREMER 24 4,317,352 2,739,692
Senior notes BEER 25 - 1,877,848
Lease liabilities HEBE 27 626 27,322
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIBAE 14(b) 123,070 132,988
Other financial liabilities HivemAas 30 440,120 947,719
4,881,168 5,725,569
NET ASSETS EEFE 3,514,605 5,657,127
Capital and reserves BAREE 33
Share capital &N 36,598 36,598
Reserves it 3,384,945 5,051,474

Total equity attributable to equity shareholders of Z<A Bl #EXE IR R PE(LHELS A5

the Company 3,421,543 5,088,072
Non-controlling interests FEVERR A 93,062 569,055
TOTAL EQUITY FERARE 3,514,605 5,657,127

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 April 202354 A28 A B E S S RIEETIE

2023.
Zeng Yunshu He Fei
EERE AR
Executive Director Executive Director
HITEE BITEE
The notes on pages 87 to 236 form part of these financial statements. E875 236 E FE i B L B IS S = 0 — 326
ﬁ_j\ o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY § i ER= S8 TR

for the year ended 31 December 2022

HE20268 128318 1EFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(AARETIR)
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
ARAERRREL
Equity
Reserve-  settled
transaction share-
PRC withnon- based Capital Non-
Share Share  statutory  Capital controlling  payment redemption  Exchange  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve  interests reserve reserve reserve profits Total  interests equity
IEREE
BE-2 HRAH
R FER RERN 2% Fk
Bx BhEE EeRE  ERRE EEOR5 HE BORE EXEE RENE &5t B EREE
B B B 3B 3B 33(d)v) 33(c)ii
Note ~ RMBOO0 ~ RMBO0O  RMB0O0  RMBOO0 ~ RMBOO0  RMBIOO0 ~ RMBO0O  RMBOO0  RMB'000  RMB0O0  RMBO00  RMB'000
M AREBTT ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARBTT ARETT ARETR ARETH ARETR ARETR ARETI
Balance at 1 January 2021 R0 E1 8186
HE L P 36598 1188276 619962 1435617 (68987) 8666 120 33793 2338352 5592397 26597 5858364
Changesinequityfor2021 2021 EEHEH
Loss for the year EME% - - - - - - - - (A98484) (498484 3374 (445110)
Other comprehensiveincome L H2FUA - = = = = e - B - B 7697 31678
Total comprehensiveincome ~ 2EUALH - = = = = s S 3981 (498484)  (474503) 61,071 (413432
Equity settled share-based WERHENRAR
transactions R - - - - - 11619 - - - 11,619 - 11619
Acquisition of subsidiaries G- SN 2(e) = = = = = = = = = - e T
Acquisition of partialinterests ~ SFFEREREARA
of subsidiaries from non- HEARME ER
controlling interests - - - - (42,590) - - - - (42590) (374100 (80,000)
Disposal of partial interests of B FAEIHAERL EA
subsidiaries to non-controlling ~ 3ERAREZS
interests - - - - 1,149 - - - - 1,149 8952 10,101
Capital injection by SERER A
non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - - 199,184 199,184
Appropriation to PRC statutory ~ EEAZREETE
reserve 33(d)fii) - - 13,649 - - - - - (13,649) - - -
Balance at31 December 2021 12021512831 RS 36598 1188276 633611 1435617  (110428) 20,285 120 51774 1826219 5088072 569,055 5,657,127
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY &8 e 52 B3R

for the year ended 31 December 2022
HE202F12A31BIEFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBHITR)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
ALRRERFEL

Reserve - Equity
transaction settled

PRC withnon- share-based ~ Capital Property Non-
Share Share  statutory  Capital controlling  payment redemption Exchange revaluation  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium  reserve  reserve interests  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve profits Total interests equity
NEREE
-8 LRGTR
HE R REEK -0 hx FER
ke RGEE iERE  EREE BENRS i BERE EXRE EMERE REWE Eh B BEAE
Bl 3B 3B 33V 33V 33(d)iv) 33(d)fii)

Note ~ RMBOO0  RMBOO0 RMB000  RMBOOO ~ RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBO0O  RMB00  RMB00D  RMBO00  RMB00  RMBI000
Wi ARBTR ARRTR ARETR ARETR ARMTRL ARNTRL ARRTR ARETL ARETI ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR

Balanceat 1 January 2022 420221 R 1040
fe 36598 1,188276 633611 1435617 (110,428 20,285 120 57,774 - 1826219 5088072 569,055 5,657,127

Changesinequityfor2022 2005 BHEEH
Loss for the year ERigk - - - - - - - - - (1571832) (1571,832)  (157,195) (1,729,027)
Other comprehensive income Ef2EMA
Exchangedifferenceon ~ EESENEHE %

translation of financial Br/EREE

statements of foreign

operations statements - - - - - - - (135929)
Adjustmentupontransfer R A EE

of previously selfoccupied  ARENEZ

property toinvestment {4

property, net of tax effect = - - - - - - - 1645 - 1645 - 16456

- (135929)  (4619) (140,548)

Total comprehensive income  2EYIA 5 - - - - - - - (135929) 16456 (1,571,832 (1,691,305 (161,814) (1,853,119)

Equity settled share-based  JVEREEMIR(

transactions % ) - - - - - 5434 - - - - 5434 - 5434
Lapsed of share options R 3 - = = = - (20167) - - - 2,167 - - -
Disposal of subsidiaries ~ HE A 2() - - - - - - - 19391 - - 19391 (314179)  (294789)
De-tegistration of a subsidiary #3577 - - (49) - - - - - - - (49) = (“9)
Appropriation to PRC EREMELE

statutory reserve Fig 33(dl)(ii) - - 2875 - - - - - - (2,875) - - -

Balanceat31 December 12022512831

2022 AR 36,598 1,188276 636437 1435617  (110,428) 5552 120 (58,764) 16456 271,679 3,421,543 93,062 3,514,605
The notes on pages 87 to 236 form part of these financial statements. E87E 236 B TEH M BN ZE M B mET N —&B
yaN
o
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT 85t IR&RER

for the year ended 31 December 2022

HE202F12A31BIEFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(AAREEDIR)
2022 2021
Note RMB’'000 RMB'000
BisE AR¥ETR ARBTT
Operating activities RETER
Cash used in operating activities KREEHMARS 21(b) (699,365) (3,387,304)
PRC tax paid BRI EFHIE (191,204) (160,746)
Net cash used in operating activities RETHAARSFE (890,569) (3,548,050)
Investing activities REEH
Net cash inflow from acquisitions of subsidiaries W B A RMFRESTR - 41,184
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from disposal of subsidiaries HEMBARKFERS
),/ A 21(f) (6,976) 32,197
Payment for loans to third parties TRE=F1EN (32,538) (678,857)
Proceeds from repayment of loans to third parties WEIE=FERER 40,038 432,376
Proceeds from disposal of other financial assets HEREMSREEMEHEA - 194,050
Payment for purchase of other financial assets EEEMERMEEMNK (2,000) (95,960)
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties HEREMEMERIE 15,886 11,703
Interest received EHFE 49,359 63,041
Payment for purchase of property, plant and equipment ~ FEE¥% - BE K REN R (973) (44,189)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment &M « BiE MR EFTSHE 113,986 6,957
Payment for purchase of intangible assets EEEFVEENK (203) (1,840)
Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities ~ REZEFE, (TR BLFE 176,579 (39,338)
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT &8 8t &%

for the year ended 31 December 2022
HE202F12A31BIEFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBHITR)

B R

2022 2021
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
FisE AR¥ETR ARBTT
Financing activities MEED
Proceeds from new bank loans and other borrowings MSRTERREMES
PG TIA 21(c) 2,220,149 3,009,155
Repayment of bank loans and other borrowings EERITERREMEE 21(0) (568,608) (1,048,091)
Advances from controlling shareholders 1R IR R 21(c) 125,180 3,335,646
Repayment of advances from controlling shareholders BRI R B SREERE 21(c) (810,148) (3,972,519)
Proceeds from discounted bills EAIREIRRTE 21(0) 940,914 576,558
Repayment of discounted bills BECHREE 21(c) (494,858) (300,000)
Advances from non-controlling interests FEERR AR SR 5K 21(c) 7,730 2,054,978
Repayment of advances from non-controlling interests féf}&#?‘ BRAR SR B 21(c) (947,093) (484,339)
Advances from third parties =HBR 21(c) 240,845 454,200
Repayment of advances from third parties Ei% TER 21(c) (137,250) (343,122)
Proceeds from parking lots financing arrangements B BERHMG 21(0) 3,802 S
Proceeds from advance from a related party BEE T 2R - 50,000
Repayment of advance from a related party ER A B0 = (50,000)
Repayment of parking lots financing arrangements BEEMRERHRE = (32,675)
Repayment of senior notes BERERE = (347,340)
Repayment of other financial liabilities and interest EREMERABERTIR (689,553) -
Net proceeds from the issue of senior notes BITBEEBMEIIEFE - 921,367
Net proceeds from disposal of debt securities HEBBEHME 21(0) 24,844 =
Payment for purchase of debt securities EEREBES 21() (65,420) -
Interest and other borrowing costs paid ERFEREMEERA 21(c) (439,172) (588,503)
Payment for pledged deposits and restricted cash TREATRREREIR S = (555,325)
Proceeds from repayment of pledged deposits and BEARGHREZBIRSHE
restricted cash = 300,000
Disposal of partial interest of a subsidiary to a non- HEWBARB I ERZE
controlling shareholder JEPERLAE - 10,000
Capital injection by a non-controlling interest to FEERRE T ARTE
a subsidiary - 199,184
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENHERESHNELRE S 21(c) (1,399) (5,521)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BENHAERSHFERD 21(c) (119) (4,316)
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities ~ BAEEE (FTH) FHERLFE (590,156) 3,179,337
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents BEeRBESEYED FHE (1,304,146) (408,051)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January MATENEERESEEY 21 1,373,314 1,783,235
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes HEEXBBNTE 6,945 (1,870)
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December R12B31BNBELRREEEY 21 76,113 1,373,314

The notes on pages 87 to 236 form part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt #& 3R R KI5

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable individual
International Financial Reporting Standards, International
Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and Interpretations issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Significant
accounting policies adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The IASB has issued certain new and revised IFRSs that are
first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 1(c) provides information
on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent that they
are relevant to the Group for the current accounting period
reflected in these financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

(i) The Group incurred a loss of RMB1,729,027,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2022 and, as of that date, the
Group had net current assets of RMB5,687,106,000, and
the Group’s current portion of bank loans and other
borrowings amounted to RMB592,345,000 and senior
notes due in 2023 amounted to RMB2,609,780,000 while
its cash and cash equivalents amounted to RMB76,113,000.
Further, as at 31 December 2022, the Group failed
to pay the interest on senior notes of approximately
US$29,093,000 (equivalent to RMB196,592,000) due and
payable pursuant to the relevant indentures. Subsequent
to 31 December 2022, the Group failed to pay the interest
on senior notes due and payable pursuant to the relevant
indentures. Such non-payment of the interest on senior
notes has caused an event of default pursuant to the
terms and conditions of the relevant indentures, and may
lead to demand for acceleration of repayment. Moreover,
as at 31 December 2022, the Group was unable to repay
certain amount due to third parties of RMB66,000,000
according to their scheduled repayment dates. These
conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty
which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and, therefore, that it may be
unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in
the normal course of business.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

1 EXEHRE

(a)

BREH

HEMBHRERCDRIEER S EREE
S (ERETREAESEE ) MBEM 2
5 8 R B R B 95 i i R R (B PR o 3
HERA ) (Lo IEMmEER A E 5
BB mE 2R - BEREEERI([R
BEsHER ) RE2E) REB QG
BERERHE - WEMHRRNAT AT
BMERZMERAR([BRAES
ETRATERRA ) 2 BEREER
E o AEERANBEASHREER
"X e

REHEAEEGRME TRAKE
BRI A EIE B R A AT R AT AR AN Y
BB H S R 2 BRT AR - % HR %
WRAMRRE RS HIHE B EAE
AEBERBENBRIIRZEHTHRE
FHNIEE(Q) ©

IRk EREE

() ANEEREHZ2022%12A3181F
FEEABIEBARY1,729,027,000
T MREZEZE  AEERD
B EFEASARS5687,106,000
T AEBEREIHORITER
K H Ath & 508 A K % 592,345,000
TTR2023FHHBHELEZEEAA
R #2,609,780,0007T * i £ BNEA =T
ITHEESRASCEEMAARE
76,113,0007T ° b5 + 7220224 12
A318 NEBERGEREBBE
FROTIREEMEEREFE
#729,093,000%% 7T (FHE RN A R
196,592,0007T ) ° 722022412 531
Hi%& » AEBRERBEFHAEBESFR
DT HEEEELEZEFE - 1B
BEBESRZONER RGNS - K
SHEAEENBEEHEAED
B ATREE R ESKINRER © it
AN - 7202212318 » AEE
AEETEXHHEESHEAAR
#66,000,000 T E TN E =77
I o BRIFRBRFEEATE
BE RN E AR E - EI A pe A
FEFHEBHBEPEREEENE
FTEER °
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88

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements (Cont'd)

In view of such circumstances, the directors of the
Company have given careful consideration to the future
liquidity and performance of the Group as well as the cash
flow forecast and its available sources of financing within
the next 18 months from 31 December 2022 in assessing
whether the Group will have sufficient financial sources to
continue as a going concern and the appropriateness of
the use of the going concern basis in the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements The following plans
and measures are formulated to mitigate the liquidity
pressure and to improve the financial position of the
Group:

(@) The Group has been proactively communicating
with its senior notes holders to explore possible
restructuring options. The Company has launched
an exchange offer in relation to the outstanding
senior notes on 17 April 2023 (“Exchange Offer”),
and pursuant to the Company's announcement
dated 26 April 2023, US$75,000,000, representing
100.0% of the total aggregate principal amount
of the outstanding senior notes due in May 2023,
and US$287,819,000, representing approximately
94.8% of the total aggregate principal amount
of the outstanding senior notes due in October
2023, have been validly tendered for exchange
and accepted pursuant to the Exchange Offer. The
successful exchange result enable the Company to
effectively extend the maturity profile of its offshore
indebtedness due this year with lower interest
and efficiently ease the pressure on cash flow. The
Company will continue to actively communicate with
the holders of the Existing Notes, and urges such
holders to exchange the remaining Existing Notes for
the New Notes under substantially the same terms as
those of the Exchange Offer. For details, please refer
to the announcements of the Company dated 17
April 2023 and 26 April 2023.

(b) The Group is actively negotiating with financial
institutions for new financing or refinancing.

1

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R M5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRSAEHEHAI - HAARKTIR)
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(b) MFBMRAVRBERE(H)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf #& 35 R Mf 5t

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements (Cont’d)

(ii)

(iii)

() The Group will continue to take measures to
accelerate the sales of its completed properties
held for sale and to speed up the collection of sales
proceeds.

(d) The Group will continue to take proactive measures
to control selling and distribution expenses and
administrative expenses.

The directors are of the opinion that, taking into account
the above mentioned plans and measures, the Group will
have sufficient working capital to finance its operations
and to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall
due within the next 18 months from 31 December 2022.
Accordingly, the directors consider that it is appropriate
to prepare the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 on a going
concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to operate as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to write
down the carrying amounts of the assets to their net
recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities
that may arise and to reclassify non-current assets and
non-current liabilities as current assets and current
liabilities respectively. The effects of these adjustments
have not been reflected in the consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2022 comprise the Company and its
subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) and the
Group'’s interest in an associate and joint ventures.

1 EXE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R i 5E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN

1

BAARKEFIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements (Cont’d)

These financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”)
rounded to the nearest thousand. The measurement basis used
in the preparation of the financial statements is the historical
cost basis except that the following assets and liabilities are
stated at their fair value as explained in the accounting policies
set out below:

- equity investments other than investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures (see note 1(g));

- other investments in debt and equity securities (see note

1(9));
- derivative financial instruments (see note 1(h));

- investment properties, including interests in leasehold
land and buildings held as investment property where the
Group is the registered owner of the property interest (see
note 1(i)); and

- other financial liabilities (see note 1(v)(ii)).

Non-current assets held for sale are stated at the lower of
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
IFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

1
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bi 7% #R 3R By &

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements (Cont’d)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of IFRSs
that have significant effect on the financial statements and
major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 2.

Changes in accounting policies

The IASB has issued the following amendments to IFRSs that are
first effective for the current accounting period of the Group:

. Amendments to IFRS 3, Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

. Amendments to IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use

. Amendments to |AS 37, Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract

. Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle

None of these developments have had a material effect on
how the Group's results and financial position for the current or
prior periods have been prepared or presented in this financial
report.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R M5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRSAEHEHAI - HAARKTIR)

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the Group has power, only substantive rights
(held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances, transactions and cash flows and any unrealised profits
arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full in
preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised
losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in the same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent that
there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary
not attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in
respect of which the Group has not agreed any additional terms
with the holders of those interests which would result in the
Group as a whole having a contractual obligation in respect of
those interests that meets the definition of a financial liability.
For each business combination, the Group can elect to measure
any non-controlling interests either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net
identifiable assets.

1
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf #& 35 R Mf 5t

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Cont’d)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately from
equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company.
Non-controlling interests in the results of the Group are
presented on the face of the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit
or loss and total comprehensive income for the year between
non-controlling interests and the equity shareholders of the
Company. Loans from holders of non-controlling interests
and other contractual obligations towards these holders are
presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated statement
of financial position in accordance with notes 1(q) or (r)
depending on the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the amounts of
controlling and non-controlling interests within consolidated
equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but no
adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is
recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with
a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial
asset (see note 1(g)) or, when appropriate, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate and joint venture
(see note 1(e)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investment
in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see note
1(m)), unless the investment is classified as held for sale (see
note 1(z)).

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

1 EXEHEE)

(d)

FRRIRFERER (&)

IR RSN A TSR R R A
EARPEDRREEERDIFHZES
AEERENFFERERES fHRm K
ReptEahEMmEHRAREKE 25
RERNBHERIEERARBLEIE
P as SR RIS R Z R DB ©
FFEBEERAEANEREEZERE
AFEMEBENETRTFEEILE
RIFEHENQHORE FHHBRR KT
2IREHAE -

HAKERFARNEREB I REH
REEIE - BIARIMERERS -
BHESANEREIFERESNERE
FULEH AR - ARMRBMERNE
B ERETSELARATERAR

Sz
m °

EAREBREH —FTFARIMEHIE -
BIABRIWER EZ T ARIME IR
EtEEM B EENIBRER -
RAREIZESIE 2 BEZAT T2 AREB A
FAEREAAERR  BEEESRER
AT ERSHEERNALBE(RK
F1g) - H(AER) T RN
TERAGELERERMKAN(RMFE
1(e)) °

EARRRMPFBARRAERARN - RFAA
KR B RN AR E BB AR (R W
1(m))BRIEZICE D EAIFELE (R
F1() °

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 %R

93



94

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R M5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN

1

BAARKEFIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(e)

Associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company has
significant influence, but not control or joint control, over
its management, including participation in the financial and
operating policy decisions.

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group or
Company and other parties contractually agree to share control
of the arrangement, and have rights to the net assets of the
arrangement.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for in the consolidated financial statements under the equity
method, unless it is classified as held for sale (see note 1(z)).
Under the equity method, the investment is initially recorded
at cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group’s share of the
acquisition-date fair values of the investee’s identifiable net
assets over the cost of the investment (if any). The cost of
the investment includes purchase price, other costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of the investment, and any direct
investment into the associate or joint venture that forms part
of the Group’s equity investment. Thereafter, the investment is
adjusted for the post acquisition change in the Group’s share
of the investee’s net assets and any impairment loss relating
to the investment (see notes 1(f) and (m)(iii)). Any acquisition-
date excess over cost, the Group’s share of the post-acquisition,
post-tax results of the investees and any impairment losses for
the year are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, whereas the Group’s share of the post-acquisition post-
tax items of the investees’ other comprehensive income is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf #& 35 R Mf 5t

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(e)

Associates and joint ventures (Cont’d)

When the Group'’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the
associate or the joint venture, the Group's interest is reduced
to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued except
to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee. For
this purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying amount of
the investment under the equity method together with the
Group'’s long-term interests that in substance form part of the
Group's net investment in the associate or the joint venture
(after applying the ECL model to such other long-term interests
where applicable (see note 1(m)(i)).

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates and joint venture
are eliminated to the extent of the Group'’s interest in the
investee, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of
an impairment of the asset transferred, in which case they are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be accounted
for under the equity method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have significant
influence over an associate or joint control over a joint venture,
it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
investee, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit
or loss. Any interest retained in that former investee at the date
when significant influence or joint control is lost is recognised
at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition of a financial asset (see note 1(g)).

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R M5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRSAEHEHAI - HAARKTIR)

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(f)

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of:

(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree and the fair value of the Group’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree; over

(ii)  the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and
liabilities measured as at the acquisition date.

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a bargain purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill arising on a business combination is allocated to each
cash-generating unit, or groups of cash generating units, that is
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination and
is tested annually for impairment (see note 1(m)(iii)).

On disposal of a cash generating unit during the year, any
attributable amount of purchased goodwill is included in the
calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

Other investments in debt and equity securities

The Group's policies for investments in debt and equity
securities, other than investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, are set out below.

Investments in debt and equity securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group commits to purchase/sell
the investment. The investments are initially stated at fair value,
plus directly attributable transaction costs, except for those
investments measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
for which transaction costs are recognised directly in profit or
loss. For an explanation of how the Group determines fair value
of financial instruments, see note 35(f). These investments are
subsequently accounted for as follows, depending on their
classification.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf #& 35 R Mf 5t

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(g) Other investments in debt and equity securities

(Cont’d)

(i)

Investments other than equity investments

Non-equity investments held by the Group are classified

into one of the following measurement categories:

amortised cost, if the investment is held for the
collection of contractual cash flows which represent
solely payments of principal and interest. Interest
income from the investment is calculated using the
effective interest method (see note 1(w)(vii)).

fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVOCI) - recycling, if the contractual cash flows
of the investment comprise solely payments of
principal and interest and the investment is held
within a business model whose objective is achieved
by both the collection of contractual cash flows and
sale. Changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income, except for the recognition
in profit or loss of expected credit losses, interest
income (calculated using the effective interest
method) and foreign exchange gains and losses.
When the investment is derecognised, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive income is
recycled from equity to profit or loss.

fair value at profit or loss (FVTPL) if the investment
does not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling). Changes in the
fair value of the investment (including interest) are
recognised in profit or loss.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R i 5E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN

1

BAARKEFIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(9)

(h)

(i)

Other investments in debt and equity securities
(Cont’d)

(ii)  Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL
unless the equity investment is not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition of the investment
the Group makes an irrevocable election to designate
the investment at FVOCI (non-recycling) such that
subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income. Such elections are made on an
instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only be made
if the investment meets the definition of equity from the
issuer’s perspective. Where such an election is made, the
amount accumulated in other comprehensive income
remains in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) until
the investment is disposed of. At the time of disposal,
the amount accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-
recycling) is transferred to retained earnings. It is not
recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from an
investment in equity securities, irrespective of whether
classified as at FVTPL or FVOCI, are recognised in profit or
loss as other income in accordance with the policy set out
in note 1(w)(vi).

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair value. At
the end of each reporting period the fair value is remeasured.
The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Investment property

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are
owned or held under a leasehold interest (see note 1(l)) to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation. These include
land held for a currently undetermined future use and property
that is being constructed or developed for future use as
investment property.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf #& 35 R Mf 5t

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(i)

Investment property (Cont’d)

Investment properties are stated at fair value, unless they are
still in the course of construction or development at the end
of the reporting period and their fair value cannot be reliably
measured at that time. Any gain or loss arising from a change
in fair value or from the retirement or disposal of an investment
property is recognised in profit or loss. Rental income from
investment properties is accounted for as described in note

T(w)(ii).

In the comparative period, when the Group held a property
interest under an operating lease and used the property to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation, the Group could
elect on a property-by-property basis to classify and account
for such interest as an investment property. Any such property
interest which had been classified as an investment property
was accounted for as if it were held under a finance lease (see
note 1(1)), and the same accounting policies were applied to
that interest as were applied to other investment properties
leased under finance leases. Lease payments were accounted
for as described in note 1(l).

Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses (see note 1(m)(iii)).

—  interest in leasehold land and buildings where the Group
is the registered owner of the property interest (see note
1(1)); and

- right-of-use assets arising from leases over leasehold
properties where the Group is not the registered owner of
the property interest.

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and
equipment includes the cost materials, direct labour, the
initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling
and removing the items and restoring the site on which they
are located, and an appropriate proportion of production
overheads and borrowing costs (see note 1(y)).

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R i 5E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN - GAAREIITR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 1 EXEHBE(E)
(i) Property, plant and equipment (Cont'd) () V¥ BERZEGE)

Construction in progress is transferred to property, plant EERLIRENERTARR  EAY
and equipment when it is ready for its intended use. No ¥ WMELRZRE THRIESTER
depreciation is provided against construction in progress. Eo

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an WESHEME BERXBEBME
item of property, plant and equipment are determined as the AR U ER B B IR & FT 1S SRR RE B
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying ZIEERAEMNEEET - WHREX
amount of the item and are recognised in the consolidated HEEHMA HEERER -

statement of profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of WE R ESERM T AL F B
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual SHYIZE - BB R EIE B E'JE)ZZFZII?DB?
value, if any, using the straight line method over their estimated HEEFFRISEAR(MA)FE  FHBW
useful lives as follows: —F '

Estimated

residual value

as a percentage

Years of costs
T RIBREE

FH HEEESL

Ownership interests in land and buildings held for T FEEY A FTE R

own use carried at cost 20-40 0%
Motor vehicles and other fixed assets HE 4 5%
Office equipment MR 3-5 5%
Other properties leased for own use carried at cost EfhFE W% 2-8 0%
Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment W%~ WEREEEE S5 E
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated Fﬁiﬁ)ﬂ_ﬂ ZIEBK IR SR AR
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is Eio ol BEEH BB
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its % éféﬂ’\]—ﬂﬁﬁﬁ FHREFERER
residual value, if any, are reviewed annually. (B GFEITEM -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bi 7% #R 3R By &

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(k)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated at
cost less accumulated amortisation (where the estimated useful
life is finite) and impairment losses (see note 1(m)(iii)).

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the assets’
estimated useful lives. The following intangible assets with
finite useful lives are amortised from the date they are available
for use and their estimated/contracted useful lives are as

follows:
Software 5-10 years
Franchises granted 15 years

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed
annually.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to
obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

1 EXE

(k)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R M5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN

1

BAARKEFIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

)

Leased assets (Cont’d)

(i)

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-
lease component(s), the Group has elected not to separate
non-lease components and accounts for each lease
component and any associated non-lease components as
a single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-
term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
and leases of low-value assets which, for the Group are
primarily laptops and office furniture. When the Group
enters into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the
Group decides whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-
by-lease basis. The lease payments associated with those
leases which are not capitalised are recognised as an
expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is calculated using
the effective interest method. Variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or rate are not included
in the measurement of the lease liability and hence are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in which
they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf #& 35 R Mf 5t

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
() Leased assets (Cont’d)

(i)

As a lessee (Cont’d)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises
the initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease
payments made at or before the commencement date,
and any initial direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the
cost of the right-of-use assets also includes an estimate
of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or
to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is
located, discounted to their present value, less any lease
incentives received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see Notes 1(j) and 1(m)(iii)), except for
the following types of right-of-use asset:

- right-of-use assets that meet the definition of
investment property are carried at fair value in
accordance with Note 1(i); and

- right-of-use assets related to interests in leasehold
land where the interest in the land is held as
inventory are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value in accordance with Note 1(n).

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change
in future lease payments arising from a change in an
index or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate
of the amount expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee, or there is a change arising from the
reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this
way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit
or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has
been reduced to zero.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R i 5E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN

1

BAARKEFIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

U]

Leased assets (Cont’d)

(i)

As a lessee (Cont’d)

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a
change in the scope of a lease or the consideration for
a lease that is not originally provided for in the lease
contract (“lease modification”) that is not accounted
for as a separate lease. In this case the lease liability is
remeasured based on the revised lease payments and
lease term using a revised discount rate at the effective
date of the modification. The only exceptions are rent
concessions that occurred as a direct consequence of the
COVID-19 pandemic and which satisfied the conditions
set out in paragraph 46B of IFRS 16 Leases. In such cases,
the group has taken advantage of the practical expedient
not to assess whether the rent concessions are lease
modifications, and recognised the change in consideration
as negative variable lease payments in profit or loss in the
period in which the event or condition that triggers the
rent concessions occurred.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the
current portion of long-term lease liabilities is determined
as the present value of contractual payments that are due
to be settled within twelve months after the reporting
period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bi 7% #R 3R By &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 1 EXEHBE(E)
() Leased assets (Cont’d) (y HEEEGE)
(ii) As alessor (i) 1EEBHHEA

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease
inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to the ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee. If
this is not the case, the lease is classified as an operating
lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each component on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis. The rental income from operating
leases is recognised in accordance with Note 1(w)(ii).

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the sub-leases
are classified as a finance lease or as an operating lease
with reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the
head lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease to which
the Group applies the exemption described in Note 1(l)
(i), then the Group classifies the sub-lease as an operating
lease.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R i 5E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN - GAAREIITR)

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit
losses (ECLs) on the following items:

- financial assets measured at amortised cost
(including restricted and pledged cash, cash and
cash equivalents, trade and other receivables,
including loans to the third parties, which are held
for the collection of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal and interest);
and

- lease receivables.

Other financial assets measured at fair value, including
equity investments measured at FVTPL, amounts due from
an associate, wealth management products and derivative
financial assets, are not subject to the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Credit losses are measured as the present value of all
expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between
the cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the
following discount rates where the effect of discounting is
material:

- fixed-rate financial assets, trade and other
receivables: effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition or an approximation thereof;

- variable-rate financial assets: current effective
interest rate; and

- lease receivables: discount rate used in the
measurement of the lease receivable.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf #& 35 R Mf 5t

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Cont’d)

Measurement of ECLs (Cont’d)

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is
the maximum contractual period over which the Group is
exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort. This includes information
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from possible default events within the 12
months after the reporting date; and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from all possible default events over the
expected lives of the items to which the ECL model
applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these
financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and
an assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a
loss allowance equal to lifetime ECLs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R i 5E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN - GAAREIITR)

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Cont’d)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument (including a loan commitment) has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of default occurring on the financial instrument
assessed at the reporting date with that assessed at the
date of initial recognition. In making this reassessment,
the Group considers that a default event occurs when (i)
the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the
Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions
such as realising security (if any is held); or (i) the financial
asset is 90 days past due. The Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

- failure to make payments of principal or interest on
their contractually due dates;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in
a financial instrument’s external or internal credit
rating (if available);

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

- existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have a
significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to
meet its obligation to the Group.

1
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf #& 35 R Mf 5t

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Cont’d)

Significant increases in credit risk (Cont'd)

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective
basis. When the assessment is performed on a collective
basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics, such as past due status
and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is
recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss.
The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for all
financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment
to their carrying amount through a loss allowance
account, except for investments in debt investments
that are measured at FVOCI (recycling), for which the loss
allowance is recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the fair value reserve (recycling).

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with note 1(w)
(vii) is calculated based on the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-
impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying
amount less loss allowance) of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
a financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is
credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset have occurred.
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R i 5E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN - GAAREIITR)

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Cont’d)

Basis of calculation of interest income (Cont’d)

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
the following observable events:

- significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

- abreach of contract, such as a default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments;

- it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
into bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

- significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an adverse
effect on the debtor; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a security
because of financial difficulties of the issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset and lease
receivable is written off (either partially or in full) to the
extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This
is generally the case when the Group determines that the
debtor does not have assets or sources of income that
could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts
subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in
profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.

1
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf #& 35 R Mf 5t

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 1 EXEHBE(E)
(m) EREEREEREE)
(i) BRHBBEIERNEFER

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)

(ii)  Credit losses from financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the
issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified payments to
reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”)
for a loss the holder incurs because a specified debtor fails
to make payment when due in accordance with the terms
of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantees issued are initially recognised
within “trade and other payables” at fair value, which
is determined by reference to fees charged in an arm’s
length transaction for similar services, when such
information is obtainable, or to interest rate differentials,
by comparing the actual rates charged by lenders when
the guarantee is made available with the estimated rates
that lenders would have charged, had the guarantees
not been available, where reliable estimates of such
information can be made. Where consideration is
received or receivable for the issuance of the guarantee,
the consideration is recognised in accordance with the
Group’s policies applicable to that category of asset.
Where no such consideration is received or receivable, an
immediate expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the amount initially
recognised as deferred income is amortised in profit
or loss over the term of the guarantee as income from
financial guarantees issued.

The Group monitors the risk that the specified debtor
will default on the contract and recognises a provision
when ECLs on the financial guarantees are determined
to be higher than the carrying amount in respect of the
guarantees (i.e. the amount initially recognised, less
accumulated amortisation).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R M5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN

1

BAARKEFIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)

(ii)

(iii)

Credit losses from financial guarantees issued (Cont’d)

To determine ECLs, the Group considers changes in the
risk of default of the specified debtor since the issuance
of the guarantee. A 12-month ECL is measured unless the
risk that the specified debtor will default has increased
significantly since the guarantee is issued, in which case
a lifetime ECL is measured. The same definition of default
and the same assessment of significant increase in credit
risk as described in note 1(m)(i) apply.

As the Group is required to make payments only in the
event of a default by the specified debtor in accordance
with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed, an
ECL is estimated based on the expected payments to
reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any
amount that the Group expects to receive from the holder
of the guarantee, the specified debtor or any other party.
The amount is then discounted using the current risk-free
rate adjusted for risks specific to the cash flows.

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period to identify indications
that the following assets may be impaired or, except
in the case of goodwill, an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment, including right-of-
use assets (other than property carried at revalued
amounts);

- intangible assets;

- interests in joint ventures and associates;

- goodwill; and

- investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s
statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf #& 35 R Mf 5t

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)
(iii) Impairment of other non-current assets (Cont’d)

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, the
recoverable amount is estimated annually whether or not
there is any indication of impairment.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater
of its fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. Where an asset does
not generate cash inflows largely independent of
those from other assets, the recoverable amount
is determined for the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit). A portion of the carrying amount of
a corporate asset (for example, head office building)
is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit
if the allocation can be done on a reasonable and
consistent basis, or to the smallest group of cash-
generating units if otherwise.

- Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
if the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-
generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised
in respect of cash-generating units are allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the cash-generating unit (or group of
units) and then, to reduce the carrying amount of the
other assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro
rata basis, except that the carrying value of an asset
will not be reduced below its individual fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if
determinable).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R i 5E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN - GAAREIITR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 1 E*

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)
(iii) Impairment of other non-current assets (Cont’d)
- Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment
loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the
asset’s carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
in prior years. Reversals of impairment losses are
credited to profit or loss in the year in which the
reversals are recognised.

(n) Inventories and other contract costs (n)
(i) Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in the
ordinary course of business, in the process of production
for such sale or in the form of materials or supplies to be
consumed in the production process or in the rendering
of services.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value as follows:

- Property development

Cost and net realisable values and determined as
follows:

- Leasehold land held for future development

The cost of leasehold land, which is held
for development, represents the cost of
acquisition and the premium, if any, payable
to the relevant government authorities. Net
realisable value is determined by reference to
management estimates based on prevailing
market conditions.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf #& 35 R Mf 5t

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(n) Inventories and other contract costs (Cont’d)

(i) Inventories (Cont’d)

- Property development (Cont’d)

Properties under development

The cost of properties under development
comprises specifically identified cost, including
the acquisition cost of interests in freehold and
leasehold land, aggregate cost of development,
materials and supplies, wages and other
direct expenses, an appropriate proportion of
overheads and borrowing costs capitalised (see
note 1(y)). Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price less estimated costs of
completion and costs to be incurred in selling
the property.

Completed properties held for sale

The cost of completed properties held for
sale comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing
the inventories to their present location and
condition.

In the case of completed properties developed
by the Group which comprise of multiple units
which are sold individually, the cost of each
unit is determined by apportionment of the
total development costs for that development
project to each unit on a per square metre basis,
unless another basis is more representative of
the cost of the specific unit. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price less costs
to be incurred in selling the property.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R i 5E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB EHERIN  HUAARESITR)
1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 1 EXEHBR(E)
(n) Inventories and other contract costs (Cont’d) (n) FEREMENRA(E)
(i) Inventories (Cont’d) (i) FE(#E)
- Other inventories BEtiFE

Other inventories mainly include low- value
consumption goods and goods for sale. They are
carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.

The amount of any write-down of inventories to
net realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of
any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised
as an expense in the period in which the reversal
occurs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt #& 3R R KI5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 1 EXEHBE(E)
(n) Inventories and other contract costs (Cont’d) (n) FERHEMELORAK(E)

(i) BEmE#mAK

(i) Other contract costs

Other contract costs are either the incremental costs of
obtaining a contract with a customer or the costs to fulfil
a contract with a customer which are not capitalised as
inventory (see note 1(n)(i)).

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs
that the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer
that it would not have incurred if the contract had not
been obtained (e.g. an incremental sales commission).
Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are capitalised
when incurred if the costs relate to revenue which will
be recognised in a future reporting period and the costs
are expected to be recovered. Other costs of obtaining a
contract are expensed when incurred.

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the costs
relate directly to an existing contract or to a specifically
identifiable anticipated contract; generate or enhance
resources that will be used to provide goods or services in
the future; and are expected to be recovered. Costs that
relate directly to an existing contract or to a specifically
identifiable anticipated contract may include direct
labour, direct materials, allocations of costs, costs that
are explicitly chargeable to the customer and other costs
that are incurred only because the Group entered into
the contract (for example, payments to sub-contractors).
Other costs of fulfilling a contract, which are not
capitalised as inventory, property, plant and equipment or
intangible assets, are expensed as incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Impairment losses are recognised to the extent that the
carrying amount of the contract cost asset exceeds the net
of (i) remaining amount of consideration that the Group
expects to receive in exchange for the goods or services
to which the asset relates, less (ii) any costs that relate
directly to providing those goods or services that have not
yet been recognised as expenses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is charged to
profit or loss when the revenue to which the asset relates is
recognised. The accounting policy for revenue recognition
is set out in note 1(w).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R i 5E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN

1

BAARKEFIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(o)

Contracts liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue
(see note 1(w)). A contract liability would also be recognised if
the Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration
before the Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases,
a corresponding receivable would also be recognised (see note
1(p)).

When the contract includes a significant financing component,
the contract balance includes interest accrued under the
effective interest method (see note 1(w)).

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration
is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue has been
recognised before the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration, the amount is presented as a contract
asset.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component are initially measured at their transaction
price. Trade receivables that contain a significant financing
component and other receivables are initially measured at fair
value plus transaction costs. All Receivables are subsequently
stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method
less allowance for credit losses (see note 1(m)(i)).

Insurance reimbursement is recognised and measured in
accordance with note 1(v)(i).

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair
value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. Interest expense is recognised in
accordance with the Group'’s accounting policy for borrowing
costs (see note 1(y)).

1

EX®

(o)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf #& 35 R Mf 5t

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(r)

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value.
Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other payables
are subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated
at invoice amounts.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and cash
equivalents are assessed for ECL in accordance with the policy
set out in note 1(m)(i).

Employee benefits

(i)  Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which
the associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

Obligation for contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans pursuant to the relevant labour rules and
regulations in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”)
are recognised as an expense in profit or loss as incurred,
except to the extent that they are included in properties
for sale not yet recognised as an expense.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R M5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRSAEHEHAI - HAARKTIR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 1 EXEHBE(E)
(t) Employee benefits (Cont’d) t) EEEFE)

(ii) ~ Equity settled share-based payment (i) URBZRBELRGBEBHTH

The fair value of share options granted to employees is
recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding
increase in the equity settled share-based payment
reserve within equity. The fair value is measured at grant
date using the binomial option pricing model, taking into
account the terms and conditions upon which the options
were granted. Where the employees have to meet vesting
conditions before becoming unconditionally entitled to
the options, the total estimated fair value of the options
is spread over the vesting period, taking into account the
probability that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options
that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in
prior years is charged/credited to the profit or loss for the
year of the review, unless the original employee expenses
qualify for recognition as an asset, with a corresponding
adjustment to the equity settled share-based payment
reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognised as
an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of
options that vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the
equity settled share-based payment reserve) except where
forfeiture is only due to not achieving vesting conditions
that relate to the market price of the Company’s shares.
The equity amount is recognised in the equity settled
share-based payment reserve until either the option is
exercised (when it is transferred to the share premium
account) or the option expires (when it is released directly
to retained profits).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt #& 3R R KI5

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(u)

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements
in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements
in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or
loss except to the extent that they relate to items recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and
unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset
can be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that will arise
from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences,
provided those differences relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either
in the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising
from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The
same criteria are adopted when determining whether existing
taxable temporary differences support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and credits,
that is, those differences are taken into account if they relate to
the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and
are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax
loss or credit can be utilised.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R M5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN

1

BAARKEFIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(u)

Income tax (Cont’d)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are those temporary differences arising from goodwill
not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets
or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit
(provided they are not part of a business combination), and
temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries
to the extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the Group
controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the
case of deductible differences, unless it is probable that they
will reverse in the future.

Where investment properties are carried at their fair value in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(i), the
amount of deferred tax recognised is measured using the tax
rates that would apply on sale of those assets at their carrying
value at the reporting date unless the property is depreciable
and is held within a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied
in the property over time, rather than through sale. In all other
cases, the amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of
the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such
reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the related
dividends is recognised.

1
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf #& 35 R Mf 5t

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(u)

Income tax (Cont’d)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements
therein, are presented separately from each other and are not
offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities,
and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the
company or the Group has the legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the
following additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Group
intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered, intend to realise the current tax assets
and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis or
realise and settle simultaneously.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R M5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRSAEHEHAI - HAARKTIR)

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(v)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

(i)

(ii)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group or the
Company has a legal or constructive obligation arising as
a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation
and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle
a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another
party, a separate asset is recognised for any expected
reimbursement that would be virtually certain. The
amount recognised for the reimbursement is limited to
the carrying amount of the provision.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Contingent liabilities assumed in business combination

Contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination
which are present obligations at the date of acquisition
are initially recognised at fair value, provided the fair value
can be reliably measured. After their initial recognition at
fair value, such contingent liabilities are recognised at the
higher of the amount initially recognised and the amount
that would be determined in accordance with note 1(v)(i).

1

EXEBR(E)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt #& 3R R KI5

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(w) Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises from
the sale of goods, the provision of services or the use by others
of the Group's assets under leases in the ordinary course of the
Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service
is transferred to the customer, or the lessee has the right to use
the asset, at the amount of promised consideration to which
the Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value
added tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any
trade discounts.

Where the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the customer for
more than 12 months, revenue is measured at the present
value of the amount receivable, discounted using the discount
rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
with the customer, and interest income is accrued separately
under the effective interest method. Where the contract
contains a financing component which provides a significant
financing benefit to the Group, revenue recognised under that
contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. The Group takes
advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph 63 of IFRS
15 and does not adjust the consideration for any effects of a
significant financing component if the period of financing is 12
months or less.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

(i)  Sales of properties

Revenue arising from the sale of properties developed
for sale in the ordinary course of business is recognised
when the property is delivered to customers, which is
the point in time when the customer has the ability to
direct the use of the property and obtain substantially all
of the remaining benefits of the property. Deposits and
instalments received on properties sold prior to the date
of revenue recognition are included in the statement of
financial position under contract liabilities (see note 1(0)).

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R M5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRSAEHEHAI - HAARKTIR)

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(w) Revenue and other income (Cont’d)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Sales of properties (Cont’d)

For contracts where the period between the payment by
the customer and the transfer of the promised property
exceeds one year, the transaction price and the amount
of revenue from the sales of completed properties is
adjusted for the effects of a financing component. If the
advance payments by the customer are regarded as
providing a significant financing benefit to the Group,
interest expense arising from the adjustment of time value
of money will be accrued by the Group during the period
between the payment date and the date of delivery
of property. This accrual increases the balance of the
contract liability during the period of construction, and
therefore increases the amount of revenue recognised
when control of the completed property is transferred to
the customer. The interest is expensed as accrued unless it
is eligible to be capitalised under IAS 23, Borrowing costs,
in accordance with the policies set out in note 1(y).

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over
the periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable. Variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as income in the
accounting period in which they are earned.

Service fee income

Service fee income in relation to property management
service, advertising service and other ancillary services are
recognised when such services are provided to customers.

Income from trading business

Revenue is recognised when the customer takes
possession of and accepts the products.

1

EXEBR(E)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt #& 3R R KI5

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(w) Revenue and other income (Cont’d)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

Finance lease income

Finance lease income is recognised on an accrual basis
using the effective interest method by applying the rate
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the net investment of the
finance lease or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the
net carrying amount of the net investment of the finance
lease.

Dividends

Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised
when the shareholder’s right to receive payment is
established.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method. For financial assets measured at
amortised cost that are not credit-impaired, the effective
interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of
the asset. For credit impaired financial assets, the effective
interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross
carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the asset (see
note 1(m)(i)).

(viii) Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement
of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the Group
will comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants
that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are
recognised as income in profit or loss on a systematic
basis in the same periods in which the expenses are
incurred. Grants that compensate the Group for the cost
of assets are initially recognised as deferred income and
subsequently deducted from the carrying amount of
assets and consequently are effectively recognised in
profit or loss when the inventories are sold or transferred
to investment properties upon meeting the relevant
conditions, if any, attaching to them.

1 EXE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R M5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRSAEHEHAI - HAARKTIR)

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(x)

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. The transaction date is the date on which the company
initially recognises such non-monetary assets or liabilities.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are stated at fair value are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was
measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into RMB at
the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement of financial
position items are translated into RMB at the closing foreign
exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in equity in the exchange
reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of
the exchange differences relating to that foreign operation is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss
on disposal is recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes
a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use
or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred.

1

EXEBRGE)

(x)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf #& 35 R Mf 5t

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(y)

(2)

Borrowing costs (Cont’d)

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a
qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the asset
is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and
activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended
use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs
is suspended or ceases when substantially all the activities
necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or
sale are interrupted or complete.

Non-current assets held for sale

A non-current asset (or disposal group) is classified as held
for sale if it is highly probable that its carrying amount will
be recovered through a sale transaction rather than through
continuing use and the asset (or disposal group) is available for
sale in its present condition. A disposal group is a group of assets
to be disposed of together as a group in a single transaction,
and liabilities directly associated with those assets that will be
transferred in the transaction.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss
of control of a subsidiary, all the assets and liabilities of that
subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the above criteria
for classification as held for sale are met, regardless of whether
the Group will retain a non-controlling interest in the subsidiary
after the sale.

Immediately before classification as held for sale, the
measurement of the non-current assets (and all individual
assets and liabilities in a disposal group) is brought up-to-
date in accordance with the accounting policies before the
classification. Then, on initial classification as held for sale and
until disposal, the non-current assets or disposal groups, are
recognised at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value
less costs to sell.

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale,
and on subsequent remeasurement while held for sale, are
recognised in profit or loss. As long as a non-current asset is
classified as held for sale, or is included in a disposal group
that is classified as held for sale, the non-current asset is not
depreciated or amortised.

1 EXE

(y)

(2)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R M5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRSAEHEHAI - HAARKTIR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 1 BEXEBE(E)
(aa) Related parties (aa) BBESE
(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is (@) MMBUTAL  AlZALTHZAL

related to the Group if that person: RO FRK BERK B BN B g

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group; () HAREBEBEALH L
PRI ;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (i) BAEEBEEEATES
59

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of (i) AAKBEIANEETRFH
the Group or the Group’s parent. FTEEEEKS -

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following (b) fWEBFAEATHMY - RIEAREE
conditions applies: AR -

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same () ZEREAEBER- %8
Group (which means that each parent, subsidiary B ERAR(BISR AR - F
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others). RAIRERFARKIEEEB

BE) ©

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the (i) —HEEAES —HEREAE
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a %ﬁ%i/\**ﬂéﬁ(j@iﬁm
member of a group of which the other entity is a ERFBREEN AR AL
member). EXEEDRE) -

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third (i) WEEEHYAR—F=Z78
party. GEPE -

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the (ivy —"HERAF=ZFEENS
other entity is an associate of the third entity. EhE ME—EBEITAR

—E=HEREE R -

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the (v) ZEBAARNEE N EARE
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity AN EEREERANMm
related to the Group. RABER AT S -

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a (vi) ZEEX(aa)aTEE AL
person identified in (aa)(a). il gk 5 HEEH o

(vi) A person identified in (aa)(a)(i) has significant (vi) R@a)@OMEEATHZE
influence over the entity or is a member of the key BEEAFENIBZER
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent (HZEBNBRREEE
of the entity). BEKE -

(viii) The entity, or any member of a Group of which it is a (vii) ZEENZEEMEEEN
part, provides key management personnel services FRKERRMZEBE LS
to the Group or to the Group's parent. B RARRHEFEEERREN
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bi 7% #R 3R By &

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
(aa) Related parties (Cont’d)

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

(ab) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the consolidated financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the
Group's various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature
of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

2 ACCOUNTINGJUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES

Sources of estimation uncertainty

Notes 1(b), 11, 13 and 35 contain information about the assumptions
and their risk factors relating to assessing whether the Group will
have sufficient financial resources to continue as a going concern,

valuation of investment property, impairment of interests in joint

ventures and an associate and fair value of financial instruments.
Other key sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

(i)

Valuation of investment properties

As described in Note 11, investment properties are stated at
fair value based on the valuation performed by an independent
firm of professional valuers.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R M5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRSAEHEHAI - HAARKTIR)

2 ACCOUNTINGJUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES
(Cont'd)

Sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

(i)

(ii)

Valuation of investment properties (Cont’d)

In determining the fair value of investment properties, the
valuers have based on a method of valuation which involves,
inter alia, certain estimates including current market rents and
market price for similar properties in the same location, and
condition, appropriate discount rates and expected future
market rents.

In relying on the valuation report, management has exercised
their judgement and is satisfied that the method of valuation is
reflective of the current market conditions.

Impairment for interests in joint ventures and an associate

As explained in note 1(m)(iii), the Group determines that
investment in joint ventures and an associate is impaired
when there has been a significant or prolonged decline
in the recoverable amount below its cost. Management
assesses the differences between the carrying amount and
recoverable amount and makes provision for impairment loss.
Any change in the assumptions adopted in calculating the
recoverable amount would increase or decrease the provision
for impairment loss and affect the Group'’s financial position. In
determining the value in use, expected cash flows generated by
the assets are discounted to their present value, which requires
significant judgement relating to items such as level of discount
rates and the expected long-term growth rate. The Group uses
all readily available information in determining an amount that
is a reasonable approximation of recoverable amount, including
estimates based on reasonable and supportable assumptions
and projections of items such as revenue, amount of operating
costs.

EEHFIER R (&5t (48)

et A HEE B 3 A9 3R (48)

(i)

(ii)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf #& 35 R Mf 5t

2 ACCOUNTINGJUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES
(Cont'd)

Sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

(iii)

(iv)

Recognition of government grants

Government grants are initially recognised by the Group as
a deferred income in the consolidated statement of financial
position when an amount is received and are subsequently
recognised or amortised in profit or loss on a systematic basis
when there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply
with the specific conditions attached to the government
grants. The Group is required to fulfil the requirements agreed
with the local governments when conducting the related
infrastructure construction and the Group assesses whether the
conditions attached to the government grants are met based
on management’s best estimates, particularly in interpreting
the fulfilment of conditions which are not clearly stated in the
respective agreements.

Provision for PRC LAT

As explained in note 6(a), the Group has estimated, made
and included in tax provision for PRC LAT according to the
requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and
regulations. The actual PRC LAT liabilities are subject to the
determination by the tax authorities upon completion of the
property development projects and the tax authorities might
disagree with the basis on which the provision for PRC LAT is
calculated. Significant judgment is required in determining
the level of provision, as the calculation of which depends on
the ultimate tax determination. Given the uncertainties of the
calculation basis of PRC LAT as interpreted by the local tax
bureau, the actual outcomes may be higher or lower than those
estimated at the end of the reporting period. Any increase or
decrease in the actual outcomes/estimates will impact the
income tax provision in the period in which such determination
is made.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R M5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRSAEHEHAI - HAARKTIR)

2 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES 2 BHERR AR ()
(Cont'd)

Sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

et A HEE B 3 A9 3R (48)
v) BEFERE

(v) Determining the provision for inventories

(vi)

As explained in note 1(n), the Group’s leasehold land held
for future development, properties under development and
completed properties held for sale are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Based on the Group's recent
experience and the nature of the subject property, the Group
makes estimates of the selling price, the costs of completion
in case for properties under development, and the costs to be
incurred in selling the properties.

If there is an increase in costs to completion or a decrease
in net sales value, provision for completed properties held
for sale, properties held for future development and under
development may be resulted. Such provision requires the use
of judgment and estimates. Where the expectation is different
from the original estimate, the carrying value and provision for
properties in the periods in which such estimate is changed will
be adjusted accordingly.

Given the volatility of the PRC property market and the
distinctive nature of individual properties, the actual outcomes
in terms of costs and revenue may be higher or lower than
estimated at the end of the reporting period. Any increase or
decrease in the provision would affect profit or loss in future
years.

Impairment for trade and other receivables

The Group expected credit losses (ECL) for trade and other
receivables resulting from the inability of the customers to
make the required payments. The Group bases the estimates on
the aging of the trade and other receivable balance, customer
creditworthiness, and historical write-off experience. If the
financial condition of the customers were to deteriorate, actual
provisions would be higher than estimated.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt #& 3R R KI5

2 ACCOUNTINGJUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES
(Cont'd)

Sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

(vii) Recognition of deferred tax assets

(viii)

Deferred tax assets are recognised and measured based on the
expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying
amount of the assets, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. In determining
the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets, expected taxable
profits are estimated which involves a number of assumptions
relating to the operating environment of the Group and require
a significant level of judgment exercised by the directors. Any
change in such assumptions and judgment would affect the
carrying amounts of deferred tax assets to be recognised and
hence the net profit in future years.

Determining the deferred taxation on investment properties

The Group has leased out certain of the completed properties
to third parties whereby the directors consider that such
arrangement is not temporary. In the circumstance, the Group
has decided to treat those properties as investment properties
(and reclassifying them from completed properties held for sale
to investment properties) because it is the Group’s intention
to hold these properties in long-term for rental income and/or
capital appreciation.

Under IAS 12, deferred tax is required to be measured with
reference to the tax consequences that would follow the
manner in which the entity expects to recover the carrying
amount of the assets in question. In this regard, IAS 12 has a
rebuttable presumption that the carrying amount of investment
property carried at fair value under IAS 40, Investment property,
will be recovered through sale. This presumption is rebutted
on a property-by-property basis if the investment property in
question is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property over time, rather
than through sale.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R i 5E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN - GAAREIITR)

2 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES 2 EHPIERR &5 (HE)
(Cont'd)
Sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d) HET P REERZN IR (&)
(viii) Determining the deferred taxation on investment properties (vii) BEEREY BT E (&)
(Cont'd)

In this connection, the Group has reviewed its investment
property portfolio on a regular basis and has concluded that
as at 31 December 2022, the Group has determined that each
of these properties are held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property over time and
consequently the presumption in IAS 12 is rebutted for these
properties. As a result, the Group has continued to measure the
deferred tax relating to these other properties using the tax rate
that would apply as a result of recovering their value through

UM E - ANEBE THEZREME
HEMB LR - KR20229F12A318 -
REECRERESEMEMFTZE
HHERGASERIAN B EEREDE
FiBE 2@ REBo BN  MZE
YER BB ERE 129 R 2 &
oo Bt - ANEBEERB BB BIE
AmEEEER T ERA B R &
EHEMMETSRLERIE ©

use.

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 3 WARSZERIERE
The principal activities of the Group are development, sales and AEEMNEEEBREPRAMETEEY
operation of residential properties, commercial trade and logistics ¥ HEYRPORESEBHRAE - HE
centers, and trading business in the Mainland China. PEES
Revenue represents income from sales of properties, property WASEHBREME ST REEEETIEE
management services income, rental income and invoiced value of HIHEYE - MEBTERBKA - HEWA
goods sold, net of sales related taxes and is after deduction of any NEmHEREERE -

trade discounts.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf #& 35 R Mf 5t

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Cont'd) 3 WARSEBEE(HE)
(a) Disaggregation of revenue (a) WA 77
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by EPEHORREIEERIRBER S
major products or service lines is as follows: BRI
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETTT

Revenue from contracts with customers within B PR B A 3R ZE RSB 155%

the scope of IFRS 15 HEANEFSHRBA
- Sales of properties —WEHE 1,003,043 3,898,446
- Property management services —MEBIERT 81,874 90,327
- Trading business —B5E% 2,046,588 1,482,678
- Others —Hfh 12,205 49,219
3,143,710 5,520,670
Revenue from other sources HAth SRR A
Rental income L MM 24370 50.214
3,168,080 5,570,884
Information about major customers FTEEFEH
Revenue from customers contributing 10% or more of the total BEIAEBEEEE10%A EHEREER
revenue of the Group is as follows: N
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET AREBTFT
Customer A’ BEPA 892,352 1,013,349
Customer B’ ZFB 586,829 =
Customer C' BPC 372,489 =
Note: Mz -
! Revenue from trading business L REE HEBHBA
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRSAEHEHAI - HAARKTIR)

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Cont'd)

(b)

Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are
organised by a mixture of business lines (products and
services). In a manner consistent with the way in which
information is reported internally to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of resource allocation
and performance assessment, the Group has identified two
reportable segments.

- Property development and related services: this
segment mainly provides revenue arising from the sale
of properties developed for sale in the ordinary course
of business, also provides value-added business such as
property management services and rental services.

- Trading business: this segment mainly operates trading of
non-ferrous metals and chemical products.

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s senior
executive management monitors the results, assets and
liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on the
following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible, intangible assets and
current assets, and interests in joint ventures and associates
directly managed by the segment, with the exception of
deferred tax assets, other non-current assets, other financial
assets and prepaid tax. Segment liabilities include trade and
other payables, amounts due to controlling shareholders,
other financial liabilities, deferred income, contract liabilities
and lease liabilities attributable to the sales activities of the
individual segments and senior notes and bank loans, other
financial liabilities and other borrowings managed directly
by the segments. Revenue and expenses are allocated to the
reportable segments with reference to sales generated by
those segments and the expenses incurred by those segments
or which otherwise arise from the depreciation or amortisation
of assets attributable to those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is “adjusted
EBITDA” i.e. “adjusted earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortisation”, where “depreciation and
amortisation” is regarded as including impairment losses on
non-current assets. To arrive at adjusted EBITDA, the Group’s
earnings are further adjusted for items which are non-recurring
or not specifically attributed to individual segments, such as
other income, impairment loss on financial assets measured at
amortisation cost, fair value gain on investment properties and
share of profits less losses of joint ventures.

3 WARSEERE(HE)

(b)

138 GUANGDONG - HONG KONG GREATER BAY AREA HOLDINGS LIMITED 27542 i& /5 R A &

D EBEE

AEERMPIEREE - SLaBFIh
FE5iR (IR ) R A MK - IR E
AAEERSTREEEARRERER
PUETTEIR D BE AR E R T — 2
MR - AEE D EEMER HRE D

2 -

— DERBEMABBERY  Z0HER
REEASEBEETREAR
HENYRAHERA - FFEME
MEREERGMEEREFRER
75 o

— HEHER RO NEITELERBESE
BRETERES -

RABEDBRARSES B ZEHNE
R AEERRITHREEABTRNAT
EEEREAZFRHEEIGFRE  BE
kA& :

DEHEEREMERN BYEENMR
BEE  mREomERERnES S
EEBECERES RERREE
HEMIERBEE - Kb REEMAR
HIARRSN © 7 BB R E R IE{ER 2 #F 2 35
EERBEEZES NEMENTIR - &
MERERFE HthemEE - BT
WA - &HEaENHEHERE  EARE
MIBTTRENREM SR A EREME
E A% 0BEREE - WARRXT
RE2EZENMELEZHERLZED
MEENSH (REDHEEEEZT
EREHMELERIN DR T A28

EB

BRIESBFBENAERFAEER
EBITDA] - BNl AR EMFIE - BiIE - 7
EMBHEATFE] - HR[rEmEss]
WRABEIIERDEERNRERXK - 5
BHAREN  AEBRNRNEE—2
FAREE MR T RBNER DS
BB E - FlanE MU A - AEESE AR A AT
ENTRMEERERE REVERK
DHARBERSASEENFERE
B8 o



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt #& 3R R KI5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Cont'd) 3 WARSEBHEE(HE)
(b) Segment reporting (Cont'd) (b) ZEPFRE (&)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers, BB RMTGHBAD BEEMEAR
revenue from other sources as well as information regarding EEESTHREEERENREETFE
the Group’s reportable segments as provided to the Group’s EHIHA - KB H A IR A LR B
most senior executive management for the purposes of AASENHRESHNEENSER
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance S

for the period is set out below.

Property development and

related services Trading business Total
NERBREBRY HmES st
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RVMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTT ARBTR ARBTT ARBTR ARETR

Reportable segment revenue & 2 EIA 1,121,492 4,088,206 2,046,588 1,482,678 3,168,080 5,570,884
9

Reportable segment (loss)/  #EAHEX),/
profit (adjusted (LBITDA)  BF|(EHZEH

EBITDA) }Aﬂ(gﬁ)/ﬂfzﬁ) (489,383) 100,209 (3,165) 1411 (492,548) 101,620
Finance income 5T 0N 42,749 51,947 24,762 11,286 67,511 63,233
Finance costs AR AN (372,846) (276,262) (27,406) (20,712) (400,252) (296,974)
Depreciation and amortisation E3PUHTE K 34

for the year (16,473) (35,868) (451) - (16,924) (35,868)
Impairment loss on financial X SRR T )

assets measured at SREE

amortisation costs REEE (138,804) (12,073) = - (138,804) (12,073)

Impairment loss on assetsof (&R FEERIEE
disposal group classifiedas  JH{EEE

held for sale (112,478) - - - (112,478) -
Impairment loss on interests WA ERER

in joint ventures REEE (88,759) - - - (88,759) -
Fair value loss on investment R EWZERN N AEE

properties BB (677,364) (9,700) - - (677,364) (9,700)
As at 31 December R12A318
Reportable segmentassets A 2RAFEE 18,962,271 22580246 2,962,129 083,092 21,924,400 23,563,338
Reportable segment liabilities 7 2R % & & 15998281  16961,658 2,523,049 693,197 18,521,330 17,654,855
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRSAEHEHAI - HAARKTIR)

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Cont'd) 3 WARSEBE®E(E)
(c) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, (loss)/ () T2IMHIPUWA - (BE) FHE -
profit, assets and liabilities EEREBEAGE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETTT

Revenue WA

Reportable segment revenue and consolidated A 28D FURATIE FFHERA

revenue 3,168,080 5,570,884
(Loss)/Profit (B518) RE
Reportable segment (loss)/profit derived from REAREBINERP 2
Group’s external customers AI2WwHEFEE EE=IN
BEMARSEH(ER),
T (492,548) 101,620
Other net loss EAFEK (56,202) (165,755)
Impairment loss on financial assets measured at DS AT ENSREE
amortisation costs PEREEREES (138,804) (12,073)
Impairment loss on assets of disposal group HEFEHENEERERSIE
classified as held for sale (112,478) -
Impairment loss on interests in joint ventures REEhERDRERE (88,759) -
Depreciation and amortisation PrEE Ea (16,924) (35,868)
Fair value loss on investment properties WEYEQAAERE (677,364) (9,700)
Share of losses of joint ventures DhEERFEERE (273) (152)
Share of losses of an associate AMEHEE R EEE (525) -
Finance costs BB (400,252) (296,974)
Finance income BATEUA 67,511 63,233
Consolidated loss before taxation MEiRIA GrEE (1,916,618) (355,669)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bi 7% #R 3R By &

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Cont'd)

(c) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, (loss)/

profit, assets and liabilities (Cont’d)

()

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

3 WARSEERE(HE)

2RI MWRA - (B8R) FE -
BEERAEAGR(E)

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETT

Assets EE
Reportable segment assets A2RENHEE 21,924,400 23,563,338
Elimination of inter-segment receivables 35§ > B A FE IR R IR (143,514) (367,489)
21,780,886 23,195,849
Interests in joint ventures BEBERER 135,520 124,040
Interests in an associate B & DR 6,041 -
Deferred tax assets REFTSRRIABE 460,193 193,616
Other non-current assets HEMIERBEE - 65,376
Other financial assets HEfhemEE 2,009 10
Prepaid tax TEFISRIA 322,752 294,074
Consolidated total assets EtEEE 22,707,401 23,872,965
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T AREF T

Liabilities =Rt
Reportable segment liabilities AE2RENHAasE 18,521,330 17,654,855
Elimination of inter-segment payable BB o SP I FE T IR (143,514) (367,489)
18,377,816 17,287,366
Current tax liabilities BIHATRIE B & 691,910 795,484
Deferred tax liabilities EEFSRIARE 123,070 132,988
Consolidated total liabilities AHREE 19,192,796 18,215,838
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRSAEHEHAI - HAARKTIR)

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Cont'd)

(d)

Revenue expected to be recognised in the future
arising from contracts with customers in existence at
the reporting date

The following table includes revenue expected to be
recognised in the future related to performance obligations
that are unsatisfied at 31 December:

Wr A B 53 5B ER 5 (#8)

(d)

EHE A HFENEFSOMER
TR B RERHBA

TR ABER12A31BHABITHE
HETTEHR BEERRUA -

2022 2021
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET AREBTFT

Remaining performance obligations expected MBRTEIEEETRAT

to be satisfied: HAPRFEAT -

Within 1 year 15K 3,620,342 3,722,899
1 year to 2 years 1226 1,163,654 264,054
4,783,996 3,986,953

These amounts represent revenue expected to be recognised
in the future from pre-completion sales contracts for properties
under development entered into by the customers with
the Group. These amounts include the significant financing
components of the pre-completion properties sales contracts
under which the Group obtains significant financing benefits
from the customers (see note 1(w)(i)).

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph
121 of IFRS 15 to its property management service contracts
such that the above information does not include information
about revenue that the Group will be entitled to when it has a
right to invoice, which corresponds directly to the value to the
customer of the Group’s performance completed to date.

142 GUANGDONG - HONG KONG GREATER BAY AREA HOLDINGS LIMITED Ei&&12 iR AR A 7

ZETHEXRETFERNKERERY
RV TETTARIHE S MTERRN B 1R 5
REOWA - ZFLRBEATKDEHE
EANNMEARERD  ARERELKE
EFREEARMEN = (LHE1W) °

AEBEHEMEXEERBESLEME
BRI ELRIFEISEENIRNER
BEDE 8 LA ER T EREAEE
BRRAZEZHERIGHKSAMEE
- MARKSEARELZSEROE
B RFPNEEERAR -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt #& 3R R KI5

OTHER NET (LOSS)/INCOME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=H3EEI -

4 HMPGEEX) WA

EAARETIR)

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR%F T AREBTT
Net realised and unrealised fair value loss from BARBEEAEBETA
financial assets and liabilities measured at FVTPL EHBERNEREER
@@EFWE*E&
RERALBEREX (3,331) (5,851)
Net loss on disposal of investment properties HEREERFEIE (18,874) (5,667)
Net gain/(loss) on disposal of subsidiaries (note 21(f)) HEFRARIHFWA
(&18) (MrsE21(f) 31,089 (105,701)
Written off of other non-current assets (i) HAbIE BN E ERMIERG) (4,171) =
Net loss on disposal of other non-current assets (iii) HEHEMIERBEER
BT i) - (88,249)
Net loss on disposal of debt securities HEBEBHESRFEE (85,775) -
Gain on bargain purchase of subsidiaries (ii) WS F 2~ m Y W R (i) - 20,954
Net gain on disposal of property, plant and HEME - BEMEED
equipment Wian F 58 30,606 3,650
Government grants AT BN 1,266 8,792
Others Hth (7,012) 6,317
(56,202) (165,755)
Notes: B3k -
(i)  In 2022, the Group’s certain equity investments were written off, (i) EA2022¢ REBHREREETHER - I
resulting a loss of RMB4,171,000. B AR#4,171,0007T18 5% -
(i) In 2021, based on a co-operation agreement signed and revised articles (i) 72021 ¢21S SERBEHEHBOEEEITNSG
of association of Jining Hydoo Beichuang Real Estate Development f’FTﬁz’J SR ERHEEREILAEXER

Company Limited (“Jining Beichuang”), the Group exercised control
over Jining Beichuang, which became the non-wholly owned subsidiary
of the Group. As a result, gain on bargain purchase of subsidiaries of

RMB20,954,000 was recognised (note 21(e)).

(i) In 2021, the Group disposed certain equity investments at a total (iii)
consideration of RMB180,407,000, resulting a disposal loss of

RMB88,249,000.

21(e))

88,249,0007T °
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN

BAARKEFIR)

5 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

(a)

(b)

Loss before taxation is arrived at after (crediting)/charging: BAIMEERZGTA) /FIBR T8 EEEY -
Finance income and finance costs (a) BAIEWAREERA
2022 2021
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARET AERETTT
Finance income g PN
Bank interest income HRITHALEWA (37,530) (37,880)
Other interest income E MR EWA (24,367) (25,161)
(61,897) (63,041)
Net foreign exchange gain b H W e 5 R (5,614) (192)
(67,511) (63,233)
Finance costs Bl RS
Interest on bank loans and other borrowings RITERREAEENTE 273,051 163,438
Interest on amounts due to a non-controlling Fﬁé‘H EA A A RRIE S
interest 97,747 73,523
Interest on senior notes BAEEREFNE 354,766 295,307
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEFE 1,683 4,316
Accrued interest on significant financing & ,\’JE\EE'JEK BEBH
component of contract liabilities JEETFIE 15,210 69,650
Other borrowing costs EAEERA 64,039 29,411
806,496 635,645
Less: interest expense capitalised into properties &l : EA{CBEATE R ER
under development* MBI (406,244) (338,671)
400,252 296,974
*  The borrowing costs have been capitalised at a weighed average *  BERARBIRMNETEFEF E43%-
rate of 4.3%-14.00% per annum (2021: 4.45%-14.00%). 14.00% (2021 4F : 4.45%-14.00% ) & 7
it °
Staff costs (b) BT
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET ARETTT
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEREMET 151,787 224,715
Equity settled share-based payment expenses LAt 5 B AR () BETE R
ﬁmﬁ'ﬁiﬁ'ﬁi 5,434 11,619
Contributions to defined contribution retirement A EFGRIRET &
plans 18,982 12,163
176,203 248,497

5 RGN
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

5 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (Cont'd)

(Br=H3EEI -

5 MRAGIRGE)

EAARETIR)

Other items (o) HfbiEH
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFIT
Depreciation and amortisation E R
- plant and equipment (note 10) — B MR (BPRE10) 3,439 18,475
- right-of-use assets (note 10) —fFAEEEM10) 10,756 15,337
- intangible assets (note 12) —mEE(KsE12) 2,729 2,056
16,924 35,368
Impairment losses recognised/(reversed) EEE,(8E)
— trade and other receivables — B 5 K EMEWFIE 112,499 12,266
— finance lease receivables — éffﬂffﬂﬁlm& (2,315) (193)
- amounts due from joint ventures — Y EE R EIFIE 28,620 =
138,804 12,073
Impairment losses recognised BIEEE
- assets of disposal group classified as held for sale — HEFEARIEE 112,478 =
- interests in joint ventures —REe MA%T Eon 88,759 =
Auditor’s remuneration 1% EREM B <
— audit service Fi R 1,800 4,000
— other services — H A AR 750 1,850
2,550 5,850
Rental income from investment properties REYERSBAEEMAY
less of nil direct outgoings (2021: nil) AREZIT(2021F : T) (12,876) (15,387)
Cost of inventories sold BEFERAR
— properties (i) — WD ZERARG) 851,741 3,178,583
- commodities — MR 2,046,054 1,477,351
Provision for diminution in value of inventories FEUEEE 245,373 129,283
3,143,168 4,785,217
Note: BaE
(i)  Cost of properties sold is after netting off of utilisation of deferred () #HZE2022F12831BILFE > BEY

income in respect of government grants of RMB80,790,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: RMB143,053,000) (note

28).

SERKZRE FOBR (52 FR B ER T # Bh B R 03
EU AN R #580,790,000 7T (2021 F -
AR #143,053,0007T ) (ffzE28) ©
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRSAEHEHAI - HAARKTIR)

6 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 6 SHESFXANMERN

OF PROFIT ORLOSS
(@) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss (a) BftiEzxEABiIEE
represents
2022 2021
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR®T T ARBT T
Current tax B EATH 1E
PRC Corporate Income Tax (“PRC CIT") (iii) PEIEMEH([PELE
FR8HL 1) (i) 31,530 97,761
PRC LAT (iv) AR B D (E R (v) 89,249 67,556
120,779 165,317
Deferred tax EERIE
Reversal and origination of temporary differences & [ = FE A EE A K B [O)
(note 14(b)) (HF7E14(0)) (308,370) (75,876)
(187,591) 89,441
Notes: FisE
(i)  Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands, the () WBERSHSHAURER KNEBERZ
Group is not subject to any income tax in this jurisdiction. AUARER BRBANEFTSE
(i)  No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax was made as the Group (i) HBRAEBERTERITABHNE
did not earn any income subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax for the BT - B B E B FISH
year (2021: Nil). FHREEQIF  F) -
(i) PRCCIT (i)  FEBEMEH
The Group’s PRC subsidiaries are subject to statutory tax rate of AEEHETFARERELERBFE
25% on their assessable profits. 1R25%H) )5 TE B R BF o

146 GUANGDONG — HONG KONG GREATER BAY AREA HOLDINGS LIMITED Zi&& iR AR A 7



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bi 7% #R 3R By &

6 INCOMETAXIN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF PROFIT OR LOSS (Cont'd)
(@) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
represents (Cont’d)
Notes: (Cont’d)

(iv)

PRC LAT

PRC LAT which is levied on properties developed for sale by
the Group in the Mainland China, at progressive rates ranging
from 30% to 60% on the appreciation value, which under the
applicable regulations is calculated based on the proceeds of
sales of properties less deductible expenditures including lease
charges of land use rights, borrowing costs and all qualified
property development expenditures. Deferred tax assets arising
from PRC LAT accrued are calculated based on the applicable
income tax rates when they are expected to be cleared.

In addition, certain subsidiaries of the Group were subject to PRC
LAT which were calculated based on 6% to 8% of their revenue in
accordance with the authorised tax valuation method approved
by respective local tax bureau.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the
authorised tax valuation method is one of the allowable taxation
methods in the Mainland China and the respective local tax
bureaus are the competent tax authorities to approve the
authorised tax valuation method in charging PRC LAT to the
respective PRC subsidiaries of the Group, and the risk of being
challenged by the State Administration of Taxation or any tax
bureau of higher authority is remote.

6

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

SHRRRANFRFRE)

(a)

BOfEERANTIEE (E)

fisE - ()

(iv)

B IR E R

AN [ $ AR B M P R B M 2B IR
BB I8 A 30% 5 60% 1) 2 i Tl R 41 4%
PR L ISERR - RIBEAR - AR
TR E R R IR E Y E FTS B AT
MBS (BE I EREREESE -
BEKAMAEEERMERERY)
FTE o B HIEEREEEERE
BENMbFITE B ERLE B A5 R R
KEtE -

BEoN - AEEME T T ARIREHEBN
AR B ENZ TR A BER
WS HI6% 2 8% T H Bl i 3B EFT o

RAREERR - REERBOZER
M ERRBERBRBAIBATTEZ
— - MAEESEF A B AEH S
TR R RIDEZ S R RIAREA TS
AR B IR E e = B A
B BXBERBBRRIEFLREE
MISHEAE SR ER A -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B1 7% #R 3R By &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRSAEHEHAI - HAARKTIR)

6 INCOME TAXIN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF PROFIT ORLOSS (Cont'd)

(b) Reconciliation between income tax and accounting (b) FriEHiEaI%;

6 SHIRZTVAMMFR(E)

BB H R

loss at applicable tax rates BEHHER
2022 2021
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARET ARETTT
Loss before taxation BRAATEE (1,916,618) (355,669)
Notional tax on loss before taxation, calculated at %75 8 BZ & F A F B EY
the rates applicable to profits in the countries MEFE OB ATEER
concerned HEMIE (408,634) (2,311)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AN MRS & 149,958 15,625
Tax effect of non-taxable income BERTWA RIS 2 (50,763) (6,583)
Tax effect of unused losses not recognised RE wﬂiﬁﬁﬁ €= EN: 0]
2 71,358 66,837
Tax effect of temporary differences not recognised AR IERE 514 = 2R TS
% (14,767) (1,254)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses  {# F 50 Bl AR £ HERR OB 1B
18 (1,680) (35,365)
Reversal of DTA recognised in prior periods VAR ERERHREFTIS T
BEED - 1,825
PRC LAT (note 6(a)(iv)) At ﬁﬁ(ﬁﬁ%%(a )(iv)) 89,249 67,556
Tax effect on PRC LAT PR IR ER BT E (22,312) (16,889)
Total income tax FriStiasa (187,591) 89,441
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 7 EFEHM
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the EZHMNRIBEEERQREOIEIBMELEA
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the companies RI(BBEEENmER) RO E 25 TR T -
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are
as follows:
2022 20225
Salaries
allowances  Retirement
and benefits scheme Share-based
Directors' fee inkind ~ contributions Sub-total  payments (i) Total
RHR B DRAA
£35S BNER HE L5 Nt ERHAR) @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  AR®Tn AR¥ETR AR¥Tn ARETR ARETR
Executive directors: HiTEx:
Wong Choi Hing (i THEE i) 100 1625 - 1,725 - 1,725
Zeng Yunshu 2EE 100 875 - 975 - 975
Cai Hongwen BV 100 875 - 975 - 975
Yang Sanming (resigned on 27 June 2022)  #5=BR(202256 A27H B E) 50 1,200 17 1,267 595 1,862
Wang Dewen (resigned on 27 June 2022) /X (202256 A27 B T) 50 450 32 532 338 870
He Fei (appointed on 27 June 2022) IR (202256A27BZAE) 150 1,085 35 1,270 215 1,485
Wei Haiyen (appointed on 27 June 2022) 5087 (2020F6 A27BZ(T) 50 433 34 517 - 517
Chen Junyu (il (appointed on 20 January  FREA(ii) (202241 5208

2022, resigned on 6 May 2022) R 2002F5R6B5HT) 29 788 3 840 471 1311
Non-executive directors: FHTES:

Feng Ke (appointed on 27 June 2022, BN (2022F6A27BZ( -

resigned on 1 March 2023) 203F3A1BE) 138 - - 138 - 138
Independent non-executive directors: ~ BUFHTES -

Lam Chi Yuen Nelson (resigned on WER(2022%6 A20HFT)

20 June 2022) 126 - - 126 17 143
Dai Yiyi (resigned on 7 April 2023) H—(203F4A7B8HT) 268 - - 268 - 268
Yue Zheng (resigned on 27 June 2022)  EI(2022%6 A27BFHE) 131 - - 131 18 149
Guan Huanfei (appointed on 27 June 2022) = 3E(2022F6 A27B ZAT) 138 - - 138 - 138
Han Qinchun (appointed on 27 June 2022)  BZ&(2022%6527E%(T) 138 = = 138 = 138

1,568 7,331 141 9,040 1,654 10,694
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBEEBAEI - HUARBIIR)
7 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (Cont'd) 7 EFEHHM(GE)
2021 20214F
Salaries
allowances Retirement
and benefits scheme Share-based
Directors' fee inkind  contributions Sub-total ~ payments (i) Total
Er INEREE
EHR Y/ AR A
EESuk ENET HEl e EREAIRG) FCh
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT  ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR
Executive directors: HTES:
Wong Choi Hing (ii) T 5 100 3382 - 3482 - 3482
Zeng Yunshu LT - 2,976 - 2,976 - 2,976
Cai Hongwen =954 - 2976 - 2976 = 2976
Yang Sanming B=9 500 3036 35 3571 1,844 5415
Wang Dewen TEX 100 3,036 64 3,200 615 3815
Independent non-executive directors: B FHTES :
Lam Chi Yuen Nelson MR 245 - - 245 55 300
Dai Yiyi (appointed on 19 March 2021) i (nE3 /9B ERT) 197 = = 197 = 197
Yue Zheng il 245 = = 245 55 300
1,387 15406 99 16,892 2,569 19,461
Notes: BsE -
(i)  These represent the estimated value of share options granted to the () HoAESHEIRBEARRERENERT

(i)

(iii)

directors under the Company’s share option scheme. The value of these
share options is measured according to the Group'’s accounting policies
for share-based payment transactions as set out in note 1(t)(ii) and, in
accordance with that policy, includes adjustments to reverse amounts
accrued in previous years where grants of equity instruments are
forfeited prior to vesting.

The details of these benefits in kind, including the principal terms and
number of options granted, are disclosed under the paragraph “Share
option scheme” in the directors’ report and note 32.

On 20 January 2022, Mr. Wong Choi Hing has been re-designated
from an executive director to a non-executive director. On 27 June
2022, Mr. Wong Choi Hing has been re-designed from a non-executive
Director and the chairman of the Board to an executive Director and a
co-chairman of the Board.

On 20 January 2022, Mr. Chen Junyu has been appointed as an
executive director and has resigned as an executive Director of the
Company with effect from 6 May 2022.

(i)

(iii)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf #& 35 R Mf 5t

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, three of them
(2021: five) are directors. The emoluments of these directors are
disclosed in note 7. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of
other two (2021: Nil) individuals are as follows:

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

mEmAL
RAEZZEFALT=ZE0021F : AR)A=E
F o ZEEENFNHEENHE7 - HibRE
(20214F : )&= A THEF BT

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FT AREFT

Retirement scheme contributions RORGTEIE R 72 -
Equity settled share-based payment expenses LAERS B AR D BERER

H& 475 -

Salaries, allowances and other benefits in kind e RN EAM 2,689 -

3,236 -

The emoluments with the highest emoluments are within the
following bands:

REFATOHFINFATEHE

2022 2021
Number of Number of
individuals individuals

AE AE

HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T £ 2,000,000/5 7T 2 -
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRSAEHEHAI - HAARKTIR)

9 LOSS PER SHARE 9 HEREBR
2022 2021
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARET ARETFT
Restated
2]l
Loss attributable to shareholders % SR pEAG 518 (1,571,832) (498,484)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares, for FTESREREIR LB

the purposes of calculating basic loss per share hniE T8 (FAR) (FFEE)

(shares in thousands) (note) 453,735 453,735
Basic loss per share (RMB cents) BREAEER(ARED) (346.4) (109.9)
Note: The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes Bisk : AAGTEMEFTFESREABBEZ LR

of calculating basic losses per share for both years has been IEFHEE - BER2022F9A TR 2 RN E
retrospectively adjusted for the effect of share consolidation completed Pz EERBPAE -
in September 2022.
For the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2022, the effect of B Z2021512 A31 B 2022612 A31H IE4F
deemed issue of shares under the Company’s employee share option B REAARNESRRESE - UER

scheme for nil consideration was anti-dilutive.

EEFERITRONTELSRET -
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 10 Y% - BERERE

Ownership Other
interests in properties
land and leased Motor
buildings held for own vehicles
for own use use carried and other Office
carried at cost atcost fixed assets equipment Total
BFHEEALH
HEsyw  HebREs DK 25
ERER HELEN REMGERE
AR ERES 13 WARE st
Note RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
it ARBTRT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR
Cost: B
At 1 January 2021 20211 H18 418,545 9,466 122,583 54,609 605,203
Additions E 32123 1,208 6,884 1,607 41,822
Acquisition of subsidiaries - e/NG] - = 885 253 1,138
Disposals HE (6,442) - (1,934) (1,345) (9,721)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEFLF - = (2,264) (2,265) (4,529)
At 31 December 2021 and R20215F12A318 K
1 January 2022 20251818 444,226 10,674 126,154 52,859 633913
Additions NE 123 2413 230 620 3,386
Transfer to investment properties AR A% 11(a) (94,898) = = = (94,898)
Disposals & (94,898) (5916) (42,752) (8,627) (152,193)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEFRT 21(f) (32,383) (551) (5,103) (2,351) (40,388)
Transfer to assets of disposal group £l 9 AEAFESHR
classified as held for sale BE 34 = (774) (883) (578) (2,235)
At 31 December 2022 72022128318 222170 5,846 77,646 41,923 347,585
Accumulated depreciation: ZIE
At 1 January 2021 202151418 54,593 4,535 99,003 49,792 207,923
Charge for the year AEFE 11,790 3,547 16,121 2,354 33,812
Acquisitions of subsidiaries G- /N] - = 1 165 166
Written back on disposals REFRE (3,330) - (1,823) (1,261) (6,414)
Disposal of subsidiaries HETFLF - - (2,155) (2,153) (4,308)
At 31 December 2021 and R20215F12A318 K
1 January 2022 202241818 63,053 8,082 111,147 48,897 231,179
Charge for the year KERE 7,914 2,842 1,193 2,246 14,195
Transfer to investment properties AR &Y% 11(a) (13,140) = = = (13,140)
Written back on disposals RERE (14,183) (5911) (38,740) (8,148) (66,982)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEFRH 21(f) (1,023) (275) (3,305) (1,717) (6,320)
Transfer to assets of disposal group £ 5 A A FESHR
classified as held for sale BE 34 = (408) (23) (119) (550)
At 31 December 2022 $2022F12A318 42,621 4330 70,272 41,159 158,382
Net book value: A
At 31 December 2022 $2022F12A318 179,549 1,516 7,374 764 189,203
At 31 December 2021 $2021F12A31H 381,173 2,592 15,007 3,962 402,734
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRSAEHEHAI - HAARKTIR)

10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont'd) 10 Y% - BER®W(E)

The leasehold buildings are all situated on land in the Mainland
China.

Certain bank loans granted to the Group were jointly secured by
property, plant and equipment with a book value of RMB158,508,000
(2021: RMB359,293,000) (note 24), and certain properties which
were disposed to certain third parties during the year. The
aggregate carrying value of that properties prior to the disposal was
RMB80,715,000. As at 31 December 2022, the property ownership
certificates have not yet been transferred to the vendees as the
Group is still in negotiation with the bank for the release of the

ZEHERFT 2R TEAM -

AEFEERMNE TRITEFHEABARE
158,508,000 7T (2021 FF : A R #£359,293,000
T0) KV E - WS R B R EE R (K R
24)  UWERFARERETE=ZFNET
W ZEWELENNERAEAARE
80,715,0007T ° E{£2022F12 8318 > g
AEEDEERBTHERGRER - HEEE
FEABPHRETR -

pledge.

Right-of-use assets

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by class of

EREEE

EHBEEERRE D WERREEREFE

underlying asset is as follows: AT :
2022 2021
Note RMB'000 RMB'000
Bier ARBF T ARBFT
Included in “Property, plant and equipment”: EPNE/ERN: GG
Ownership interests in leasehold land and LI ERATIRRRES AR
buildings held for own use, carried at HETH REFHRBE
depreciated cost s (i)
- 50 years or more —ATFHA L 21,380 54,140
- between 10 and 50 years —+FEER+F 158,169 327,033
\ 179,549 381,173
Other properties leased for own use, carried at RITERATIBRFSER A
depreciated cost HER BT (ii) 1,516 2,592
181,065 383,765
Included in “Investment properties”: AT B -
Ownership interests in leasehold investment mAREIIRNEERE
property, carried at fair value, with remaining VISR R
lease term of:
— less than 10 years —DR+F - 17,900
- between 10 and 50 years —t+FER+4F 1,901,500 2,733,000
1,901,500 2,750,900
Included in “Inventories and other contract FAAIFEREMAL
costs”: BXA ]
Leasehold land held for future development RARFAZEHEEL R
and properties under development e % 4,287,428 4,500,890
Completed properties for sale BIERFEE T IS 589,692 405,595
4,877,120 4,906,485
6,959,685 8,041,150
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10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont'd)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

10 M3 - B R (&)

Right-of-use assets (Cont'd) ERREE (&)
The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in RPN ERRNEBERENEREE ST
profit or loss is as follows: T
2022 2021
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets by class of  ¥ZIZ )& E 4B RIE D &5 FA%E
underlying asset: BEFESE
Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings ~ #H{EE AMEE it MIEFH
HAEER 7,914 11,790
Other properties leased for own use BIEEREENEMmY 2,842 3,547
10,756 15,337
Interest on lease liabilities (note 5(a)) HEBEN S (HFE50) 1,683 4,316
Expense relating to short-term leases RETHERBEER 2,838 5,906

During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were RMB2,536,000
(2021: RMB33,331,000). This amount primarily related to the
capitalised lease payments payable under new tenancy agreements.

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity analysis of
lease liabilities are set out in notes 21(d) and 27, respectively.

(i)

(ii)

Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings held for
own use

The Group holds several buildings as its office. The Group is
the registered owner of these property interests, including the
whole or part of undivided share in the underlying land.

Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire these
property interests from their previous registered owners, and
there are no ongoing payments to be made under the terms of
the land lease.

Other properties leased for own use

The Group has obtained the right to use other properties as its
office and dormitory through tenancy agreements. The leases
typically run for an initial period of 2 to 5 years. Lease payments
are usually increased by each year to reflect market rentals.

B F I A E E AR 2,536,000 7T
(20214 : AR #33,331,0007T) ° &£ %18
FEEFHALHTEMNOEN A AR -

MEMNRSRBARLAERENTMOHT
BRI EE21(d) 227 ©

(i)

(ii)

HEERANHEEL B REFHHEEE
i
AEEREERBFTERERAE - K
SEREUMERGVEMEEA &
AL R BRI R EIDE -

— RN RER T AR B FERT R E 5D
BRGEEVEED  MBRELWHEE
R AREEITAR

HFIEEAHEENEMYE
EEEBHEEN S EESTEREMY
EEANAEMESHERN - HE—K
FRESF - HEBETFEHSIEN - LA
REEmisEE o
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN - GAAREIITR)

11 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 11 BEME
(@) Reconciliation of carrying amount of investment (a) BEVERHEEYHER
properties
Other
properties
leased for own
Completed use carried
properties at fair value Total
BRAREE
Sl BRI 1E
BEAEEN
ExRIYE Hityp st
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETTT ARET T AREFIT
At 1 January 2021 202141818 3,121,770 22,500 3,144,270
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 21(f)) /& F 2 & (MfzE21(H) (366,300) = (366,300)
Fair value adjustments NAEFE (5,100) (4,600) (9,700)
Disposals k= (17,370) = (17,370)
At 31 December 2021 and 720216124318 &

1 January 2022 202291 H1H 2,733,000 17,900 2,750,900
Transfer from property, plantand  #E#1% ~ = M &S (F5E10)

equipment (Note 10) 103,700 - 103,700
Disposal of subsidiaries HEFARI(MTE21(0)*

(Note 21(f))* (229,836) (13,600) (243,436)
Fair value adjustments NAEFRE (674,364) (3,000) (677,364)
Disposals HE (31,000) (1,300) (32,300)
At 31 December 2022 2022912 A31H 1,901,500 - 1,901,500
Representing i
Valuation - 2022 {H{E—20224F 1,901,500 = 1,901,500
Valuation - 2021 fH{E—20214F 2,733,000 17,900 2,750,900
Book value BREE
At 31 December 2022 7202212 831H 1,901,500 = 1,901,500
At 31 December 2021 72021912 A31H 2,733,000 17,900 2,750,900

*  AEER2002FABBHETAREH
EREMENFIEE ARENE MY
¥ o B E2022F12831H  KEER
EHHEERBRERE - & LilMENEE
FIEEEAEHETARET »

* During the year 2022, the Group disposed certain investment
properties and other properties leased for own use through the
disposal of subsidiaries. As at 31 December 2022, the Group is
still in progress for the amendment of the property ownership
certificates to transfer the legal title of these properties to the
disposed subsidiaries.
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11 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont'd)

(b) Fair value measurement of investment properties

(i)

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s
investment properties measured at the end of the
reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised into
the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in IFRS 13,
Fair value measurement. The level into which a fair value

measurement is classified is determined with reference to

the observability and significance of the inputs used in the
valuation technique as follows:

Level 1 valuations:

Level 2 valuations:

Level 3 valuations:

Fair value measured using only Level
1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities at the measurement date

Fair value measured using Level 2
inputs i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using
significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for
which market data are not available

Fair value measured using significant
unobservable inputs

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

11 REME(E)
(b) BEVEMNDREFE

(i)

RAEER
TREFRFEPRAEHERA
AAENAKEREMEANE I
RERMBREENF BRI
B EMAESER=EIRER
Al o AREFELEUTHEE
FrEmaE ABBEZ IBRERE
EMmoBRETRA

F-MbE: EfEBRE-RBE
BWAR(E - BIRE
ERHERRMSY
HRAEEXBBERE
FERRE
F_QMEE: ERFE_RBEAE
WARE  BAFE
FBOABREE
EARBERBAABE
MERZE - TAH
REENERLINE
mHER MR
F-RMEE: ERTTBEEMEE
YEAENAAE
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN - GAAREIITR)

11 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont'd) 11 BEME(E)
(b) Fair value measurement of investment properties (b) BEYMENDIRETEE)
(Cont’d)
(i)  Fairvalue hierarchy (Cont'd) (i) RAAREERE)
Fair value
measurement
as at

Fair value 31 December

as at 2022

31 December categorised
2022 into level 3
12022F

12A318 8

"2022%F PELR
12H318 M E=H/N
ARE AREFE
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T R AR¥TR

Recurring fair value measurement BEEQAALBETE
Investment properties - /ES 1,901,500 1,901,500
Fair value
measurement
as at
Fair value 31 December
as at 2021
31 December categorised
2021 into level 3
20214
12A318/
20214 DERDEB
12A3184/ E=HH
NIE NAERE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTTT ARETTT
Recurring fair value measurement BEEQAALBEFTE
Investment properties LB 2,750,900 2,750,900
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11 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont'd)

(b) Fair value measurement of investment properties
(Cont’d)

(i)

(ii)

Fair value hierarchy (Cont’d)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there were no
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or
out of Level 3 (2021: Nil). The Group's policy is to recognise
transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the
end of the reporting period in which they occur.

All of the Group’s investment properties carried at
fair value were revalued as at 31 December 2022. The
valuations were carried out by an independent firm of
surveyors, Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and
Advisory Limited (“JLL"), who have among their staff
Fellows of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors with
recent experience in the location and category of property
being valued. The Group’s property manager and the
senior management have discussion with the surveyors
on the valuation assumptions and valuation results when
the valuation is performed at the reporting date.

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

Valuation techniques

&E %

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

11 REME(E)
(b) BEYMEMNDIRETEE)

(i)

RAEER(E)

HE2022F12831BILEFE - H—
MEREE — A 2 R - RNE
A sk #E =4 (20214F « &) ©
AEBOBRENER R ENHRS
HABRLANBEEERZENE

% -

20228128318 * AEEATH LA
AAESRZIEEYERBLAE
TR ERIT(EE TAFEBA
EMEEERSE2ER - BEFT
HEVEMENE KB EREN
HAMER 2 5B ) ETTE S - A& E
MELERSREEEDNIRER
EITHEREASMTmAERHE
R RHEER -

(i) BEE=RAIALESBZEH

Unobservable input

TABEENHARE

Range
gE

Investment properties Market comparison method

e ES TSLECR

Investment properties Income capitalisation method

REME W BAOR

Market value (RMB/sq.m.)

53,000-58,000
(2021: Not applicable)

miSEE (2021 : FiEfA)

(ARE/F7K)

Yield 3.5% to 5.5%
(2021: 3.5% to 6.5%)

Yz

Market monthly rental rate

(RMB/sg.m.)

mHEAME

22.4-90
(2021: 16.3-90)

(AR®TT,/FI7K)
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRSAEHEHAI - HAARKTIR)

11 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont'd) 11 {EMEGR)
(b) Fair value measurement of investment properties (b) BEVMENQIABETE(E)
(Cont’d)
(i) Information about Level 3 fair value measurements (i) BEFE=RAIAALETEZEHR
(Cont’d) (#4&)
The fair value of investment properties is generally REMEN A LE—REAK=EE
derived using the income capitalisation method or market TESTIGLEEETE - WamBAR
comparison method. This income capitalisation method is EDENBBRAEE 2 ANt
based on the capitalisation of the income and reversionary - BRAREBEERKABTE
potential income by adopting appropriate capitalisation N MEAELLETBBEHEER
rates, which are derived from analysis of sale transactions SRMERMDITERIEEE 2 BK
and valuers’ interpretation of prevailing investor SHIEMEE o HERTERANT
requirements or expectations. The prevailing market rents BEHRE RIBZ Y ERD AR
adopted in the valuation have reference to recent lettings SR B AT B R Y 2 B R R A il T
within the subject properties and the estimated rental MHEIEIMETE © IGHLEETR
incremental observed in other comparable properties. The BBEHM P LR ERT B E
market comparison method is determined by reference to BEAESTFIRNERABER) -
recent sales price of comparable properties on a price per RBEAREEIRE YR E =2 82 8
square metre basis, adjusted for a premium or a discount HEEBRBERETREIITNSA
specific to the quality of the Group’s properties compared o

to the recent sales.

Certain bank loans granted to the Group were jointly REBEENE TRITERARR
secured by investment properties with a book value of B A R #648,900,0007T (20214 12
RMB648,900,000 (2021: RMB1,150,900,000) (note 24). A318 : AK%1,150,900,0007T )
IR E Y VEER IR (FET24) -
(c) Leases of investment properties () BEWHEMEE
The Group leases out investment property under operating AEBNLERES A BHEREME -
leases. The leases typically run for an initial period of 1 to 4 HARN SR —fRB1245F - WAl
years, with an option to renew the lease after that date at which BEAMERIEN AN AR EES
time all terms are renegotiated. Lease payments are usually ML - HemFGFEHIEN - AR
increased each year to reflect market rentals. None of the leases misHE  c GLEHETBENENHEE
includes variable lease payments. B
Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable operating EREARSERTABELEHEE
leases in place at the reporting date will be receivable by the HETHARMRES  AEEFE TR
Group in future periods as follows: 2R 25 ER s PR O LACEIR.
2022 2021
RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETTT

Within 1 year —FR 5,220 27,794
After 1 year but within 2 years —FRIEMFA 3,903 16,158
After 2 years but within 3 years MEREBE=FA 4,600 1,830
After 3 years but within 4 years = HFREMFER 4,926 1,441
After 4 years usfesey 42,392 5,962

61,041 53,185

160 GUANGDONG - HONG KONG GREATER BAY AREA HOLDINGS LIMITED 27542 i& /5 R A &



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bi 7% #R 3R By &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

12 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 12 |EEHRE
Software and
franchises
granted
BHERET
Note RMB’000
B E ARETTT
Cost: R
At 1 January 2021 202151 518 25,625
Additions NE 6,011
Disposal of subsidiaries HETAA (6,500)
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 72021412 4318 K&20221H18 25,136
Additions NE 203
Disposal of subsidiaries HEFAR 21(f) (1,263)
At 31 December 2022 72022912 A31H 24,076
Accumulated amortisation: ZFEE -
At 1 January 2021 MR2021F1 /11 9,527
Charge for the year FRZH 2,056
Disposal of subsidiaries HEFRAT] (2,329)
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 7202141284318 &20229F1 A 18 9,254
Charge for the year FAZH 2,729
Disposal of subsidiaries HEF AR 21(f) (488)
At 31 December 2022 7202212 A31H 11,495
Net book value: BRIENRE :
At 31 December 2022 7202212 A31H 12,581
At 31 December 2021 72021512 H31H 15,882
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN - GAAREIITR)

13 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES

(a)

Interests in joint ventures

(a)

Details of the Group’s interest in the joint ventures, which is
accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated
financial statements, are as follows:

13 REELERBELRNER
ReghRiER

AEENAZDENER (RESER
BHPBRERIIER)FBAOT

Proportion of ownership interest

FrARLA
Place of Particulars of Group’s
incorporation issued and effective  Held by the Held by
Name and business paid-up capital interest ~ Company subsidiaries Principal activities
MR BRTR S 3L NG FRE
£ EXHH EARRARE ERER iiksi Fifs TEEH
Hydoo Best Group Co., Ltd. Thailand Baht2,196,003,600/ 36.43% - 36.43% Property development
(“Hydoo Best") (note (i)) Baht2,196,003,600
RE %$£2,196,003,600, B ERE
%4£2,196,003,600
Beijing Hydoo North Enterprise PRC RMB9,100,000/ 30.00% > 30.00% Investment management
Management Co,, Ltd. RMB9,100,000
IRBELHCEERERAR  PE AR#%9,100,000 / REER
A& 9,100,000
Huizhou Dayawan Hydoo Yingtai PRC RMB10,000,000/ 67.00% - 67.00% Consulting Service
Investment Co,, Ltd RMB10,000,000
BNATEREERRABRAR & AE 10,000,000 / i AR
AE#10,000,000
Beijing Sunac Hydoo Corporate PRC RMB3,000,000/ 67.00% - 67.00% Property development
Management Company Limited RMB3,000,000
(“Beijing Sunac”) (note (ii)
TRRERACRERERAA & AR 3,000,000, FiERE
AR 3,000,000
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13 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf #& 35 R Mf 5t

(Cont'd)

(a)

Interests in joint ventures (Cont’d) (a)

The Group and the other shareholders of the above joint
ventures agree to share control of the arrangement and have
rights to the net assets of the arrangement based on the
composition of governing bodies.

Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not
individually material:

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

13 REELRRBELENED ()

B 0L £1C )
REBR LA S0 EHEMBEEAS
4 LB D ZUIBRE B - A H
REN T EHPIER S R
TEE -

ERIFEEES ERKNBRER
2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBETR ARBTTT

Aggregate carrying amount of individually ERIFEEZEEERENG T

immaterial joint ventures in the consolidated WEMERMAMRE

financial statements 136,897 213,213
Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share of those AEEELMZESETETE

joint ventures’ loss for the year R (273) (152)
Total comprehensive loss FHBEERE (273) (152)

(i)  Hydoo Best

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s interest in
Hydoo Best amounted to RMB135,443,000 (2021:
RMB124,040,000).

In 2018, Hydoo Best was unable to get reimbursement
of the cost of certain pieces of land which have to be
returned to the original vendor by the order of the court.
In addition, the joint venture partner of Hydoo Best was
obligated to repurchase certain shares in Hydoo Best held
by the Group but failed to do so within the specified time
frame. This resulted in a loss on the interest in Hydoo Best
held by the Group. In 2019, the Group brought a lawsuit
against the joint venture partner in the regard.

(i) Hydoo Best
MN2022F 128318 - AEEY
Hydoo Best #) I 5 1 #5 /s A R 8
135,443,000 7T, ( 72 2021 FF 12 A 31
A : ARE#124,040,0007T) ©

#£20184F  Hydoo BestfE AT 15 H
ERmS N ARELRREFNL
H A B FERK AR (8 © lEAN + Hydoo
Bestt & 2B BRBUHAEEE
[B13% %8 HHydoo Bestfy & T 1D -
BREEHBITERBEME - &
B N5 B ¥ Hydoo BestA) 1% & 18
K o 12019%F - RAEEME ERBHF
PULEREB T HA ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R M5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRSAEHEHAI - HAARKTIR)

13 INTERESTS INJOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES
(Cont'd)

(@) Interests in joint ventures (Cont’d)

(i)

Hydoo Best (Cont’d)

The directors expect that the Group will be able to
recover part of its interest in Hydoo Best by applying
public auction of the land pieces still held by Hydoo Best
based on the legal opinion obtained from an external
legal counsel. With reference to the fair value of these
land pieces which were assessed by the Group's directors
based on a valuation report prepared by external valuers,
the Group has made a provision for impairment loss
of RMB19,752,000 on the interest in Hydoo Best and a
specific loss allowance of RMB19,613,000 on the amount
due from Thailand joint ventures in 2018. Based on the
fair value of the land pieces assessed as at 31 December
2022, the directors considered that no further provision
for impairment loss was necessary during the year.

The fair value of the land pieces still held by Hydoo Best
was revalued as at 31 December 2022. The valuations
were carried out by an independent firm of surveyors,
JLL, who have among their staff Fellows of the Hong
Kong Institute of Surveyors with recent experience in
the location and category of property being valued. The
Group’s management have discussion with the surveyors
on the valuation assumptions and valuation results when
the valuation is performed at the reporting date.

Valuation techniques

13 REELRRBELENED(HE)

(a)

REELXENER ()

(i)

Unobservable input

Hydoo Best(#&)

EE2TEA - AR ATESRINE AR
ERAEERER  BHAEET]
LA 3 3B 1S Hydoo BestD#F B M) -
b LA U [B] B 7 Hydoo Best ) 2890 #%
B o B EREHESEHAINS
ERMRE A ERS EH ST E %
ZIHERAEE - AEER2018
£ gt Hydoo Best¥f Hy#E & E BB
BB A R #519,752,0007T &2 5t
JEW A E R RIMFIBER TR
B E AR ®19,613,0007T ° AR
ZE T 2022F 12 A31HB AR
BE EFEREAFEZTE—TH
BEEB A -

HZE2022F12 8318 ZEEHAED
EDFEN LI AREEREL
REMTHERIT(EETAERBSR
BREMBEeERe8 &K B
HET S EYMEMTEANE MFTB R
BITHIEBE KR ETEMR - K
EEYMELEREREEEERRK
ERETHEREIZSMREE
HERERHELER -

Range

giE

fRER % TR B RN ARIE
Land Direct market comparison approach  Average market price
(RMB/sq.m.)
HHA T BEEWSEECE FIETISE
(AR SFFHK)

The fair value of properties located in Thailand is
determined using market comparison approach by
reference to recent sales price of comparable properties
on a price per square metre basis, adjusted for a premium
or a discount specific to the quality of Hydoo Best’s land
pieces compared to the recent sales. Higher premium for
higher quality land pieces will result in a higher fair value
measurement.
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RMB624/sq.m. to
RMB887/sq.m.

(2021: RMB597/sg.m. to
RMB848/sq.m.)
ANER#E624,/ F KT
AR#887,/ F 7K

(2021 + AR#597, /FHKZE
ANEH5848,/ FJ7K)

R EBEEEN A EERMA
MIZLLEE - 2RAILEERT
M EER - UBFIANERR
it REAECEIHEESRS
AT SHE AELE MR (E ST 1T
o SESmRNREESEH
BEHAAEEE -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf #& 35 R Mf 5t

13 INTERESTS INJOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES
(Cont'd)

(a)

(b)

Interests in joint ventures (Cont’d)

(ii)

Beijing Sunac

Beijing Sunac is engaged in property development
through its indirect wholly owned subsidiary, Lanzhou
Hydoo Yingchuang Estate Company Limited ( B M| %% 1=
& 8| B ¥ A R 2 7)) (“Lanzhou Yingchuang”). During
the year, the property development projects of Lanzhou
Yingchuang were suspended for a prolonged time. In
addition, Yingchuang was involved in various litigation
and arbitration cases and was under significant financial
difficulty. These events indicated that the Group’s net
investment in Beijing Sunac may not be recovered.
After due and careful consideration, the management
considered that full impairment was necessary.

Interest in an associate

The following list contains the particulars of an associate, which

is unlisted corporate entity whose quoted market price is not

available:

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

13 REELRRBELENED ()

REELFENEL (])

(i) EFHA
TR AEBEMEEEWE AR
BMMNBRERAEEERAR([HM
B D HEEHERE - 20224
W EMNARNYEERIESER
REIF TARRE - o - BN ZBAIR
ZREREW RTRIFA R PR
A REEREVIERE - 25218
FRAE BRI R AR E 1]
R E - KIEEEER B
BRAEBUEELZTERE -

(a)

REE DENERS
TERET| AL D EAARFFE - L
EERIELETAR - EREHETISR
B :

(b)

Proportion of ownership interest

FRE LA
Place of Particulars of Group’s
incorporation issued and effective  Held by the Held by
Name of associate and business paid up capital interest ~ Company subsidiaries Principal activities
MR BETR r5E KRF TRF
L B BRERAFE ERER ik i TEXK
Revere Effort Limited British Virgin US$10/US$10 30% 30% - Investment holding
Islands
HFBRAF] ERERREE 10ET/10%T REER

Revere Effort Limited (“Revere Effort”) is mainly engaged in
the investment holding. Revere Effort was a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group as at 31 December 2021. During the
year, the Group disposed its 70% interest in Revere Effort to
a connected person of the Group. Upon completion of the

disposal, Revere Effort was no longer a subsidiary of the Group.

The associate is accounted for using the equity method in the
consolidated financial statements.

WMEBRAR([HE]) T BN EREE
% o #ZEMR2021F12A31H AXREE T
DA RER - AEEHE THET70%
HREGAEERBAL - TRHE
% WMETHEAEBEWBAFA -

ZHECENRA M BERE AL AER
AN e
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B1 7% #R 3R By &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRSAEHEHAI - HAARKTIR)

13 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES 13 REBELERBELENES(IE)

(Cont'd)
(b) Interestin an associate (Cont’d) (b) MEtEERERE)
Information of an associate that is not individually material: ERIZEE 2EE R RIHARIEE R
2022
RMB’000
AR%ET
Carrying amount of an individually immaterial ERI3EE BEEE N RN A HET SRR
associate in the consolidated financial statements FIERMEARE 6,041
Aggregate amounts of the Group's share of an AEBEGZH AR FERBEATH
associate’s loss for the year (525)
Total comprehensive loss FHEIBERE (525)

14 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 14 SHMEBERARABDRERN
OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(a) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of (a) EHEBRRERAWENETEIEH
financial position represents

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETT

Prepaid tax: FEABIE :

PRC CIT R TR 57,146 53,996

PRC LAT AR I (E R 265,606 240,078
322,752 294,074

Current tax liabilities: ENEAIE & fE -

PRC CIT PR EIERTEH 251,523 342,241

PRC dividend withholding tax PR AR B TR 27,438 27,438

PRC LAT AR £ S (E RS 412,949 425,805
691,910 795,484
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14 INCOME TAXIN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Cont'd)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bi 7% #R 3R By &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

14 SHMBIARAEFRER(E)

(b) ERRBEERAEERER

(i)  Movement of each component of deferred tax assets (i) EBEEFHEEEREESHEESS
and liabilities 25
The components of deferred tax (liabilities)/assets RE B SRR R ER A EET IR
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial (BE) EBEMNMERID RFEARK
position and the movements during the year are as BEMT
follows:
Deferred tax arising from: EEFTBAR A NSIEEAS -
Fairvalue  Fairvalue Fair value
adjustment ~ adjustments Unrealised  adjustment
for  arising from gainon forother  Amortisation Provision for Other
investment  acquisition of  Provision for intra-group financial ~of capitalised ~ Creditloss Deferred  Provisionfor ~ construction ~ temporary
properties ~ subsidiaries inventories  Taxlosses  transactions assets contractcosts allowance income PRCLAT cost  expenses Total
WE72R SEAE  HbeR
RENEN EENOAR REFER BEH  ERLED =i PELE  BRAEA At
MERE  EBEER  FEEE BEER bE LAESE AAEE BBRE BTV HERRE B ERER Azt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  AREBTT ARETT ARETR ARETR ARBTT ARETR ARETR AREBTT ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETI
At 1 January 2021 R0nF1818 (306319) - - 174364 1,280 (32,03 (2672) 14,589 86,349 73470 9,559 2,092 20689
Acquisition of subsidiaries ~ YEFAE(HE21(e))
(note 21(e)) = (48,888) - - - - - S S = > = (43.888)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEFAR(KENN)
(note 21(f) 27,842 - - - - - - - (14891) - - - 12951
Credited/(charged)tothe ~ HABHERR (M%)
consolidated statementof 5 A(H6(a)
profit or loss (note 6(a)) 2425 35625 25359 7499 (1,280) 30167 (6,794) 2399 (16,568) 1710 (5373) 07 75876
At31 December2021and  R20215128318%
1 January 2022 20251718 (276,052) (13,263) 25,359 181,863 - (1,856) (9,466) 16,988 54,890 75180 4,186 2,799 60,628
Disposal of subsidiaries HEFAR(HEND)
(note 21(f) (27,774) = = = = = 385 = - (13,981) 5451 (1,456) (37,375)
Deferted tax iabiities arisen 1%~ BE R EEA
from transfer of property, FAMEEEN
plantand equipmentto EEREaE
investment properties (5,485) - - - - - - - - - - - (5,485)
Tansfertodisposal group ~ B|R AHELEEEE
dlassified as held for sale BiE(H34)
(note 34) - 24 - (1,524) - - - - - - 12,285 - 10,985
Credited/(charged)tothe ~ IAGHERR (1)
consolidated statementof 5 A(H6()
profit or loss (note 6(a)) 169,341 94717 60,328 79674 - 833 (7,363) 11,182 (14,338) 18313 (17,736) (1,341) 308,370
Asat 31 December 2022 RO2E12A318 (139,970) (3,562) 85,687 260,013 = (1,023) (16,444) 28170 40,552 79512 4186 2 337,13
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R i 5E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRSAEHEHAI - HAARKTIR)

14 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 14 SHRBERARABOERFR(E)

OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Cont’'d)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised (Cont’d) (b) ERAEEHEEEREE(E)
(ii)  Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of (i) BEE LRI R 4Bk
financial position

2022 2021
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARET ARETTT

Net deferred tax assets recognised in the e HEF B R ER
consolidated statement of financial position ~ JEIEF{IB & E/FE 460,193 193,616

Net deferred tax liabilities recognised inthe A& G iR N R FERHY
consolidated statement of financial position ~ iEILFH & (&% 58 (123,070) (132,988)
337,123 60,628

(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised (c)

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(u),
the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of
cumulative tax losses of certain subsidiaries of RMB519,097,000
as at 31 December 2022 (2021: RMB628,599,000). The directors
consider it is not probable that future taxable profits against
which the losses can be utilised will be available in the relevant
tax jurisdiction and entities.

The unrecognised tax losses will expire by the end of the
following years, if unused:

RERELERIBEE

RIBEW 1 (TSR FHEUR - 102022
F12A31H  AEBIRREFFA
AR 25T I8 EE AR %519,097,0007T
(20214F : AR%628,599,0007T ) HEFRIE
LEHTEEE - EERATKAIREEH
BRiga rEa R EEESTRNEHEE
B RRERTFE -

HAREER - REERATIRE B
NP EREEW

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBTT

2022 2022 - 56,080
2023 2023 71,509 95,170
2024 2024 80,918 163,835
2025 2025 77,965 56,129
2026 2026 58,620 257,385
2027 2027 230,085 =
Total 5 519,097 628,599
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bi 7% #R 3R By &

14 INCOME TAXIN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Cont'd)

(d)

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

As set out in note 6(a), withholding tax is levied on Hong Kong
companies in respect of dividend distributions arising from
profit of PRC subsidiaries. Since the Group could control the
quantum and timing of distribution of profits of the Group’s
subsidiaries in the Mainland China, deferred tax liabilities are
only provided to the extent that such profits are expected to be
distributed in the foreseeable future.

At 31 December 2022, temporary differences relating
to the undistributed profits of subsidiaries amounted to
RMB3,319,932,000 (2021: RMB3,199,989,000). Deferred tax
liabilities of RMB165,997,000 (2021: RMB159,999,000) have not
been recognised in respect of the tax that would be payable on
the distribution of these retained profits as the Group controls
the dividend policy of these subsidiaries and it has been
determined that it is probable that these profits will not be
distributed in the foreseeable future.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

14 SHMBIARAEFRER(E)

(d)

RERBELEBIHE R
HANP L 6(a) &L » [A1EE A IR
B 7R RDa MEEMN RS W IBINH
R AREREEHAREFEAL TR
ARZEN BN BRELRRE - AEEE
EZENBRBABN AR ARHKEH
ERTAHBRERIARE -

M2022F12 A31H » FRAIKRDIKF
ERE R E R A A K #3,319,932,0000T
(20214 : AR#3,199,989,0007T) ° A&
SEARERDIRZEREFHES R
TERERIEETTE & & A R%165,997,000
JC (20214 © A R % 159,999,000 7T ) -
EARNEBZEHZET AR EEEK
BEEETEETENAERREKDIRF
i e
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R M5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRSAEHEHAI - HAARKTIR)

15 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries as at
31 December 2022 which principally affected the results, assets or
liabilities of the Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless
otherwise stated.

15 RFAFRHRE

TREHIN2022F 12 ANBHAERE
B BENEBBAEAFVENTETARN
15 o BRIEBSEHRA - TRIFTH ARG E
Bl A A -

Proportion of ownership interest

LAl
Place of Group's
incorporation Particulars of effective Held by the Held by
Name of company and business issued capital interest Company subsidiaries  Principal activities
NEER AEMER Y R & b5 BRORARE ZREENER  ARFEME  FREME  TEXR
Hong Kong Hydoo Holding Limited - Hong Kong HK$100,000 100% 100% - Investment management
EAREERARAR £ 100,000/ 70 REER
Hong Kong Hydoo Group Hong Kong HK$200,100,000 100% 100% - Investment management
Investment Company Limited
BERRRERABRAR &R 200,100,000 7C REERE
Hydoo Estate (Ganzhou) Company  The PRC US$32,050,000 100% - 100%  Property development and
Limited ("Hydoo Estate investment holding
(Ganzhou)")
BEEX(ENBRAR E 32,050,000% T FHERERIRERRK
([REEX(EM)])
Jining Hydoo Logistics Center The PRC RMB200,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development
Development Company Limited
(“Jining Logistics Center”)
EERENRARRERLT  HE A5 %200,000,000 FHERE
(NEEWRA)
Mianyang West Modern Trade The PRC RMB200,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development
Center Development Company
Limited ("Mianyang Trade
Center”)
BEEIARMAHREAR  TH A5 200,000,000 FHERE
R BEIRA )
Guangxi Yulin Modem Trade Center  The PRC RMB220,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development

Development Company Limited
("Yulin Trade Center")

ERIMARMAHREAR T AR %220,000,000
DA EMIRSE)

FHERZ
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf #& 35 R Mf 5t

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

15 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont'd) 15 RFLTFEREF(E)

Proportion of ownership interest

gt i’
Place of Group's
incorporation Particulars of effective Held by the Held by
Name of company and business issued capital interest Company subsidiaries  Principal activities
NEER MBI RS E ERORAHE ASKEENER  ARFME  FORME  FEER
Shenzhen Hydoo Investment The PRC RMB30,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment management
Management Company Limited
("Shenzhen Hydoo")
AMIMREREERERA TE AR 30,000,000 REER
(MR )
Ganzhou Hydoo Commercial The PRC RMB800,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development
and Trade Logistics Park
Development Co,, Ltd. (“Ganzhou
Trade Center’)
BNFEAENREREER  H ANE#800,000,000 FiERE
R ENEENRE])
Wuzhou Hydoo Commercialand ~ The PRC RMB300,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development

Trade Center Development Co,,
Ltd. ("Wuzhou Trade Center”)

BNREFSDRARERR T AR 300,000,000 FiERE
DEHEMEENRE])

Heze Hydoo Commercial and Trade ~ The PRC RMB300,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development
Center Company Limited ("Heze
Trade Center”)

AEREAEMRAERR R AR 300,000,000 FiERE
(FAEmgmng)

Yantai Hydoo International The PRC RMB300,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development

Commercial and Trade Center
Company Limited ("Yantai Trade
Center’)
EoREAREINERAT  F AR 300,000,000 BHERS
(IZamgsn))
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R i 5E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN - GAAREIITR)

15 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d) 15 RFLTFRIREF(E)

Proportion of ownership interest

gt i1l
Place of Group's
incorporation Particulars of effective Held by the Held by

Name of company and business issued capital interest Company subsidiaries  Principal activities

NEER MY R X5 BRORAHE ASEENER  AQFME  FORME  FEER

Lanzhou Hydoo Commercialand ~ The PRC RMB300,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development
Trade Center Company Limited
("Lanzhou Trade Center”)

BNREEEIARA R i A& 300,000,000 FBHERE
((WNEES])

Ganzhou Jiuzhi Property The PRC RMBS5,200,000 100% - 100%  Property management
Management Services Company services
Limited ("Ganzhou Jiuzhi")

ENTARNMEERERAF  F AR 5,200,000 NEERRY
([&MNAR])

Heze Hydoo Industrial Company ~ The PRC US$45,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development
Limited ("Heze Industrial”)

TEREHEERERAR EF 745,000,000 FHERE
([EEx])

Shenzhen Qianhai Hydoo Financial -~ The PRC RMB320,000,000 100% - 100%  Finance lease
Leasing Company Limited

RIFSREREREERAT  HE B 320,000,000 HEHE

Liuzhou Hydoo Commercialand ~ The PRC RMB300,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development
Trade Center Company Limited
("Liuzhou Trade Center’)

HNREREMRHERAR P A5 %300,000,000 FHERE
(NEEDRSE])

Xingning Honglong Logistics The PRC RMB57,000,000 95% - 95%  Property development
Center Company Limited*

BEREMRHERAR el ABH57,000000 FHERE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf #& 35 R Mf 5t

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

15 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont'd)

15 RFLFRRE (&)

Proportion of ownership interest

gt i’
Place of Group's
incorporation Particulars of effective Held by the Held by
Name of company and business issued capital interest Company subsidiaries  Principal activities
NEER MY R X5 ERORAHE ASKEENER  ARFME  FORME  FEER
Dongguan Dajiang Real Estate The PRC RMB90,000,000 45.9% - 459%  Property development
Development Company Limited*
("Dongguan Dajiang”)
RETNIERERZAERAF B AF#90,000,000 FHERE
([REXI)
Dongguan Huahai Industry The PRC RMB6,960,000 51% - 51%  Property development
Company Limited* ("'Dongguan
Huahai’)
RETEBEXRABRRR o B 6,960,000 FHERE
([R=#E])
Dongguan Dahu Real Estate The PRC RMB33,482,000 51% - 51%  Property development
Development Company Limited*
("Dongguan Dahu’)
RETAHBHEREARAF & AR #33,482,000 FHERE
([REXH))
Shenzhen Zhongbao Harbour The PRC RMB100,000,000 51% - 51%  Industry and Commerce
Industry Company Limited* (iii)
("Zhonghbao Harbour")
AP EREEXERAF i) oF AE100,000000 Ex
(e
Shenzhen Xiangsheng Union The PRC RMB200,000,000 51% - 51%  Property development
Industrial Development
Company Limited (“Shenzhen
Xiangsheng")*
MImEBHAEXERAR o AR 200,000000 FHERE

DA DRI )
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R i 5E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN - GAAREIITR)

15 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d) 15 RFLTRIREF(E)

Proportion of ownership interest

gt i1l
Place of Group's
incorporation Particulars of effective Held by the Held by
Name of company and business issued capital interest Company subsidiaries  Principal activities
NEER MBI REE BRORAHE ASEENER  AQFME  FORME  FEER
Jining Hydoo Beichuang Real Estate  The PRC RMB10,000,000 30% - 30%  Property development
Development Company Limited
(“Jining Beichuang")* (i) (") (iii)
ﬁﬁ%ﬁib%ﬁ%ﬁ (iYNT i A #10,000,000 FBHERE
(T80 i (i)
*  These entities are all PRC limited liability companies. The English *  ZEERHAPEBRAR c ZEARIKRE
translation of the company names is for reference only. The official XHEEREHRS EZ% BIMAR AR
names of these companies are in Chinese. BHAME -

(i)  This entity was acquired by the Group during the year of 2021. (i)

(ii) The Group has control over the board of the directors of Jining (ii)
Beichuang based on a co-operation agreement signed and the
revised articles of association (note 4(ii)).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf #& 35 R Mf 5t

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

15 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont'd)

(iii) Non-controlling interest

15 RFAFHRE ()
(iii) FIERER

The following table lists out the information relating to TRIETEFIFESEEXFRA
Zhongbao Harbour and Jining Beichuang, the subsidiaries AMEEREIBIEXEBR AR ABBEN
which has a material non-controlling interest (NCI). The BR  RINFEBEEXEFR A AIME
EREIRBEXFRAFIRASESES
BERFERERNFAR - TROUB
SEATRMEEBAEHEHEITINS

summarised financial information presented below represents
the amounts before any inter-company elimination.

B o
Zhongbao Harbour HEE¥
2022 2021
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARET ARETTT
NCI percentage FEAE PR AE RS LI 49% 49%
Non-current assets EMBENVEE 11,585 12,045
Current assets MENVE EE 2,798,605 973,219
Current liabilities mEAE (2,325,765) (690,165)
Non-current liabilities ERBAE (196,000) -
Net assets BEFRR 288,425 295,099
Carrying amount to NCl IR IR E PTE 140,518 144,599
Revenue LON 1,858,916 1,410,148
Loss for the year FANEE (6,674) (5,894)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FREEBE (6,674) (5.894)
Loss allocated to NCl for the year FADEZE IR
T HEE (3,270) (2,888)
Net cash used in operating activities KRBT F (1,396) (32,852)
Net cash generated from investing activities KB EHFBIRE TR - 9,000
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing BMEES(FTA)F5RE
activities et (1,073) 26,073
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B1 7% #R 3R By &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRSAEHEHAI - HAARKTIR)

15 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont'd)

(iii) Non-controlling interest (Cont’d)

15 RFLFNRE(R)
(i) FEEEMAER ()

Jining Beichuang HEILE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
NCI percentage Eealivg Fatadt]l 70% 70%
Non-current assets IEMBNEE 26 47
Current assets MENEE 581,735 1,194,089
Current liabilities mEEE (474,538) (1,115,341)
Net assets BEFHE 107,197 78,795
Carrying amount of NCI IR R IR E P E 75,038 55,157
Revenue WA 500,874 1,627,128
Profit/(loss) for the year FERFE(E8) 41,914 (17,949)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for theyear ~ FRZTEW A, (E18) 41,914 (17,949)
Profit/(loss) allocated to NCI for the year FALEEIETE R RN
ZEFE(EE) 29,340 (12,564)
Net cash used in operating activities K EENFTRIR & F 5 (173,627) (248,495)
16 FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES 16 MERHAREKHREA
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARET T
Finance lease receivables B ERE EWGIE 1,547 17,609
Less: due within one year (note 19) B VEREIER(FTEE19) (1,547) (11,199)
= 6,410
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bi 7% #R 3R By &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

16 FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (Cont'd) 16 MEHEBEKRRIE(E)
As at 31 December 2022, the total future minimum lease payments 20225124318 - RIBREEERIARK
receivable under finance leases were as follows: =ERESRT|NT ¢
2022 2021
Lease  Unearned Lease Unearned
payments finance Loss Carrying  payments finance Loss Carrying
receivable income  allowance amount  receivable income allowance amount
RERE ARERE

EhEE BERA BRER BEE EREE  BERA  BRRE REE
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMBOOO  RMBO00  RMBOOO  RMB'000
ARBTL ARETR ARBTR AR®TR ARETT AREBTT ARETT ARETE

Within 1 year (inclusive) 1FER(BEZE) 11,346 (32) (9,767) 1,547 21,030 2,027 (11,858) 11,199
After 1 year but within 5 years 125F (BEERE
(inclusive) GES! - - - - 7,319 (685) (224) 6,410
11,346 (32) (9,767) 1,547 28,349 1,342 (12,082) 17,609
17 OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 17 HJEREEE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARETT

Financial assets measured at amortised cost BEBRK AT ENCRIEE
- Notes receivable (Note) —EeERGE= - 61,196
Financial assets measured at FVTPL HARBEZEEEZEHFA
EHEENCREE
— Unlisted equity investments not held for trading —WIFIEE BRI LR
wE - 4,180
- 65,376
Note: As at 31 December 2021, notes receivable are interest-bearing at 14% Mizr - R2021F 128318 BIWEE A EE
per annum and recoverable in 2023. Ko IEFHFEFRER14% - EEPE

1R+ B H2023F IR E o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R i 5E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN - GAAREIITR)

18 INVENTORIES AND OTHER CONTRACT COSTS 18 FERHEMESHEE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETT

Inventories rE

Property development ek

- Leasehold land held for future development —ARGRBEHEEI MR

and properties under development EEME 11,684,311 11,231,225

- Completed properties held for sale —FEETIWE 2,693,188 2,624,104
14,377,499 13,855,329

Others HAtb 995 711
14,378,494 13,856,040

Other contract costs HAb& LA 66,552 36,908
14,445,046 13,892,948

As at 31 December 2022, certain properties under development, R2022F12H318 - ETHEREYE FEE

completed properties held for sale and leasehold land held for future TIMERRRKGRAERELHWAEREE

development were pledged for certain bank loans granted to the BRETRITERIER (M5124) RIFES

Group (note 24) and parking lots financing arrangement (note 22). BE B AR (T FE22) ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf #& 35 R Mf 5t

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

18 INVENTORIES AND OTHER CONTRACT COSTS 18 FRERAMEHIEEF(HE)
(Cont'd)
(a) The analysis of carrying amount of leasehold land included in (a) EFAVEFREMHEELWNREES T
properties development is as follows: wmr
2022 2021
RMB’'000 RMB’'000

(c)

AR®T T ARETTT

In the Mainland China, with remaining lease RPERt > FRBEEHR

term of

50 years or more 5053k A 1,205,849 2,893,320
between 10 and 50 years 105 21504 3,671,271 2,013,165
4,877,120 4,906,485

Leasehold land held for and under development in the (b) AR AR AR R FFEE 1

consolidated statement of financial position comprise: S

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARETTT

Expected to be recovered within one year TEEIR —F ARk 1,581,645 1,785,781
Expected to be recovered after more than one year TEHBIR —4F LAf& Uk (0] 10,102,666 9,445,444
11,684,311 11,231,225
Completed properties held for sale in the consolidated (o) EHUBRARAFEETINYES
statement of financial position comprise: 7
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR®T T ARETT

Expected to be recovered within one year TR — S Rk [E 848,003 796,520
Expected to be recovered after more than one year FEEFR —F A& Uk 0] 1,845,185 1,827,584
2,693,188 2,624,104
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRSAEHEHAI - HAARKTIR)

18 INVENTORIES AND OTHER CONTRACT COSTS 18 FE
(Cont'd)
(d) The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an (d)

expense and included in profit or loss is as follows:

AREMEHRE(E)

A BB R A R E S T
W -

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBTT

Carrying amount of inventories sold EETFERA
- properties — KA 851,741 3,178,583
- commodities — PR 2,046,054 1,477,351
Provision for diminution in value of inventories FEMEAERE 245,373 129,283
3,143,168 4,785,217
(e) Other contract costs (e) HMEHHA

Contract costs capitalised as at 31 December 2022 relate to the
incremental sales commissions paid to property agents whose
selling activities resulted in customers entering into sale and
purchase agreements for the Group'’s properties which are
still under construction at the reporting date. Contract costs
are recognised as part of “selling and distribution costs” in
the statement of profit or loss in the period in which revenue
from the related property sales is recognised. The amount of
capitalised costs recognised in profit or loss during the year
was RMB29,644,000 (2021: RMB10,752,000). There was no
impairment in relation to the opening balance of capitalised
costs or the costs capitalised during the year.

The Group applies the practical expedient in paragraph 94
of IFRS 15 and recognises the incremental costs of obtaining
contracts relating to the sale of completed properties and
services as an expense when incurred if the amortisation period
of the assets that the Group otherwise would have recognised
is within the same reporting period as the date of entering into
the contract.

As at 31 December 2022, the amount of capitalised contract

costs that is expected to be recovered after more than one year
is RMB7,220,000 (2021: RMB5,031,000).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bi 7% #R 3R By &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19 BEHRHEMEKRIE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETT

Trade receivables (a) B 5 FIE®a) 241,457 294,671
Less: loss allowance B EEEE (31,937) (12,922)
209,520 281,749
Finance lease receivables (note 16) BB EREUGRIA(MFE16) 11,314 23,057
Less: loss allowance (note 16) B EiE R (MisEe) (9,767) (11,858)
1,547 11,199
Amounts due from joint ventures (c) JEY & & R EIFRIA(C) 78,888 78,595
Less: loss allowance (note 13) B EiE R (MEE13) (48,233) (19,613)
30,655 58,982
Other debtors, net of loss allowance (b) E b IR R ia R 1g
e i) F®be) ] 1115023 1,563,996
Financial assets measured at amortised cost AR AFTEN S MEE 1,356,745 1,915,926
Prepaid sales related tax and other taxes TErTHE AR e REMT S 388,349 325,193
Deposits and prepayments (d) F & MFEA FIE() 1,261,014 1,657,600
3,006,108 3,898,719
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN - GAAREIITR)

19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont'd) 19 BHRAMMEURIEA(E)
(a) Ageing analysis (@) BRERDHT
As at the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of RIREEIR - RIERE 5 UG IERER
trade receivables (net of loss allowance) based on the date the A EIE] 5 8 8 5 e W sk I8 (FBR S 18 5
relevant trade receivables recognised, is as follows: HIWBRERSTAT -
2022 2021
RMB’'000 RMB’'000

AR¥T T ARETTT

Within 1 month HEA A 2,202 12,228
1to 3 months 123 AR 464 5,858
3 to 6 months 3E6fE AR 3,793 12,932
6 to 12 months 6E12AAN 5,057 34,010
Over 12 months (Note) 1218 A LA L (it 3E) 198,004 216,721
209,520 281,749
Note: As at 31 December 2022, the above trade receivables aged over MizE : #HZE2022912H318 @ HiliiBiE12
12 months were mainly due from an entity controlled by a local BAME ZEYGRIEEERE — A
government authority. TR
The details on the Group’s credit policy are set out in note 35(a). REBEER B ME35) ©
Trade receivables are primarily related to proceeds from the oW IA T EmY EIEERIA
sale of properties and property management services provided. MREMEEEREEH -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt #& 3R R KI5

19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont'd)

(b)

(c)

The details on the other debtors, net of loss allowance are set

out in below:

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

19 BHREMBURIEA(IE)

(b)

HoAth FEUCR IR (FORR R ) H IR &
LI

2022 2021

RMB’'000 RMB’'000

ARET T ARETTT

Amounts due from controlling shareholders (i) JE IR AR AR BR SR IA () - 798,158
Financial assets measured at amortised cost (ii) LR N ET 2 M S BV E 2 (i) 32,539 =
Loans to the third parties (iii) 28 = T R B 3 i) 64,945 104,983
Amounts due from non-controlling interests (iv)  JEUGFIEAGAEZS F A (iv) 290,516 332,555
Amounts due from disposed subsidiaries (v) JE U R B TN BIFIE (v) 272,544 164,695
Others (vi) H b (vi) 454,479 163,605
1,115,023 1,563,996

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

As at 31 December 2021, amounts due from controlling
shareholders are unsecured, interest-free and have no
fixed repayment terms.

As at 31 December 2022, financial assets measured at
amortised cost are interest-bearing at 14% per annum,
unsecured and to be recovered within one year.

As at 31 December 2022, loans to the third parties are
interest- bearing at weighted average rate of 15.95% per
annum (2021: 16.17% per annum), unsecured and to be
recovered within one year.

As at 31 December 2022, amounts due from non-
controlling interests represents advances to non-
controlling interests recorded by the subsidiaries acquired
by the Group upon the respective acquisitions.

The amount was fully recovered subsequent to year end.
This amount included the consideration receivables in

respect of disposals of subsidiaries of RMB28,000,000 (see
note 21(f)).

The amounts due from joint ventures are unsecured, interest-
free and have no fixed repayment terms. The Group has fully
provided loss allowance on the amount due from Thailand Joint
Venture amounted to RMB19,613,000 in 2018 (see note 13(a)).

(c)

(i) 2021128318 - FEUHZERRAR R
REAEER 28« BETEN
HABR HYFRIE ©

(i) 2022912 A318 - LB AT
ENEREERTFE14%5T8 -
IR ERIT A —F R -

(i) 720229128318 » ME= M
R B FOR INAE 19 6 F1) 2£15.95%5 T
B.(2021 : FFE16.17%) + FEIKHF
BRI AR —FRUE -

(iv) 720225128318 @ FEUR D ERR
RABERAEBWENNBARR
IR B R BR M H IR R i 2 B

e
(v) ZFEERFREZFEWE -

(vi) ZEEAEEERE T AEENE
U B A R #528,000,0007T ( 7M1 5+
21() °

B A A ¥ERBEBNEHR AR &
BERERTERY  AEEYHEKRSER
BATENBREDLN2018F 2R
BB B 1B AR #19,613,0007T (F5E
13(a)) °
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRSAEHEHAI - HAARKTIR)

19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont'd) 19 BHRAMMEURIEA(E)
(d) The details on the deposits and prepayments are set out in (d) #eRBRFIEFBERIIGAT :
below:
2022 2021
RMB’'000 RMB’'000

AR®T T ARETTT

Deposits and prepayments for purchase of land BETHERAERSR

use right SELNE-N 406,484 721,159

Deposits and prepayments for acquisition of WiERZIERRE &
development projects TERTR 427,915 434,323
Others Hth 426,615 502,118
1,261,014 1,657,600

20 PLEDGED AND RESTRICTED CASH 20 BEERRZRHFHRS

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR®T T ARETT

Pledged to banks for certain mortgage facilities B TIRBERE MER T IRT 121,824 153,543

Pledged for bills payables and discounted bills LI SRR ANALIR IR 940,177 555,325

Restricted cash (i) 2 PR R 2 (1) 802,239 54,649

1,864,240 763,517

Note: BisE -

(i) As at 31 December 2022, included in restricted cash are amounts of (i) M2022F128318 » IREHIRES BFEAERRR
RMB37,405,000 (2021: RMB46,500,000) frozen by banks due to pending FRAAWIRI TR A M © A R#37,405,0007T
litigations. (20214 : AR %46,500,0007T) °

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 21 ReRR&EEY
(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (a) RekReFEVEE
2022 2021
RMB’'000 RMB’'000

AR®T T ARETT

Cash at bank and on hand RITFERNIRE 76,113 1,373,314
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Cont'd) 21 ReRRSFEEHD(E)
(b) Reconciliation of loss before taxation to cash used in operations: (b) BRTFHAIEIBEZLLZESFTARNIE SO
BE -
2022 2021
Note RMB’'000 RMB’000

it ARBETT ARETT

Loss before taxation BRELATER (1,916,618) (355,669)
Adjustments for: BTFIHERE
Finance income k3 ON 5(a) (61,897) (63,041)
Finance costs BERA 5(a) 400,252 296,974
Fair value loss on investment properties REWMEAREEBL 11 677,364 9,700
Provision for diminution in value of inventories & EE%EE 5(c) 245,373 129,283
Impairment loss on trade and other receivables 25 R E M EKFIERERIE  5() 138,804 12,073
Government grants related to investment RE A TR B VI 1E 8
properties recognised in other income BT B 28 (1,060) -
Depreciation and amortisation PEREH 5(c) 16,924 35,868
Net realised and unrealised fair value loss from X AR(EE B EE B AR
financial assets and liabilities measured at HiEseREEREREAE
FVTPL HEBRRARERAAEBE
Bx 4 3,331 5,851
Net (gain)/loss on disposal of subsidiaries HETFRRNF(RA) BEL 4 (31,089) 105,701
Net loss on disposal of debt securities HEEBEHFNEBLFEE 4 85,775 =
Written-off of other non-current assets HibIERB B ER 4 4171 =
Net loss on disposal of other non-current assets  H & H {1 FERENE ER) Bk
EER 4 - 88,249
Equity settled share-based payment expenses A B RIRD S H & 4 5,434 11,619
Share of losses of joint ventures DhEEREER 13(a) 273 152
Share of losses of an associate DMEBEEER 13(b) 525 -
Net loss on disposal of investment properties ~ HEREEWENFIBKL 4 18,874 5,667
Gain on bargain purchase of subsidiaries - S/NGIEo) 6y 4 - (20,954)
Net gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - BE RSB
equipment R 4 (30,606) (3,650)
Written off of property, plant and equipment ~ #7% - H’X’%& SR 1,214 -
Impairment loss on assets of disposal group HEFEAREERNERE
classified as held for sale 5(c) 112,478 -
Impairment loss on interests in joint ventures A& EEFREFIE 5() 88,759 =
Changes in working capital: BEESE
Increased in inventories and other contract ﬁ%’i&/ﬁﬁﬂ BRI
costs (1,489,591) (2,324,874)
Decreased in trade and other receivables B 5 N H W B R 75,975 213,161
(Increased)/decreased in pledged and restricted ~ ##f &z ﬁlﬁéﬁﬁ #m),/ w
cash (1,100,723) 59,969
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables & 5 & H ftb JE FR I b1,
CRd) 869,969 (1,120,603)
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities aHaELEm/ R 1,243,014 (406,507)
Decrease in deferred income EL%U\H’J\ (56,290) (66,273)
Cash used in operating activities RERAANERS (699,365) (3,387,304)
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRSAEHEHAI - HAARKTIR)

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Cont'd) 21 REaRR&FEYMR)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (0 METHELENEBENHER
activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from TREFMRAERERE %ﬂﬁ?ﬁ@]ﬁ’\]%%ﬁ
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. g aEReRFHRSEE - A5
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for %iﬁﬁgﬁﬁfﬁﬁmijﬁi?}(ﬁiﬁ%
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified FrEEmaE  EAEEafReRE
in the Group’s consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows ﬁqjﬁmxéﬁﬁﬁéxﬁiﬂﬁimfﬁim =
from financing activities.
Bank loans Amounts due Other
and other Senior Lease  to controlling current Other
borrowings notes liabilities  shareholders liabilities payables Total
BITER EfH 2R Rt At
REMEE BLEE BEaE RRFE RBaE FEft5E i
(note 24) (note 25) (note 27) (note 26) (note 29) (note 22)

(Bskad) (MtzE2s) (Bzr2r) (B3k26) (MfE29) (HtE22)
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR AR¥TR AR¥TR

At 1 January 2022 RanF1A18 3,271,323 2,346,462 35,795 1,027,468 576,558 2,444,871 9,702,483

Proceeds from new bank loansand other ~ FPEFTE R REMEE

borrowings FrfEAIE 2,220,149 - - - - - 2,220,149
Net proceeds from disposal of debt securities L EEFEHHE - 24,804 - - - = 24,804
Advances from controlling shareholders ]‘EHMHQH&‘?%& = - - 125,180 - - 125,180
Advances from non-controlling interests Bl RRESH - - - - - 7,730 7,730
Repayment of advances from non-controlling ~ {E&3H2 Hxﬂﬁziﬂ

interests - - - - - (947,093) (947,093)
Advances from third parties EZHEH = = = = = 240,845 240,845
Repayment of advances from third parties BEE=HB - - - - - (137,250) (137,250)
Advances from discounted bills B Z R3¢ ﬁ - - - - 940,914 - 940,914
Advances from parking lots financing BESBAZHNG

arrangements - - - - - 3,802 3,802
Repayment of controlling shareholders BEERRE - - - (810,148) - - (810,148)
Repayment of bank loans and other borrowings (EESR1TEF R EMEE (568,608) - - - - - (568,608)
Payment of purchase of debt securities BEEBEA (65,420) - - - - (65,420)
Repayment of discounted bills BERERZE - = - - (494,858) - (494,858)
Capital element of lease rentals paid INRERENERER - - (1,399) - - - (1,399)
Interest element of lease rentals paid YNHEREGHNFSER = - (119 = - - (119)
Interest and other horrowing costs paid during £RE (515 A &

the year e (269,505) (150,998) - - (14,297) (4372) (439,172)
Total changes from financing cash flows BERSRERY LS 1,382,036 (191,574) (1,518) (684,968) 431,759 (836,338) 99,397
Exchange adjustments ERHE - 218,119 = = = = 218,119
Other changes: Hipg
Increase in lease liabilities from enteringinto K373 %ﬁ‘*?@‘ﬁﬁ‘i

new leases during the year BEENE - - 2353 - - - 2,353
Early termination/written off of lease liabilities #2314 1 /Hi#HE 2 E - - (408) - - - (408)
Disposal of subsidiaries RETFAA (13,167) - (32,787) - - (69,400) (115,354)
Transfer to liabilities classified as held for sales ﬁ}%ﬁ" {EHERBRE - - (756) - - - (756)
Net loss on disposal of debt securities LERKEAZER - 85,775 - - - - 85,775
Interest expense (note 5(a)) MERZ(Fs@) 273,051 354,766 1,683 - 14,297 102,119 745916
Interest payable JERFIS (3,546) (203,768) - - - (12,750) (220,064)
Total other changes 256,338 457,892 (29,915) - 14,297 19,969 715,581
At31 December 2022 120225128318 4,909,697 2,609,780 4,362 342,500 1,022,614 1,628,508 10,517,461
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

21 ReRBLFEM(E)
BMEEHEENEENHRGE)

21 CASHAND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Cont'd)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (c)
activities (Cont’d)

Bankloans Amounts due Other
and other Senior Lease  tocontrolling current Other
borrowings notes liabilities  shareholders liabilities payables Total
BITER FEf R Eft Eft
REMEE BAEE HEAE REE TEEE FEfT3E @
(note 24) (note 25) (note 27) (note 26) (note 29) (note 22)
(Hizk24) (PizE25) (Pik27) (Hizk26) (Pk29) (Pi#22)
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETT  ARETT ARETT  ARETR
At 1 January 2021 R0nF1 418 1,310,259 1,820,524 40,108 867,000 300,000 507,547 4845438
Proceeds from new bankloansandother  FERAEFREMES
borrowings e 3,009,155 - - - - = 3,009,155
Net proceeds from theissue o seniornotes /7B X ERHETEFE - 921,367 - - - - 921,367
Advances from controlling shareholders AlERRERS S S = 3,335,646 S = 3,335,646
Advances from non-controlling interests fﬁ ety ﬂxﬁx?ﬁ S S = 5 5 2054978 2,054,978
Repayment of advances from non-controlling  (EEF 2R RELH
interests - - - - - (484,339) (484,339)
Advances from third parties F=HBT S S = S S 454200 454200
Repayment of advances from third parties £ =585 - 5 = 5 5 (343122) (343122)
Advances from discounted bills BRSZRENR 5 5 = 5 576,558 5 576,558
Repayment of parking lots financing FESRET NG
arrangements - - - - - (32675) (32675)
Repayment of controlling shareholders ERimRRE - - - (3175178) - - (3,175,178)
Repayment of bank loans and other borrowings (EEF{TEZREMES (1,048,091) = S S = S (1,048,091)
Repayment of senior notes ERBEZE - (347,340) - - - - (347,340)
Repayment of discounted bills BRURZE - - - - (300,000) e (300,000
Capital element of lease rentals paid INRERENERER - - (5521) 5 = 5 (5,521)
Interest element of lease rentals paid YNHEREGHNFSER S - (4,316) - - - (4316)
Interest and other borrowing costs paid during £ E 7|8 R E
the year A (128,687) (281,903) - - (9,795) (73523) (493,908)
Total changes from financing cash flows BERSRELYET 1832377 292,124 9,837) 160,468 266,763 1,575,519 4117414
Exchange adjustments EXHE - (57,787) - - - - (57,787)
Other changes:
Increase in lease liabilities from entering into
new leases during the year ﬁUm e - - 1,208 s = = 1,208
Acquisition of subsidiaries -2 e/NS| = S S = S 288,288 288,288
Interest expense (note 5(a)) gz (FiEs@) 163438 295307 4316 - 9795 1353 546,379
Interest payable IS (34751) (3,706) - - - - (38457)
Total other changes EhzenE 128,687 291,601 5524 - 9795 361811 797418
At31 December 2021 20215124318 327133 2,346,462 35,795 1,027,468 576,558 2444877 9,702,483
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRSAEHEHAI - HAARKTIR)

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Cont'd) 21 BeERBAeEEM(E)
(d) Total cash outflow for leases (d) HERESARLEEE
Amounts included in the cash flow statement for leases HEeERERPNHESTE

comprise the following:

BEWT :

2022 2021
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Within operating cash flows KETEENIR SR 2,838 2,384,917
Within financing cash flows METMRER 1,566 9,837
4,404 2,394,754

These amounts relate to the following: ELERRE TR -
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R AERETTT
Lease rentals paid SNWEERES 4,404 15,743
Purchase of leasehold land BEROT M H - 2,379,011
4,404 2,394,754
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

21 CASHAND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Cont'd)

(e)

Acquisitions of subsidiaries

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group has
acquired certain subsidiaries which hold property development
projects. Acquisitions of these subsidiaries enable the Group
to expand its land banks. The acquired subsidiaries’ major
assets are properties held for development and properties
under development. The directors consider that the purpose of
acquiring those subsidiaries is solely to acquire the underlying
properties. Details of the acquisitions are summarised as
follows:

21 BeRBeSFEM(E)

(e)

- SN
RELE2021F 128318 IEFER - £F
WETETHAERHERZEBEBENTA
7] o BRI TR RIEESIB AN ERA
TH G c HME T ARINEEEES
RBMENENTEEE  EF2R
B WEEETARINEMEEZRAT
WEBIEREE - WEFFIBWT -

Percentage of
equity interest

Acquisition date Consideration acquired
Wiz B HE B
RMB’000
ARETT
Shenzhen Zhonghongxin Property 31 January 2021 13,800 51.00%
Development Limited
AITmHREFEHERERRAT 202141 A31H
Dongguan Bohe Enterprise Investment 31 January 2021 222,000 51.00%
Limited
REMAREEREBRAF] 202141 A431H
Dongguan Shanghua Property Limited 31 January 2021 - 51.00%
REMEEEXARAR 202141 A31H
Hangzhou Xinan Yuerong Enterprise Limited 31 March 2021 40,500 60.00%
MMO LR BRERBRAF] 202143 A431H
Dongguan Xingtong Property Development 16 August 2021 214,000 100.00%
Limited
REMEBYEREFRDF 202158 A16H

In addition, as set out in note 4(ii), during the year ended 31
December 2021, based on a co-operation agreement signed and
revised articles of association of Jining Beichuang, the Group
can exercise control over Jining Beichuang, which became a
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group.

SN -

WM FE4G)REE - EREITNAE

AEZEI NS ER S REETTHAR
B2 REEREZE2021F128318 1+
EEALBIEHILH) - X EREK

RAEENFERETRA -

FERYH
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRSAEHEHAI - HAARKTIR)

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Cont'd) 21 BeERBAeEEM(E)
(e) Acquisitions of subsidiaries (Cont’d) (e) WEEFATE(E)
The effects of acquisitions on the Group’s assets and liabilities WEHAEEEENABNTZENT ¢

are set out as below:

2021
Note RMB’'000
B AREFIT

Property, plant and equipment e ] 10 972
Inventories and other contract costs GFEREME RKA 2,510,353
Trade and other receivables B 5 M E Ath fEUKGRIA 159,824
Prepaid tax TEBBIK 83,312
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEFEY 549,984
Trade and other payables B 5 R H AR FK (155,084)
Contract liabilities aRAE 23 (2,499,428)
Deferred tax liabilities BIEFSHARE 14(b) (48,888)
Non-controlling interests eI (71,291)
Net assets attributable to the Group FENAEENFEE 529,754
Gain on bargain purchase of subsidiaries (note 4) Wk F R ml A Ueas (P EE4) (20,954)
Cash considerations paid SRHIREEE 508,800
Analysis of net cash inflow of cash and cash equivalents in HIWEF AT AEENIRE MRS EEY
respect of the acquisition of subsidiaries: FIRSRH A
RMB’'000
ARETTT
Cash considerations paid YIRS HE 508,800
Less: cash and cash equivalents acquired B BEMRERREEED 549,984
Net cash inflow WERAFEE 41,184
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21 CASHAND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Cont'd)

(f)

Disposal of subsidiaries

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group has
disposed certain subsidiaries which held property development
projects and investment properties. Subsequent to the
disposals, these entities are no longer subsidiaries of the Group,
and certain of these subsidiaries became associate of the

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

21 BeRBeSFEM(E)

(f)

HEFLTH
RELE2022F 128318 IEFER » K&
BHETETHEYELRERBENNE
RNEIRHEBZEMYE - HER  ZZE
BIBAAEENWEBAR - WDKK
AAREEBE N T

Group.

Disposal date

Consideration

BER HE

RMB’000

AR¥TF

Revere Effort Limited 31 January 2022 26,842
WMEARAR 2022F1H31H

Well Harmony Enterprises Limited 28 February 2022 121,872
IEF AR AR 202242 H28H

Yantai Yaze Property Development Co. Ltd. 28 February 2022 19,400
BEaERHERBEARAT 20224F2 F28H

Jiangxi Hydoo Property Limited (i) 30 June 2022 9,000
THAREHREZAR AT ) 202246 A30H

Dongguan Shanghua Property Limited 31 July 2022 =
REMRHEEEARAR 202247 A31H

Dongguan Jingkun Trading Co. Ltd. 31 August 2022 =
REmRBEZBRAR 20224F8 431H

Shenzhen Yinghua Industry Development Co. Ltd. 31 October 2022 28,000

bk

RITREBEXHRBRAF

(i)  This entity was disposed by the Group to a subsidiary of Revere

Effort Limited.

2022910A31H

0]

AREE &% AT FHEER AR
BAH -
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRSAEHEHAI - HAARKTIR)

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Cont'd) 21 RERFEEEDM(E)

(f) Disposal of subsidiaries (Cont’d) f HEFLF(E)
The combined effects of such disposals on the Group’s assets ZERBEHAEEEENBRBNGE R

and liabilities are set out below:

I N

2022
Note RMB’000
B s ARBT T
Property, plant and equipment W - WENEE 10 34,068
Investment properties wEMZE 11 243,436
Intangible assets BmEEE 12 775
Deferred tax assets RIEFTSHERE 14(b) 42,826
Inventories and other contract costs FEREME RA 1,006,939
Trade and other receivables B 5 R E A ERGR 187,969
Amounts due from the Group JEW AR EFKIA 511,924
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEFEY 184,090
Trade and other payables B 5 R HE MR (345,288)
Amounts due to the Group FER RSB FIE (817,378)
Lease liabilities HEAR (32,787)
Contract liabilities aRAE 23 (460,750)
Borrowings B (13,167)
Current tax liabilities = HRENBR (61,827)
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFTSH AR 14(b) (5,451)
Exchange reserve M 5 H 19,391
Non-controlling interest IR (314,179)
Remaining interests after disposal as interests in BRE &I E N R P RIS 13(b)
associates (6,566)
Net assets attributable to the Group disposed of REBENAEENFEE 174,025
Total considerations HEE (g (205,114)
Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries (note 4) HEFRARAFWA(FIEE4) (31,089)
RMB’000
ARBT T
Total considerations RSB 205,114
Consideration to be recovered subsequent to FERRB IR B R E (R HIRE19)
year end (note 19) 28,000
Consideration received, satisfied in cash LAIR @ M Bl /(8 177,114
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of BEERIHRSRIAEEED (184,090)
Net cash outflow FIRE M (6,976)
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21 CASHAND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Cont'd)

(f)

Disposal of subsidiaries (Cont’d)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group has
disposed certain subsidiaries which held property development
projects and investment properties. Subsequent to the
disposals, these entities are no longer subsidiaries of the Group.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

21 BeRBeEEM(E)

( HEFLAFGE)
REZE2021F 1283 B IEFERN - A&
ELETHATHAEMEREBENNE
NARHEBREMYE - HER - ZEE
BIHAREENHBAFR -

Disposal date Consideration
BREH (8
RMB’000

ARETFTT

Shenzhen Hong'an Decoration Limited
RYNTIR LK TIRBRAF]

Shenzhen Aoyilai Trading Limited
RYTRIEREHBER AR

Shenzhen Jingying Investment Limited

YT RBIREBR AR

Ningxiang Hydoo Color Trading Plaza Development Limited
ERRIEITEHEEHEFRAR
Shenzhen Qianhai Hydoo Technology Limited
RN TRNERIBE R RMAR AR

Shenzhen Hydoo Lingkong Technology Limited
RYTHRETERRBRAF]

31 March 2021 -
20213 A31H

31 March 2021 -
202143 A31H

30 November 2021 -
2021911 H30H

30 November 2021 28,810
2021511 H30H

30 November 2021 35,240
2021511 A30H

30 November 2021 1,000
2021411 A30H
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN - GAAREIITR)

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Cont'd)

(f)

Disposal of subsidiaries (Cont’d)

21 BeRBAeSFEM(E)

Hh HEFLE(E)

The combined effects of such disposals on the Group’s assets ZERBHASEEENEENGEER
and liabilities are set out below: Z2mT :
2021
Note RMB’'000
B s ARETTT
Property, plant and equipment W - WENEE 10 221
Investment properties WEYE 1" 366,300
Intangible assets BmEEE 12 4,171
Deferred tax assets RS EE 14(b) 14,891
Other non-current asset HA3EmE&EE 56,558
Inventories and other contract costs FERHEMERKA 424,259
Trade and other receivables B 5 R E A ERGR 231,979
Amounts due from the Group U AN S B 5K IE 1,610
Cash and cash equivalents HekReFEEY 3,043
Trade and other payables B 5 R E AR (678,367)
Amounts due to the Group FER RSB FIE (164,695)
Contract liabilities aRAE 23 (34,151)
Current tax liabilities & HAFE IR (163)
Deferred income RN 2 (23,578)
Deferred tax liabilities EEMEHARE 14(b) (27,842)
Non-controlling interest SRR AR (3,485)
Net assets attributable to the Group disposed of EERBERASERNFEE 170,751
Total considerations REEH(E (65,050)
Net loss on disposal of subsidiaries (note 4) HEFARRFEIE(H:E4) 105,701
RMB’000
ARETIT
Total considerations 4REE B 65,050
Consideration recovered subsequent to Bz B D Ay B
year end 29,810
Consideration received, satisfied in cash LIRS W B R EE 35,240
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of BEERLIHRERRSEEY (3,043)
Net cash inflow FIREBMA 32,197
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

22 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 22 B REMEMNRIEA

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET ARBTT
Trade and bills payables (a) B S RNFIERENERQ) 2,652,998 2,525,017
Other payables and accruals (b) E b A 5B K FERT B F (b) 1,200,257 3,056,728
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost ST EN S RAE 3,853,255 5,581,745
Deposits (c) E2(c) 312,079 340,518
Receipts in advance TEU IR 55,746 25,620
Interest payable of senior notes JERHMBRZBEFS 216,158 =
4,437,238 5,947,883

(@) As at the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of @@ MIMEER  ERNEFRENEE(Z

ZEHAE SR HOR) 255
AR AT

trade creditors and bills payables (which are included in trade
and other payables), based on due date, is as follows:

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T AREFIT

Due within 1 month or on demand R11E A AR ERskiR Bk 300,102 254,197
Due after 1 month but within 3 months P UE B & ER3E A REIH 107,815 393,694
Due after 3 months but within 6 months FA31E A& B R6fE A MR HA 317,548 472,663
Due after 6 months S ENSREELE 1,927,533 1,404,463
2,652,998 2,525,017

BRI RNFIRTBIEEMNABREKIEA -
FEf A BB SRIRIRE R K i Bi2 5
HARHAK -

Trade payables mainly represent amounts due to contractors.
Payment to contractors is in installments according to progress
and agreed milestones.
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN - GAAREIITR)

22 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Cont'd)

22 BHRAEMBEFRIF(E)

(b) The details of other payables and accruals are set out below: (b) HihENKIBEREERFEEHI W
T
2022 2021
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARBFT
Amounts due to controlling shareholders FERHERR AR R R IB

(note 26) (BzE26) 342,500 1,027,468
Amounts due to non-controlling interests (i) FEAS T2 R e 2 SR () 191,031 1,199,793
Amounts due to third parties (ii) FERTE8 = 75 FUIE(GI) 341,134 237,539
Other tax payables HiEXHE 236,593 229,365
Others (iii) Ho A i) 88,999 362,563
1,200,257 3,056,728

Notes: Fi3E

@i

(i)

(iii)

As at 31 December 2022, the amounts due to non-controlling
interests are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

As at 31 December 2022, apart from the amount due to a
third party of RMB207,814,000 which are interest-bearing at a
weighted average rate of 11% per annum (2021: RMB80,000,000
was interest-bearing at a weighted average rate of 11%), the
remaining amounts due to third parties are unsecured, interest-
free and repayable within one year.

As at 31 December 2022, the balance included earnest payments
of RMB3,041,000 (2021: RMB84,748,000) from potential clients
and advances from parking lots financing arrangement of
RMB45,626,000 (2021: RMB44,400,000) which are pledged by
parking lots held by subsidiaries of the Group.

(0]

(i)

(iii)
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HRIEAEER  REREREKRE
8o

HZE202F12A318  BEME=
75 7B A R 5 207,814,000 7T 1% hnAE F
BHEMEN%ETE(2021F : AR
80,000,000 7T 3% NN F 259 & F Z11%5T
BOSh - HtENE = &K - 28
BAE—FREE -

HZE2022F12831H @ pESIERE
ERPEZIrHES ARE3,041,0007T
(20214 : AR#84,748,0007T ) A K2 A
AEENBARFENEEISERNG
BHISHE T HER A R #45,626,0007T
(20214 : AR#44,400,0007T) °



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bi 7% #R 3R By &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

22 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Cont'd) 22 ®HRHMEMNRRE(E)
(c) The details of deposits are set out below: (0 MHEFBEIHIWOT -

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETT

Deposits for cooperative development of HEBRAERER
properties 252,259 271,557
Others (i) EL (i) 59,820 68,961
312,079 340,518
Note: PR -

(i) As at 31 December 2022, other deposits include the deposits
related to decoration and lease arrangement of RMB20,089,000
(2021: RMB29,114,000) which are expected to be settled after
more than one year.

All of the other payables and accrued expenses and deposits
are expected to be settled within one year.

() HZE202F12A31H HFee
FHREERBEZHEBEENRES A
R # 20,089,000 7T (2021 FF : AR
29,114,0007C) * TEFTHHE—F N E4&

=4
/B °

AHEMENFRMEAR RESTE
HIE R —FREE -

23 CONTRACT LIABILITIES 23 SRR
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET ARETT
Advances received for sales of properties SHE W FUE A B R 4,671,522 3,881,502
Property management fees received in advance TEWmEERS 12,431 12,185
Others EAh, 668 8,671
4,684,621 3,902,358
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRSAEHEHAI - HAARKTIR)

23 CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Cont'd)

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract
liabilities recognised are as follows:

Property development

Depending on market conditions, the Group requires the customers
to pay off the full consideration within an agreed time frame while
developments are still ongoing, rather than on the completion of
the relevant properties. Such advance payment schemes result
in contract liabilities being recognised throughout the remaining
property development period for the full amount of the contract
price. In addition, the contract liabilities will be increased by the
amount of interest expense being accrued by the Group to reflect
the effect of any significant financing benefit obtained from the
customers during the period between the payment date and
the date of delivery of property to customers. As this accrual
increases the amount of the contract liabilities during the period
of development, it therefore increases the amount of revenue
recognised when control of the completed property is transferred to
the customer.

23 SHARGE)

HEERANEESEBEXRFEN—MRIM
ESSUNNE
EEEE
BETR - AEBEREFEMRBNERTT

Hif - M EERBYEERR - BT
[RAMNBZEEE - ZFRNABEREH

BEREBES ITYEREDRNSOETHR
FER © WAN - BHREREAREEEOF

BRXEBMEN - ARBRAKAERMY
ETEFPHNBEMNEFPESNERNERRE
MR E - MR LR IR B 1L 1R HIRE
MENBESRE ExIYERNOEHEER
ERFPRERNKRGE S RITSEM -

Movements in contract liabilities EHNEERH
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET ARETFT
Balance at 1 January B1A1B AR 3,902,358 1,971,295
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of FRERBERETETA
recognising revenue during the year that was BHEREEHENAERE
included in the contract liabilities at the Vo
beginning of the year (1,152,938) (1,268,678)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of receiving F N8 BRI R YIS
advanced payments of sales of properties in SHE W S TEURIE R TE U
respect of properties still under constructionand ~ EEERBEEHE L
advanced service fee of properties management & &1
during the year 2,380,741 2,291,942
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 21(e)) WA A (MtEE21(e) - 2,499,428
Decrease in contract liabilities by acquired FARRBWABBUWETA
subsidiaries as a result of recognising revenue H&aREaERD>
during the year = (1,627,128)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 21(f)) HETF AR (MIEE21(H) (460,750) (34,151)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of BHETT N SR EH AL
accruing interest expense on advances BEEm 15,210 69,650
Balance at 31 December 12831 B R4 4,684,621 3,902,358
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23

24

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bi 7% #R 3R By &

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Cont'd)

Movements in contract liabilities (Cont’d)

The amounts of billings received advance payment of sales of

properties expected to be recognised as income after more than one

year is RMB436,750,000 (2021: RMB127,917,000).

BANKLOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

At 31 December 2022, the Group’s bank loans and other borrowings

are repayable as follows:

23

24

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

eHAaR(E)

EHNEEEH(E)

TEEr—F A LR AR AR TBU I S HE K
TH A A R 436,750,000 7T (20214 © AR
127,917,0007C) °

HITERREMEE
R2022F12A31H » AEBMIRTERKE
HEENERBRIT

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T ARET T
Bank loans IRITHER
Current TED
- bank loans and other borrowings —IRITERREMER 245,004 60,000
— current portion of non-current bank loans and —IERBIBRITERREMEERN
other borrowings mENEs D 347,341 471,631
592,345 531,631
Non-current IERE
- repayable after 1 year but within 2 years ——FREMFRER 1,858,404 793,353
- repayable after 2 years but within 5 years —MERERFNER 2,310,419 1,555,297
- repayable after 5 years —hFIRER 148,529 391,042
4,317,352 2,739,692
4,909,697 3,271,323

At 31 December 2022, the loans and borrowings were secured as

R2022F12 8318 » RITEEERIB LW

follows: T
2022 2021
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
Secured A 535,017 818,361
Secured and guaranteed HEIRFR T 4,374,680 2,452,962
4,909,697 3,271,323
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRSAEHEHAI - HAARKTIR)

24 BANKLOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Cont'd)

(a)

Certain banking facilities and borrowings of the Group are
subject to the fulfilment of covenants relating to: (1) certain
of the Group’s operating subsidiaries’ statement of financial
position ratios; (2) restriction of profit distribution by certain of
its operating subsidiaries; or (3) early repayment of principal
to be triggered when 50% to 70% of the gross sellable area for
the underlying property project are sold. These requirements
are commonly found in lending arrangements with financial
institutions. If the Group was to breach such covenants, the
drawn down facilities would become repayable on demand.
The Group regularly monitors its compliance with these
covenants and communicates with its lenders as and when the
directors foresee any non-compliance due to business needs.

As at 31 December 2022, certain bank loans of RMB8,500,000
had not been repaid on schedule or otherwise renewed or
extended. At 31 December 2022 and 2021, there is no advanced
redemption requested by certain banks due to not applying
with the imposed covenants as set out in the above.

Bank loans guaranteed by related parties

As at 31 December 2022, bank loans of RMB1,696,600,000 (2021:
RMB952,300,000) were jointly guaranteed by Cai Hongwen and
Zeng Yunshu.

As at 31 December 2022, bank loans of RMB685,400,000 (2021:
RMB1,337,600,000) were jointly guaranteed by Zengsheng,
Zeng Yunshu and Junsheng Holdings.

As at 31 December 2022, bank loans of RMB920,000,000 (2021:
Nil) were jointly guaranteed by Zengsheng, Zeng Yunshu and
Zeng Ruisen and Junsheng Holdings.

As at 31 December 2022, bank loans of RMB39,862,281 (2021:
RMB64,862,280) were jointly guaranteed by Wong Choi Hing
and Wang Xianyu.

As at 31 December 2022, bank loans of RMB88,000,000 (2021:
Nil) were jointly guaranteed by Zengsheng, Zeng Yunshu,
Zhong Weizhen and RXHD Holdings.

(a)
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

24 BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Cont'd) 24 FITERRHEMES(E)

(c) Bank loans and other borrowings bear interest at a weighted () #H=Z=2022F12A831BHILFEMRTE
average rate of 5.80% per annum for the year ended 31 TR B A8 R IR N S 15 S 1 2 5.80%
December 2022 (2021: 5.96% per annum), and are secured by (20214 : FF|E596%)51 5 * WIAT
the following assets: HIBEVEEA -

2022 2021
RMB’'000 RMB’'000

AR®TT ARETT

Completed properties held for sale FEETIME 738,810 464,158
Properties held for and under development RRFFAEYZE 3,841,210 4,752,322
Investment properties (note 11(b)) wEYZ(HEE11(0) 648,900 1,150,900
Property, plant and equipment (note 10) Y - BB MR (FF3E10) 158,508 359,293
5,387,428 6,726,673

25 SENIOR NOTES 25 BEREE
2022 2021
RMB’'000 RMB’'000

AR¥T T ARETTT

Current B
US$75 million senior notes due in 2022 (i) 2022 H| B 75 B BT
B E) - 468,614
US$75 million senior notes due in 2023 (i) 2023FF| B 75 B X T
BRZIE) 511,898 -
US$303.62 million senior notes due in 2023 (ii) 20234FF|HAK)303.62F BETT
1B K (i) 2,097,882 .
2,609,780 468,614
Non-current FERE
US$303.62 million senior notes due in 2023 (ii) 2023F E|HARI303.62H BBE T
18 S 21K (i) - 1,877,848
= 1,877,848
2,609,780 2,346,462
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BAARKEFIR)

25 SENIOR NOTES (Cont'd)

Notes:

0]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

202 GUANGDONG - HONG KONG GREATER BAY AREA HOLDINGS LIMITED 2 78 & 152

On 25 May 2021, the Company issued a senior notes of US$75,000,000
(equivalent to RMB483,480,000) with a coupon rate of 12% per
annum. The net proceeds from the senior notes, after deducting the
transaction costs, of US$73,500,000 (equivalent to RMB473,810,000)
was received by the Company on 26 May 2021. This senior notes has
been exchanged to a new senior notes with no change in the principal
amount and annual coupon rate but the maturity extended to May
2023 (the “May 2023 Senior Notes”). Interest expense on May 2023
Senior Notes is calculated using the effective interest rate of 13.2% per
annum. As of the date of this report, the Company has not made the
interest payment due in November 2022 under the May 2023 Senior
Notes. The Company has launched an exchange offer in relation to
the May 2023 Senior Notes and October 2023 Senior Notes (defined as
below), for details please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 17 April 2023 and 26 April 2023.

On 12 October 2021, the Company issued senior notes with principal
amount of US$277,220,000, a coupon rate of 13.85% due in October
2023(the “October 2023 Senior Notes”), of which US$235,720,000 was
issued pursuant to an exchange offer and US$41,500,000 was issued
through a concurrent new money issuance. Interest expense on this
tranche of October 2023 Senior Notes is calculated using effective
interest rate of 15.15% per annum.

On 15 December 2021, the Company issued additional October 2023
Senior Notes with principal of US$26,400,000, which together with the
US$277,220,000 of the October 2023 Senior Notes issued on 12 October
2021, constituting an aggregate principal amount of US$303,620,000
October 2023 Senior Notes. The net proceeds from the additional
October 2023 Senior Notes, after including interest in arrear and
deducting the transaction costs, of US$27,078,000 was received by the
Company on 15 December 2021. Interest expense on this additional
October 2023 Senior Notes is calculated using the effective interest rate
of 15.01% per annum.

As of the date of this report, the Company has not made the interest
payment due in October 2022 and April 2023 under the October
2023 Senior Notes. The Company has launched an exchange offer in
relation to the May 2023 Senior Notes and October 2023 Senior Notes,
for details please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
17 April 2023 and 26 April 2023.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group failed to pay off a US$29,093,000
(equivalent to RMB196,592,000) senior notes’ interests under the May
2023 Senior Notes and the October 2023 Senior Notes, a failure to pay
the interest of the senior notes has caused an event of default pursuant
to the terms and conditions of the senior note agreements. As a result,
the holders of the senior notes have right to demand for immediate
repayment on the outstanding principal together with accrued
interests. However, up to the date of this report, there is no redemption
notice of the senior notes received in respect of the May 2023 Senior
Notes and the October 2023 Senior Notes.

As stated in note (i) and (ii) above and note 40(iii) of the consolidated
financial statements, the Company has launched an exchange offer in
relation to the outstanding senior notes on 17 April 2023 (“Exchange
Offer”), and pursuant to the Company’s announcement dated 26 April
2023, 100% of the total aggregate principal amount of the outstanding
senior noted due in May 2023, and approximately 94.8% of the total
aggregate principal amount of the outstanding senior notes due in
October 2023, have been validly tendered for exchange and accepted
pursuant to the Exchange Offer. For details, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 17 April 2023 and 26 April 2023.

25 BEAERE(E)
3T -

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

26 AMOUNTS DUE TO CONTROLLING 26 FEfHERBERRIA
SHAREHOLDERS
Amounts due to controlling shareholders are unsecured, interest- FEREIERRIR R RIEABER - B - A&
free and have no fixed repayment terms. B EETEEFER -

27 LEASE LIABILITIES 27 HRAR
The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of TRET T AFEMURFEREHONER
the Group’s lease liabilities at the end of the current and previous SEHEAENFBEREIER -

reporting periods:

2022 2021
Present Present
value of the Total value of the Total
minimum minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments

REHE AR RIEHE et RIE
NRERE HEARE (FERE HENTE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®TR ARETT ARETR

Within 1 year —F R 3,736 3,810 8,473 10,400
After 1 year but within 2 years —FRERFELAR 626 644 8,070 9,983
After 2 years but within 5years ~ MFEBRFEUA - - 19,252 24,344
After 5 years hFE - - - -
626 644 27,322 34,327

4,362 4,454 35,795 44,727

Less: total future interest expenses 3, : Z5T KK F| B & (92) (8,932)
Present value of lease liabilities ~ FAE&EIRE 4,362 35,795
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(BR=HEAN - GAAREIITR)

28 DEFERRED INCOME 28 EFEUTA
2022 2021
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR%F T AREBTT
At 1 January M1A1R 259,268 349,119
Movement during the year FANEH)
- Government grants received (i) — B URER AT BN () 24,500 76,780
- Utilisation —B2&A (80,790) (143,053)
— Recognised in other income related to — BRI EYERBET S ERE
investment properties HABA (1,060) -
- Disposal of subsidiaries (note 21(f)) HEFRE(HFFE216) - (23,578)
At 31 December M12H31H 201,918 259,268
Note: BT -
(i)  Pursuant to the respective agreements between the Group and (i) WBEAEEEEMWBNRINEBRE &%

29

local governments, such grants are for subsidising the infrastructure
construction of certain projects undertaken by certain subsidiaries of
the Group, including Yantai Trade Center, Jining Logistics Center, Heze
Industrial, Mianyang Trade Center, Wuzhou Trade Center, Lanzhou
Trade Center, Ganzhou Trade Center, Heze Trade Center and Yulin

Trade Center.

OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

Other current liabilities represent discounted bills which are pledged
by cash deposit of the Group (see note 20) and expired within one

year.

EMHPERMMARENR LT RARMAZE
ATHEMNERREESR  BREaHETR
S BEYRTL  SHREE  KERETD
& BEMEEROMBEMEEDL - BINE
Brd  SEREROREMEEFRL

29 HfuiBh &R
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

30 OTHERFINANCIAL LIABILITIES 30 Htt &M AR

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETTT

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (i)  ABEERK AT 2L RIE &)

- amount due to a non-controlling interest — FE IR S S 5E 352,605 863,535

Financial liabilities measured at FVTPL (ii) LAFT =8B E &)

- Estimated compensation payable —HET R EEE 87,515 84,184
440,120 947,719

Notes: Bk -

(i)  As at 31 December 2022, the amount due to a non-controlling () HZE202F12A8318 AL BLEAH
interest with an aggregate principal amount of SGD67,586,000, 67,586,000 ¥7T fn ¥ T - & R &
equivalent to RMB352,605,000 (2021: SGD186,206,000, equivalent 352,605,000 7T, ( 20214 : 186,206,000 %7 il
to RMB863,535,000) is jointly guaranteed by the Company and two TE e AR #863,5350007T ) ) IEE Hﬂg
subsidiaries of the Group, interest-bearing from 12% to 15% and is HRIEABRAATMEERARNKWE LR
repayable after one year. BER §+,%\$7,%12%§15%E1%3§E@E*

FUALHFRIE -

(i) The Group estimated the compensation payable for additional land (i) ANEBR019FHERREZETARRA
costs and relevant future tax expenses to be incurred to a previously BER T(EMW F13()) 4Rt R EITERT T B
wholly owned subsidiary, which was disposed to Beijing Sunac, LB AR B AR R B o

currently a jointly venture of the Group, in 2019 (see note 13(a)).
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31

32

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS
Defined contribution retirement plans

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“the MPF
scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by independent trustees.
Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

As stipulated by the regulations of the PRC, the Group participates
in various defined contribution retirement plans organised by
municipal and provincial governments for its employees. The Group is
required to make contributions to the retirement plans ranging from
10% to 20% of the salaries, bonuses and certain allowances of the
employees. A member of the plan is entitled to a pension equal to a
fixed proportion of the salary prevailing at the member’s retirement
date. The Group has no other material obligation for the payment
of pension benefits associated with these plans beyond the annual
contributions described above.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, there is no forfeited
contribution which may be used by the Group to reduce the existing
level of contribution.

EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

On 12 June 2020, the Group offered to grant share options to
subscribe for a total of 175,400,000 shares of HK$0.01 each in the
capital of the Company to 5 directors and certain eligible employees.
Based on the acceptance confirmation signed by grantees,
164,200,000 share options were accepted for nil consideration. Each
option gives the holder the right to subscribe for one ordinary share
of the Company and is settled gross in shares. The exercise price is
HKS$0.5 per share.

On 7 December 2020, the Group offered to grant share options to
subscribe for a total of 54,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each in the
capital of the Company to 43 certain eligible employees. Based on
the acceptance confirmation signed by grantees, 54,000,000 share
options were accepted for nil consideration. Each option gives the
holder the right to subscribe for one ordinary share of the Company
and is settled gross in shares. The exercise price is HK$0.5 per share.

31

32

{& BB Fig#l
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32 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

(Cont'd)

On 19 January 2022, the Group offered to grant share options to
subscribe for a total of 30,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each in the
capital of the Company to an executive directors. Based on the
acceptance confirmation signed by grantees, 30,000,000 share
options were accepted for nil consideration. Each option gives the
holder the right to subscribe for one ordinary share of the Company
and is settled gross in shares. The exercise price is HK$0.5 per share.

On 26 June 2022, the Group offered to grant share options to
subscribe for a total of 30,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each in the
capital of the Company to an executive directors. Based on the
acceptance confirmation signed by grantees, 30,000,000 share
options were accepted for nil consideration. Each option gives the
holder the right to subscribe for one ordinary share of the Company
and is settled gross in shares. The exercise price is HK$0.5 per share.

(i)  The terms and conditions of the options granted are as follows:

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

32 RIEBRLUKMNBERNIS(E)

R2022F1A198 - A& E B EERET
Bm—2FEAEBSNRATEZTZLOR T
BE BRENRBAARTRBRARAG K
30,000,000% &A% H 1B £0.01 B TTHIAR () © 1R
BRRTHRESOEMNMERE + 30,000,000
s EEREEER - BHERESE T
BEARE—BRAR L BAAEF - WA
TRELE o (THREABIREST °

M202%F6 A228 + AEBERIZERE
Elm— 2 EaEBNATESTZORD
B BRETRBAQREIPEH
30,000,000% & IR E{E £0.01/ 8 TTHIAR (D © 1R
B THREZENE ML © 30,000,000
DEEERREEER - BHERELSE T
BEARBE—BRAGTEBAES - WA
FRELEE - (TREAEREKIST -

(i) PR TR ERAMGEG T -

Number of
instruments
TEYE

Options granted on 12 June 2020 M2020F6 A 12BE THERESE
- directors —E% 42,700,000
- employees —8T 132,700,000
Percentage of Contractual
vested shares life of options
B E R G B
Vesting date AI{TRER Ak EEHR
1 April 2021 2021F4 H1H 30% 12 months 12{E A
1 April 2022 2022F4 H1H 30% 24 months 24{E A
1 April 2023 2023F4 A1 H 40% 36 months 361E A
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32 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

32 LiEREHEMKRHXS ()

(Cont'd)
(i)  The terms and conditions of the options granted are as follows: (i) FTRTERENGESIAEGDT - (8)
(Cont'd)

Number of
instruments
TEgE

Options granted on 7 December 2020 #2020F 12 A7B R FERESE
- employees —8T 54,000,000
Percentage of Contractual
vested shares life of options
B E R 5 BRE
Vesting date AI{TREH Aot SRR
1 April 2021 20214 A1 H 30% 6 months 61 A
1 April 2022 2022F4 H1H 30% 18 months 181 A
1 April 2023 2023FF4 A1 H 40% 30 months 301E A
Number of
instruments
TEHE

Options granted on 19 January 2022 R2022F1 A19R R FIERESS
— director —E5 30,000,000
Percentage of Contractual
vested shares life of options
B E R B IR R
Vesting date AI{TRER Bk EREHR
1 April 2022 2022F4 A1 H 30% 5 months 51& A
1 April 2023 2023F4 A1 H 30% 17 months 171 A
1 April 2024 2024F4 51 H 40% 29 months 291E A
Number of
instruments
TEgE

Options granted on 26 June 2022 202256 H26 X TR EEE
— director —EF 30,000,000
Percentage of Contractual
vested shares life of options
B E R4 B E
Vesting date AI{TREH Aot SRR
1 April 2023 2023F4H1H 30% 12 months 121 A
1 April 2024 2024F4H1H 30% 24 months 241E A
1 April 2025 2025F4 A1 H 40% 36 months 361 A
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(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

32 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 32 LIESRANKRNES(E)
(Cont'd)
(ii) The number and the average exercise price of share option are (i) EERREERSE MINEFHITEERT -
as follows:
2022 2021
Average Number of Average Number of
exercise price share options exercise price  share options
Y I
THEE BREHE TEE IERREEE
Outstanding at 1 January M A1ERITE HK$0.50 123,200,000 HK$0.50 202,400,000
0.50/8 7T 0.50/87T
Granted B¥ HK$0.50 60,000,000 =
0.5078 7T
Lapsed HAR 3 HK$0.50  (120,680,000) HK$0.50 (79,200,000)
0.505& 7T 0.50/87T
Adjusted during the year TR G e
upon completion of share RE AR
consolidation (note 33(c)(i))  (FMIEF33()(i)) (56,268,000) -
Outstanding at 31 December 12 A31HK17{E HK$5.00 6,252,000 HK$0.50 123,200,000
5.00/ 7T 0.50/8 7T
Exercisable at 31 December 712831 AJ{7{# HK$5.00 - HK$0.50 -
5.00/8 7T 0.50/8 7T
Note: The number and average exercise price of the share Mizk : ZEBERENEE RTFHITEEY
options have been adjusted to reflect the effect of the share EAEFE - ARMA 202249 AT
consolidation completed in September 2022. ZRNEHTE -
No options were exercised during the year ended 31 December REZE2021%2022F 12 A31AEFE -
2021 and 2022. BB BARRE R ITE
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRSAEHEHAI - HAARKTIR)

32 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 32 LIESRFENRAZSH(K)

(Cont'd)

(iii) Fair value of share options and assumptions (iii) BRENAAEEREE
The fair value of services received in return for share options AR T HERERBRN RSN AEE
granted is measured by reference to the fair value of share 2BETHERENAALBENS - &
options granted. The estimate of the fair value of the share THBERENAABEMGGTEEN IR
options granted is measured based on a binomial lattice model. AR REEITEHER - BRENSF
The contractual life of the share option is used as an input into B REZ R B A - FHETTER
this model. Expectations of early exercise are incorporated into B A ZIA A AR R A -

the binomial lattice model.

The following table lists the inputs to the model used: TRINE T ARG A
Share options granted on
RTFHBRER
26/6/2022 19/1/2022 7/12/2020 12/6/2020

Fair value per share option at FAXEEIERN A7 HK$0.031 HK$0.069 HK$0.091 HK$0.179
measurement date B 0.0317& 7T 0.06978 7T 0.091787T 0.179/%8 7T

Share price (note) eSS HK$2.50 HK$4.10 HK$4.10 HK$4.95

25058 7T 4.10587T 410/87T 49587

Exercise price (note) TEER (M) HK$5.00 HK$5.00 HK$5.00 HK$5.00

5.0078 7T 5.0078 7T 5.00/87C 5.00/87T

Expected volatility (expressed FEELRENR (KRR E 50.99%- 46.55%- 50.41%- 65.5%-—
as weighted average IR AR RA 56.59% 54.89% 64.61% 67.24%
volatility used in the R A E It
modelling under binomial R ENE)
lattice model)

Option life (expressed as BB (R TR 1- 0.4- 0.6- 1.05-
weighted average life used IR T 3 years 2.4 years 2.6 years 3.05 years
in the modelling under PR R hE 1-35 0.4-2.4% 0.6-2.6F  1.05-3.05%F
binomial lattice model) S ERER)

Expected dividends TEHARR B 0% 0% 0% 0%

Risk-free interest rate i P 1 2.33%- 0.2%- 0.1%- 0.22%-~

2.73% 0.88% 0.18% 0.34%
Note:  The share price and exercise price has been adjusted to reflect st - ZEREERRITEERDERE
the effect of the share consolidation completed in September DA B 7220229 A SRR FI AR 1D & BF
2022. -7 - )

The fair value of the share options granted in year 2022 was 025 NETHBREN A AEBER

RMB2,677,000. During the year ended 31 December 2022, AR #2,677,0007T ° 7B E 20224 12

the Group recognised total expenses of RMB5,434,000 (2021: ANBLLFE  AEEFAEERE 2

RMB11,619,000) in relation to share options granted by the FE AR RETE SR P S 4B BE A R 6 5,434,0007T

Group. (20214 : AR#11,619,0007T) °
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

33 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 33 % - EWEERR
(@) Movements in components of equity (a) HEZAKZDHET
The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances AEBEEHERSEKE D FEYVESE
of each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set RERNWEREN G HERFEEHR - K
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details NalE=ERAK B RETNEFRE
of the changes in the Company’s individual components of SEFFEEINAT
equity between the beginning and the end of the year are set
out below:
Equity settled
Capital share-based
Share Share  redemption Capital payment Exchange  Accumulated Total
capital  premium reserve reserve feserve reserve losses equity
WEREEN
Bx LUE]
The Company | Rk RAEE  EERE 0 EARE  ARERE  ENXRE 0 ZHEFR ERAR

RVBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  AMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO
ARRTL  ARETR  ARETR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARMTR

3(q) 33(d)i) 33(d)(v) 33(d)(iv) 33(d)ii)

Balance at 1 January 2021 R011E1818 36,598 1,188,276 120 1,386,109 8,666 114713 (1.217,079) 1,517,403
Changesinequityfor2021: 2021 EB%%E :
Lossand total comprehensive ~ EAEERZEHNA

income for the year &% - - - - - 9215 (349,204) (307,009)
Equity settled share-based ARG BRI

transactions 25 - = = e 11619 = = 11619
At31December2021and 20215128318 R

1January 2022 001718 36,598 1,188,276 120 1,386,109 20,285 156,928 (1,566,303) 1,222,013
Changesinequityfor2022: 20225 B%%E :
Lossand total comprehensive  FAEERZEHA

income for the year a5 - - - - - 94,856 (604679)  (509,823)
Equity settled share-based ARG BRI

transactions % - - - - 5434 - - 5434
Lapsed of scheme options ~ FE S HRItTE - - - - (20,167) = 20,167 =
Balance at 31 December 2022 14202212 31H 36,598 1,188,276 120 1,386,109 5552 251,784 (2,150,815) 717,624
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRSAEHEHAI - HAARKTIR)

33 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Cont'd) 33 B&%F - GEEREE ()
(b) Dividends (b) BRE
For the year ended 31 December 2022, no final dividend in HE202F12A3MBIEFE - BiEH
respect of the previous financial year was approved and paid LR BB EERRERE
(2021: Nil). (20214 - &) o
The directors did not propose the payment of any final dividend RREBRER IR REIRE -

subsequent to year end.

(c) Share capital (¢ BA&
Authorised capital: ETERRA
Number of Nominal
shares value
RDEE HE
‘000 HK$'000
TR FHET
As at 1 January 2021, ordinary shares of R2021F1H18 - BREE
HK$0.01 each 0.01787T 2 BB 8,000,000 80,000
As at 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022, 72021124318 &2022F1H18 -
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each SREEE T Bk 8,000,000 80,000
Share consolidation (i) Bt & OF ) (7,200,000) =
As at 31 December 2022, ordinary shares of 720226128318 - BREE
HK$0.1 each 0.178 7L 2 BBk 800,000 80,000
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

33 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Cont'd) 33 B&&F - GEfmR B2 ()
(c) Share capital (Cont’d) () BA(#7)
Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid: EEITREE 2 LB
Number of Nominal Nominal
shares value value
RGEE HE HE
‘000 HK$’000 RMB’000
Tz THET ARBTTT

Asat 1 January 2021, ordinary 220211818 » SR EE
shares of HK$0.01 each 0.0 T2 L@ 4,537,354 45,373 36,598

As at 31 December 2021 and 2021512 4318 K2022%
1 January 2022, ordinary shares 1818 &&E{H0.01/8 7T
of HK$0.01 each 2 4,537,354 45,373 36,598

Share consolidation (i) f&1n& B () (4,083,619) = =

As at 31 December 2022, ordinary 722022128318 - B EE

shares of HK$0.1 each 0.8 EER 453,735 45,373 36,598

(i)  Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders (i) IRBEAQFREN202269 723087

of the Company at a extraordinary general meeting on 23 IR gimiA s TlRER

September 2022, every ten share of the Company of HK$0.01 each 10REREBELONABTZAARRMDE

were consolidated into one consolidated share of HK$0.1 each. HRIREREMBIEITZE RN

All the shares issued during the year rank pari passu with the FIBREARAZEITZRNNE A EERR
existing shares of the Company in all aspects. AIRA RN ZHAERMAL
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN

BAARKEFIR)

33 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Cont'd)

(d)

Reserves

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the
share premium account of the Company may be applied
for payment of distributions or dividends to shareholders
provided that immediately following the date on which
the distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the
Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business.

PRC statutory reserve

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Group’s
PRC subsidiaries and relevant statutory regulations,
appropriations to the statutory reserve fund were made
at 10% of profit after tax determined in accordance with
accounting rules and regulations of the PRC until the
reserve balance reaches 50% of the registered capital. This
reserve fund can be utilised in setting off accumulated
losses or increasing capital of the PRC subsidiaries
provided that the balance after such conversion is not
less than 25% of their registered capital, and is non-
distributable other than in liquidation.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all relevant exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of operations with functional currency other
than Renminbi. The reserve is dealt with in accordance
with the accounting policy set out in note 1(x).

Equity settled share-based payment reserve

Equity settled share-based payment reserve represents
the fair value of the actual or estimated number of
unexercised share options granted to employees of the
Group in accordance with the accounting policy adopted
for share-based payments in note 1(t)(ii).

33 IRE EERERE ()
]

(d)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf #& 35 R Mf 5t

33 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Cont'd)

(d)

Reserves (Cont'd)
(v) Capital reserve

Capital reserve is resulted from transactions with owners
in their capacity as the equity owners. The balance
comprises capital reserve surplus/deficit arising from the
difference between the disposal/acquisition consideration
and its net assets value at the respective date of disposal/
acquisition, and the capital reserve transferring from the
equity settled share-based payment reserve.

(vi) Reserve-transaction with non-controlling interests

The balance represents difference between the net
identifiable assets and the consideration paid for
acquisition of non-controlling interests.

Distributability of reserves

As at 31 December 2022, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands, amounted to approximately
RMB681,026,000 (2021: RMB1,185,415,000), which may be
distributed provided that immediately following the date on
which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company
will be in a position to pay off its debts as and when they fall
due in the ordinary course of business.

Capital management

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
in order to fund its property development projects, provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, by
pricing properties commensurately with the level of risk and by
securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to maintain a balance between the higher
shareholder returns that might be possible with higher levels
of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a
sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital
structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

33 BRE EERERE ()

(d)

e ()

v) BFEE
BERHERE BHEA AN D
BASMETHRS - BHEeREH
&/ WEHERBRLE WEA
HEEFENZEMELEAHE
Efh AL DA B AR RS
B AR AN AT R E R R B B AN
e

(i) 1R —BEHZEREZHIXE
RERRTE T BB B R E B M U
TR BERERR ©

A kA

MR2022%12A31H ' REFESHEER
BERTEMNARRIHEYIRFEHN B
AR #681,026,0007T (20214F : AR
1,185,415,0007T) * ;ZEREITIEDIE -
EEEERZRERESBHE  AQFHE
BENEEATEBBERRNEIEER -

ARER
FEBERAFNEEE BAREAE
R EER NN - AR RR
ARG S - ARAEREARKT R
AERABARARDNFABYETE
B A AR M EL A R a6 AR B TR (21 3R
KRz

ARERETDERRE R AR
- LR REE KT T E RS
AR I SRR AR K 0B S
RERZBOTE - B RECERRL
B A -
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(BR=HEAN - GAAREIITR)

33 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Cont'd) 33 B&%F - KRR ()
(f) Capital management (Cont'd) (H EBEXREE(E)
The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of gearing AEBERBEEABLREREERLE
ratio. The Group defines this ratio as interest-bearing liabilities B AEEATHLEREFEAR
(including bank loans and other borrowings, senior notes and (BREEZREMEMNT  RITERK
other financial liabilities) divided by total assets of the Group. Hinfge  BEEREHEMSHEE)
At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the gearing ratio of the Group FRUARSE BB ELAE - 7020224 %2021
was calculated as follows: F12A318 - XEBZEEABLEN
T
2022 2021
RMB’'000 RMB’'000

AR®T T ARETT

Bank loans and other borrowings RITERNMEMEE 4,909,697 3,271,323
Senior notes BERR 2,609,780 2,346,462
Other financial liabilities Himeh &’ 352,605 863,535
Total interest-bearing liabilities FFEER 7,872,082 6,481,320
Total assets BEE 22,707,401 23,872,965
Gearing ratio BEAGHEE 34.7% 27.1%
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to RAEHH R F R R ZINEBHEN
externally imposed capital requirements. HYE IR E AR ©
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34 DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

In September 2022, the Group entered into an equity transfer
agreement with an independent third party whereby the Group
agreed to dispose of its 60% equity interest in Hangzhou Xinan
Yuerong Enterprise Limited (“Xinan Yuerong”), together with its
subsidiary. Xinan Yuerong is principally engaged in the property
development in the PRC. The transfer of the equity interest is
expected to be completed before the end of 2023. Accordingly, the
assets and liabilities of Xinan Yuerong as at 31 December 2022 were
classified as a disposal group held for sale.

An impairment loss of RMB112,478,000 is recognised as other losses
in the consolidated income statement, being the difference of Xinan
Yuerong'’s fair value less costs to sell and its carrying amount as at 31
December 2022.

The major classes of assets and liabilities of Xinan Yuerong classified
as held for sale as at 31 December 2022 were as follows:

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

34 HEFSHR

R2022F9H  AEEE—FBIE =7
VREEERS  BUEAERREHEER
MMOERBEEERAB([LRER])
HERHENMBRTI0%HIIE - DEHAEE
R RN EFHERM o ZREERTBHR
2023FFRATFTEA © Bt - DEIHE R 2022
FRANEHNEERBER D BEARFERE
#7 -

AR #112,478,000 7T B9 5 B BT B EL & K
TRPIEAEMEBERER  HALZHER
2022F 12 A31BMAFEERE TSR A E
HERAEHRNEE -

DEIEBER2022F12 A31BMEER AER
DIEAFBEFENEZERINT ¢

2022

RMB’000

ARET T

Property, plant and equipment Y% - BREREE 1,685
Deferred tax assets FEFTSREE 1,300
Inventories and other contract costs FEREMAERKAK 173,963
Trade and other receivables H 5 K H b EGR 217,960
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEY 36
Impairment of assets classified as held for sale SN RFAREEERE (112,478)
Total assets classified as held of sale SHEALEGEARNNEERE 282,466
Trade and other payables B 5 REMERR 54,425
Lease liabilities HEREMN® 756
Deferred tax liabilities FEFTSREaE 12,285
Total liabilities classified as held of sale SEALEGFEARNNEERE 67,466
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN - GAAREIITR)

35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 35 SMERERRARE

VALUES

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate, currency risks and equity REBR—MEKBREBTFEHEE  KH
price risk arises in the normal course of the Group’s business. The M RE . BEERRERREEERRE
Group is also exposed to equity price risk arising from its equity REENMEHFEEMEBHREREES
investments in other entities. MR E =

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk AEERE AR EAER AERZZRER
management policies and practices used by the Group to manage kA 2 TR B R B KB HIEER AT

these risks are described below.

(a) Creditrisk (a)

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on
its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the
Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash
and cash equivalents and pledged and restricted cash, trade
and other receivables and other financial assets. The Group
maintains a defined credit policy and the exposures to these
credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis. The Group’s
cash and cash equivalents and pledged and restricted cash are
mainly deposited in financial institutions such as commercial
banks which maintain sound reputation and financial situation.
The credit risk is considered low.

Except for the financial guarantees given by the Group as
set out in note 37, the Group does not provide any other
guarantees which would expose the group to credit risk. The
maximum exposure to credit risk in respect of these financial
guarantees at the end of the reporting period is disclosed in
note 37.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf #& 35 R Mf 5t

35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (Cont'd)

(a)

Credit risk (Cont’d)

Trade receivables and other receivables and other financial
assets

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than
the industry or country in which the customers operate and
therefore significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers. At the end of the reporting period, 85% (2021: 75%)
of the total trade receivables was due from a customer which
is a government authority with good credibility. Although
the aging of that related trade receivable is past due over one
year, the Group considers that the credit risk is low. Normally,
the Group does not obtain collateral from customers but the
Group only assists the buyer to obtain the individual property
ownership certificate upon the full settlement of receivables
from the buyer.

In respect of loans to third parties and other debtors, regular
review and follow-up actions are carried out on long-aged
other receivables and any default incurred, which enable
management to assess their recoverability and to minimise
exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk is
represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset in
the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade and other
receivables and loans to the third parties included in other non-
current assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is
calculated using a provision matrix.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

35 RMEREERERARMEGE)

(a)

SRRk (E)
ESERNERAMERERIM
THEE
AEESXEHARRNEEFEZSR
PR P EEMETERBRNER
BEYE  REARBREEETFEESR
AEBSZEAARNZFRAKRREAE
RERERR - E 5 R W GKIEAEERI85%
(2021%F : 75% ) BEKR—BEFHR
B ZEBF2—EERTEENBUTKE
o BERBERFENIRRD ARG
—F  ZEEREBZERRRK - —%
mE @ AEETEREFREUEESR -
BR  REEEFREMNERERELRE
B EFESAASEE#ME

EA3
g °

FRAE =T ERFEMRYGRIEMS -
B HREB R E M B R FIEETT
E MR MIREBOE G - e B A
BRAR  ElEEEB RSN
U 1m0 14 30 38 8 %515 A LB i D B8 2 A&k
1K - sRAE AR O B ERE P EIRR
RPNERTHEENREERT

AEEREEREHRBERABENS
B(ARBREEAE)RGAEEZ S REM
ERUFARBEEHMIERBEET &
WHE=TTERERERE -
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRSAEHEHAI - HAARKTIR)

35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES (Cont'd)
(@) Creditrisk (Cont'd)

Trade receivables and other receivables and other financial

assets (Cont’d)

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade and other receivables

(a) =RmEER(E)

35 RMEREERERARMEGE)

ESEUFAREMERSBERAM

EHEEH)

RS AR B P IE e (S R R Bt A
KBS NEMEWRAREEE=TE

and loans to the third parties: FIEEAERIEENER
2022 2022
Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
R ER FRE#AE EiERE
% RMB’000 RMB’000
% ARET T AR%ET
Current (not past due) or BIEA (k381 87 ) st 481 BF
past due within 90 days for T 8:B90H
- trade receivables — B WA - 2,666 -
- other receivables — H b fE IR - 521,974 (43)
- finance lease receivables —BEHERKFUE - 1,547 =
- amounts due from joint — RS ERENRIE
ventures 48.28% 59,274 (28,620)
Financial assets measured at LA SERANETERN SR
amortised cost BE 40.19% 54,399 (21,860)
More than 90 days past due 1 HBAERE90 H
— trade receivables — B S EWFIE 13.37% 238,791 (31,937)
- other receivables — B ftb FEHRRIE 18.98% 691,845 (131,291)
- finance lease receivables — R E & G 100.00% 9,767 (9,767)
— amount due from Thailand — R A“ﬁé% RIE
Joint Ventures (note 13(a)) (MiEE13(@)) 100.00% 19,613 (19,613)
Financial assets measured at DABESER ARSI EM S/t
amortised cost BE 100.00% 3,559 (3,559)
1,603,435 (246,690)
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (Cont'd)

(@) Credit risk (Cont'd) (a) IEHREMK(E)
ESEKFEREMERSEREM

35 RMEREERERAREGE)

Trade receivables and other receivables and other financial

assets (Cont'd) THEEE)
2021 20214F
Expected  Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEHAESIE X IRMEEE ik
% RMB’000 RMB’000
% AREFIT AREFIT
Current (not past due) or BNER (SR HR) ok aa HA
past due within 90 days for T EiE90H
— trade receivables —E S EKIE 0.52% 14,885 77)
- other receivables — H hEYRIA 3.09% 1,656,469 (51,259)
- finance lease receivables — RV A E RN GIR 4.67% 18,471 (862)
- amounts due from joint — IR A E B FEFIA
ventures - 58,982 -
More than 90 days past due 0 BAHR 390 B
— trade receivables — B S EKIE 4.59% 279,786 (12,845)
— other receivables — H A R F0E 100.00% 11,125 (11,125)
- finance lease receivables — AR ERIKFIE 100.00% 11,220 (11,220)
- amount due from Thailand — BN E E P EFIAE
Joint Ventures (note 13(a)) (Mt3E13(a)) 100.00% 19,613 (19,613)
2,070,551 (107,001)
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(BR=HEAN

BAARKEFIR)

35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (Cont'd)

(a)
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Credit risk (Cont’d)

Trade receivables and other receivables and other financial
assets (Cont’d)

Except for the specified expected loss, other expected loss
rates are based on historical experience and adjusted to
reflect differences between economic conditions during the
period over which the historic data has been collected, current
conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions over
the expected lives of the receivables.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade and

35 RMEREERARMEGE)

(a)

1= A Ekz ()

BESERNERAMERERIM
LHEEE)
BETETEHEERY - EiFEEEEXRE
BAFLEBAEY B ARBER(E
BHEBECEPERE) CERIEZR
B AR R AN B S R F B A TR 4B
AR AOEAR 2 B R - M INAFEEE -

FNE 5 8 YRR N EL Al MR IR K B

other receivables and finance lease receivables during the year BHERWAREBENEBEERZEHEREZES N
is as follows: N
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET R AREFT
Balance at 1 January 1A 1H B 107,001 96,007
Reversal during the year F Ao (33,674) (14,921)
Impairment losses recognised during the year FAERNREERE 172,618 26,994
Decrease on disposal of a subsidiary HETFRRR A (141) (1,079)
Exchange difference fEHER 886 -
Balance at 31 December K12 A31 A& 246,690 107,001
Liquidity risk (b) RENEE B
The Group management reviews the liquidity position of the REEEREREFEZAEBN RN
Group on an ongoing basis, including review of the expected R BREEZEFRERARRL
cash inflows and outflows, sale/pre-sale results of respective EMEBENEE TBEEE BIRK

property projects, maturity of loans and borrowings and the
progress of the planned property development projects in
order to monitor the Group’s liquidity requirements in the short
and longer terms. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor
its liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash
and adequate committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term. The directors have taken into account the forecasts
of operating performance, as well as the ability of the Group
to obtain and renew bank loans and the financial support
from shareholders in assessing the sufficiency of liquidity
requirements in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf #& 35 R Mf 5t

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 35 SFEBEEER N RER)

VALUES (Cont'd)

(b) Liquidity risk (Cont'd) (b) FENERBSR (&)
The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities THREIAEBEHEE(TERELRE
at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s financial BEHINE T I MELENTBUR
liabilities excluding receipts in advance, which the Group BH)REMERRNR TSR - &
expects to provide rental services in the future. The contractual AERERBSARMEReRE (R
maturities are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows BT Rk (W)FE)) S B AARIE
(including interest payments computed using contractual rates TOFMEHENFENAT)ARKER
or, if floating, based on rates current at the end of the reporting FEEFNEFAHTE

period) and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

ANARRASRL

More than More than

Within 1year but 2years but
1year or less than less than More than Carrying
ondemand 2years 5years 5years Total amount

—FRg BE-F BEmE
BREX BARME BHREE BRLE st KaE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARRTR ARBTT ARBTR ARBTR ARRTR ARRTR

31 December 2022 20205128318
Bank loans and other RTERRAMEE
borrowings 876,927 2,099,295 2,439,887 158,501 5,574,610 4,909,697
Lease liabilities HERRE 3,810 644 - - 4454 4,362
Tradeand other payables 25 R EERFUE 4,351,643 109477 - - 4,461,120 4,437,238
Amounts dueto controlling BRI RFE
shareholders 342,500 - - - 342,500 342,500
Senior notes BrXEE 2,933,992 - - - 2,933,992 2,609,780
Other current liabilities ARBAR 1,052,883 - - - 1,052,883 1,022,614
Other financial liabilities EteRAR 52,890 369,557 87,515 - 509,962 440,120
9,614,645 2578973 2,527,402 158,501 14,879,521 13,766,311
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRSAEHEHAI - HAARKTIR)

35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 35 SRAMBEERAARE(E)
VALUES (Cont'd)
(b) Liquidity risk (Cont'd) (b) FRENMERBE ()

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

ARARRR DR

More than More than

Within 1year but 2yearsbut
1year or less than less than More than Carrying
on demand 2years 5 years 5years Total amount

e Bh—f BBmE
BEX EANTES BAREF BALE @t e
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTTL ARBTTL AEBTT AEBTTL ARETT ARBTTL

31 December 2021 20215128318
Bankloans and other ROERREMEE
borrowings 676,281 926,268 1,753,817 441,899 3,798,265 3271323
Lease liabilities HERE 10,131 9,985 26,057 2636 48809 35,795
Tradeand otherpayables 25 R EfERFUR 4312,105 253,767 9,205 = 4575077 4554277
Amounts duetocontrolling  EEIRIRER B
shareholders 1,027,468 - - - 1,027,468 1,027,468
Senior notes ErZE 511,650 2,443,935 = = 2,955,585 2,346,462
Other current labilities Etraak 608,845 = = = 608,845 576,558
Other financial liabilities oAk 128012 133,605 907,826 = 1,169,443 947,719
7,274,492 3,767,560 2,696,905 444,535 14,183,492 12,759,602
(c) Interest rate risk (c) FZREBs
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash MEmEBEESR TAENADETAK
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of ReREeETIHFEEEHMBEBHRE
changes in market interest rates. The Group's interest rate risk %o AEBEMEXEBREERERE KRR
arises primarily from cash and cash equivalents, pledged and SEEY EEBERFRERES RZE
restricted cash and borrowings issued at variable rates. FIEEFK ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf #& 35 R Mf 5t

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 35 ERMEABRERRAREE)

VALUES (Cont'd)

(c) Interest rate risk (Cont’d) (0 F=RmEP(E)
AEBEHR L LB L EEY RO EA
BRTeREAFE  RAAEHERTE
PR RTEEEAET -

The Group does not anticipate significant impact on cash and
cash equivalents and the pledged deposits because the interest
rates of bank deposits are not expected to change significantly.
The Group does not carry out any hedging activities to manage
its interest rate exposure.

(i) Interest rate profile (i) FIEIEL
2022 2021
Effective Effective
Interest rate Interest rate
BERER=E BERRA=
% RMB’000 % RMB’000
% ARETRT % ARETIT
Fixed rate liabilities: EEFREE :
Lease liabilities HEAE 6.18% 4,362 8.76% 35,795
Bank loans and RITER N EAM
other borrowings Ep 10.41% 1,367,135 8.22% 882,060
Senior notes BEEE 13.2%- 15.01%-~
15.15% 2,609,780 15.15% 2,346,462
Other payables E A RIA 12.85% 207,814 8.31% 124,400
Other current liabilities ~ EfRE&E 2.96% 1,022,614 5.6% 576,558
Other financial liabilities Hith & B & (& 15% 352,605 15% 863,535
5,564,310 4,828,810
Variable rate liabilities: ZEFIRMEE :
Bank loans and IRITER R EA
other borrowings EE 5.63% 3,542,562 5.13% 2,389,263
9,106,872 7,218,073
Net fixed rate borrowings & F| & & E F58
as a percentage of HHRESEEN
total interest-bearing Bot
liabilities 61% 67%
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN

BAARKEFIR)

35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (Cont'd)

(c) Interest rate risk (Cont’'d)

(ii)  Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2022, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 50 basis points (2021: 50 basis points)
in interest rates, with all other variables held constant,
would have increased/decreased the Group’s loss after
tax and decreased/increased total equity attributable to
equity shareholders of the Company by approximately
RMB17,713,000 (2021: increased/decreased the Group'’s
loss after tax and decreased/increased total equity
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company by
approximately RMB8,960,000), which has not taken into
account of effect of interest capitalisation.

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s loss after tax (and retained profits)
and other components of consolidated equity that would
arise assuming that the change in interest rates had
occurred at the end of the reporting period and had been
applied to re-measure those financial instruments held by
the Group which expose the Group to fair value interest
rate risk at the end of the reporting period. In respect of
the exposure to cash flow interest rate risk arising from
floating rate non-derivative instruments held by the
Group at the end of the reporting period, the impact on
the Group's loss after tax (and retained profits) and other
components of consolidated equity is estimated as an
annualised impact on interest expense or income of such
a change in interest rates. The analysis is performed on the
same basis as 2021.

35 RMEREERERARMEGE)

(c)

226 GUANGDONG — HONG KONG GREATER BAY AREA HOLDINGS LIMITED B 345 § 5 PR A 7

A2k (&)

(ii)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bi 7% #R 3R By &

35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (Cont'd)

(d) Currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily on bank
deposits and senior notes to which the transactions relate.
The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily US dollars
and Hong Kong dollars. In this respect, it is assumed that the
pegged rate between the Hong Kong dollar and the United
States dollar would be materially unaffected by any changes
in movement in value of the United States dollar against other
currencies. It will affect the exchange reserve of the Company’s
financial statements resulted from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations into the Group’s
presentation currency.

Equity price risk
The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from

equity investments held for non-trading purposes classified as
financial assets measured at FVTPL (see note 17).

The Group’s unquoted investments are held for long term
strategic purposes. Their performance is assessed at least bi-
annually against performance of similar listed entities, based
on the limited information available to the Group, together
with an assessment of their relevance to the Group's long-term
strategic plan.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

35 RMEREERERARMEGE)

(d)

B
AREBEHHINERE - EBREERS
BRAMRTERMELRRRE - 5IHE#H
BB EEETERETIET ° WIER
T BEXTHEMEENERZEH R
SHETEI T HNBBERELS
ARHE  BRTERTMBEHRROINE
- ARKEINERNP B RRBRE
REAEEZINEEMELNER -

ERREERER
AEEHHREZHERAENER
HEBAEHRENEREENED

=

BREEENEREBRR(RHME17) -

AEBERRRERE TFHER AR
@ o AEEEREMNFABELMEERR
ARMEREHMEZERERRED
BMFEE—R - BRFGRFEAE
B RN B AERIE -
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN - GAAREIITR)

35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 35 SMEAREERAREHE)
VALUES (Cont'd)
(f) Fair value measurement  DREFE
(i)  Financial instruments measured at fair value (i) BARLBIENLHEITA

The following table presents the fair value of financial TREFR I EHRAL S AR
instruments measured at the end of the reporting AENERmIAARE  WRBIER
period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three- MIEmELERE 135 - ARERE
level fair value hierarchy as defined in IFRS 13, Fair FIRESBA=ZEAABERR - &
value measurement. The level into which a fair value AEFTERLEUTHBEF AT
measurement is classified is determined with reference to AR ASEA SR REE T
the observability and significance of the inputs used in the SR REEERR

valuation technique as follows:

Level 1 valuations:

E—RhE -

Level 2 valuations:

FERIHE

Level 3 valuations:

E=fhE -

Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date

EFERE-—RBEAEBNAAE  IRFTERHEERTSEHEREEXBER
KFRORE

Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet
Level 1, and not using significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are
inputs for which market data are not available

ERAE -_RBEBENAAE - BITHaE - AN BRBEIARBRABTATE
RNEZEE - TABRBBNERERETISERNEUR

Fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs

ERTAEENERRETENARE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf #& 35 R Mf 5t

35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

35 RMEREERERARMEGE)

VALUES (Cont'd)
(f) Fair value measurement (Cont’d) H DAREFTE(E)
(i)  Financial instruments measured at fair value (Cont’d) (i) BAAEFEHLHTAE)
Fair value measurements Fair value measurements
Fair value at asat 31 December 2022 Fair value at asat 31 December 2021
31 December categorised into 31 December categorised into
2022 0025128318 2021 05121318
R0 AERUTRANAAERE RE  PEANTRANAAESE
128318 Level 2 Level3 124318 Level2 Level3
MARE 24 =4 MAR i £=4
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
[iE ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETT  ARETR ARETR
Recurring fair value EBEDAEHE
measurements
Financial assets: SHEE:
- Wealth management -HEERER
products 2,009 2,009 - 10 10 -
- Unlisted equity investments ~ ~ BIEE 5 A 17
not held for trading JFLTREERE - - - 4,180 = 4,180
Finandial liabliy: HAR:
- Other financial liabilites ~ ~#7£ 8@ TE 30 (87,515) - (87,515) (84,184) - (84,184)
During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, éﬁ§2022¢&2021 F12A318 1k
there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or FE EA%E 4R BN AT
transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to ﬂiﬁ% Tﬁ%)\j@iﬁiﬂj%:%&
recognise transfers between levels and fair value hierarchy REBRBRENEERRBEER
as at the end of the reporting period in which they occur. RS RREERE - BRTE
BR 2 ERER o
The carrying amounts of the Group's financial instruments N EIR KA S SHA AN T AR &
carried at cost or amortised cost were not materially B T A BRTAE B E 7020224F K. 2021
different from their fair values as at 31 December 2022 FNAJNEMNAARBIEERE
and 2021. Ho
(i)  Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 fair (i) EZRAIAAETFEHHEET
value measurements ERBA B
The fair value of derivative financial instruments in Level 4“&“%& BTEMNAREAR
2 is the estimated amount that the Group would receive S BRI S BIR ALK R S 4E

or pay to terminate the option at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account current interest rates and the
current creditworthiness of the option counterparties.

,\DHE’ME{E EEt BRI = K
R EMHFEEFE -
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRSAEHEHAI - HAARKTIR)

35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 35 ERMEABRERRARMEE)

VALUES (Cont'd)
(f) Fair value measurement (Cont’d) H DAREFTE(E)
(iii) Information about Level 3 fair value measurements (iii) BEE=RIAETEHEH
The fair value of unlisted equity instruments is determined 3FLFUHXT%EIEEI'J/ S{EUAATLH £

using the price/earning ratios of comparable listed
companies adjusted for lack of marketability discount.
The fair value measurement is negatively correlated to the
discount for lack of marketability.

The fair value of amount due from joint ventures
measured at FVTPL and other financial liability are
determined using future estimated cash flow to be
recovered/paid, future profit forecast of the disposal
entity, development progress and applicable discount
rate.

NRIMER,HE X HE
ﬁﬂﬁ)&m%ﬁ%@f’ﬁﬁ BT R
o RAEMFE BB KRBTSR
A EROITERRE -

=

JEW & &R BIFIER AR EER
ERERABEEZDEAAEH
Ba - HEemBENAREBER
miBTE \quHﬂZ@/SEHE’]%XIEﬁm
2 REF BN BRAIE
AR E = EREHETE -

BNE=RASNETEEREDE

The movement during the period in the balance of Level 3

fair value measurements is as follows: AT
2022 2021
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETIT
Financial assets measured at Level 3 RE=ZZSHTENEHE
Fair value: BE:
At 1 January M1AR 4,180 337,888
Additions NE 2,000 -
Disposal BEE (4171) (248,882)
Transferred to interest in joint ventures EAHEERRNRE - (84,826)
At 31 December 1243117 2,009 4,180
Financial liabilities measured at Level 3 BREZZLTENSH
Fair value: =L
At 1 January M A1H 84,184 78,333
Net unrealised losses recognised in profit or loss F N B S FER K A B IR
during the year EBFER 3,331 5,851
At 31 December 124318 87,515 84,184
Net losses for the period included in MR ERRFENEE
profit or loss for assets and liabilities held MaEFABRNHBA
at the end of the reporting period Wz F R (3,331) (5,851)

230 GUANGDONG — HONG KONG GREATER BAY AREA HOLDINGS LIMITED B 345 § 5 PR A =



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bi 7% #R 3R By &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 35 SHMEREERAAEGE)
VALUES (Cont'd)
(f) Fair value measurement (Cont’d) H DREFTEE)
(iv) Fairvalue of financial assets and liabilities carried at (iv) UFERAALEETENEBEEN
other than fair value THEENALIEE
The carrying amounts of the Group’ s financial REBE KA R EN S
instruments which are carried at cost or amortised cost AT ERRE(EEEEEF20229F
are not materially different from their fair values as at 31 12 A31BM2021F12A31BH R
December 2022 and 2021. AEBEYEERAER -
36 COMMITMENTS 36 #*ifE
Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December contracted but R12A31BEFTAER T G HRER AEEED
not provided for in the financial statements were as follows: BARFSEWNT -
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARET T

Construction and development contracts ERRERAY 1,348,488 5,000,054
Land agreements THAERE - 251,550
1,348,488 5,251,604
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRSAEHEHAI - HAARKTIR)

37 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 37 HARAR

Guarantees

The Group provided guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities
granted by certain banks in connection with the mortgage loans
entered into by purchasers of the Group’s properties. Pursuant
to the terms of the guarantees, if there is default of the mortgage
payments by these purchasers, the Group is responsible to repay
the outstanding mortgage loans together with any accrued interest
and penalty owned by the defaulted purchasers to the banks. The
Group’s guarantee period commences from the dates of grant of
the relevant mortgage loans and ends upon the earlier of the buyer
obtained the individual property ownership certificate and the full
settlement of mortgage loans by the buyer.

The maximum amounts of guarantees given to banks for mortgage
facilities granted to the purchasers of the Group’s properties at the
end of each reporting period is as follows:

3
AEBEAETHRITHASEMER FEIL
IZIBE M H AL B E R IER - 1B
BERGHR - WZEESHERIZBAR - 8
AEBEEEEERANIZBEFEREY
BH BN TIRITHERER A EREIFK o &
SEMERPBEBRZEERRL AR
HEBERNGBEEEZEREZEHTIZRIER
KUARRE B -

REBREPRRAAEENEE L BRNIZE
BAEMRABITELNSEAERESBNT

2022 2021
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREETTT
Guarantees given to banks for mortgage facilities ~ S ANEEYEE HERNIZBRIE
granted to purchasers of the Group's properties i MR TYEH AT HER 3,255,518 3,243,670

The directors consider that it is not probable that the Group will
sustain a loss under these guarantees as the Group can take over
the ownerships of the related properties and sell the properties to
recover any amounts paid by the Group to the banks. The directors
of the Company also consider that the fair market value of the
underlying properties is able to cover the outstanding mortgage
loans guaranteed by the Group in the event the purchasers default
payments to the banks.

The Group has not recognised any deferred income in respect of
these guarantees as its fair value is considered to be minimal by the
directors of the Company.

EEZRR - AaRNAKEAREREYENR
BRYHEFMYE - AREAEEmRT
SATREM 2R - R AR E KA BER %
FRRMEZERE - ARREETRA @ i
B REERITENR - RIEREYENLRR
M{EERAAREEROKERIZBER

HRARBEZTRR/ZEERORAER
K BRAREEY R X FERERTET
WA -
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)

38 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 38 EXHBAXS
Except for interests in an associate, the amounts due from/to BREAMIEE13(0) ~ 19 ~ 22M24A B 2 (> S
related parties and bank loans guaranteed by related parties as set 7 JEURFEASTRAES 5 SRIB K B A 5 R IR
out in notes 13(b), 19, 22 and 24, the other material related party HIER A EFRON - At & KEEEE 5 22 5 4 8R40
transactions are disclosed as follows: 1S £
Key management personnel remuneration FTEEEASHMH
Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, REBFZERABTEEMT7AEER
including amounts paid to the Company’s directors as disclosed in RARESEZ NS B R EsEERSE T
note 7 and certain of the highest paid employees as disclosed in EEFEESNHNEE YT ¢

note 8, is as follows:

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBTT

Wages, salaries and other benefits in kind I& HaehEMEYWEH 13,698 22,978
Contribution to defined contribution R FGRIKETE]

retirement plans 284 277

Equity settled share-based payment expenses DEREENRDZNER 2,477 5,029

16,459 28,284

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note 5(b)). FiarEE N B T (B2 MRS b))
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN - GAAREIITR)

39 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 39 AFIEREMHMBERAER
POSITION
2022 2021
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

B aE ARBFT ARETTT

Non-current assets EREBEE

Interests in subsidiaries KT AR 1,006,409 1,441,231

Interests in an associate REgE D ERER 6,041 -
1,012,450 1,441,231

Current assets REEE

Other receivables E b el A 3,151,776 2,754,480

Cash and cash equivalents fﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁ@% 582 3,077
3,152,358 2,757,557

Current liabilities REEE

Other payables and accruals H AT K 5K 837,404 630,313

Senior notes BEEER 25 2,609,780 468,614
3,447,184 1,098,927

Net current (liabilities)/assets RE(ERE) BETE (294,826) 1,658,630

Total assets less current liabilities HWEERRBASE 717,624 3,099,861

Non-current liabilities FRBAE

Semiornotes ... BEEER 25 - . 1,877,848

NET ASSETS EESHE 717,624 1,222,013

Capital and reserves RAR & 33(a)

Share capital i 36,598 36,598

Reserves it 681,026 1,185,415

TOTAL EQUITY ERER 717,624 1,222,013

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 202354 A28 AEE g HlfE R IRE TR

April 2023.

Zeng Yunshu He Fei
EER& EIB
Executive Director Executive Director
HITEE HITEE
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40 NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING

41

PERIOD

(i)  On 1 March 2023, Mr. Feng Ke has resigned as a non-executive
director of the Company.

(i) On 7 April 2023, Mr. Dai Yiyi has resigned as an independent
non-executive director, the chairman of the nomination
committee and the member of the audit committee of the
Company.

(iii) On 17 April 2023, the Company had commenced an exchange
offer (the “2023 Exchange Offer”) for (i) at least US$67,500,000,
or 90% of the outstanding principal amount of the 12.0%
Senior Notes due 2023 (the “May 2023 Minimum Acceptance
Amount”); and (ii) at least US$273,258,000, or 90% of the
outstanding principal amount of the 2023 Senior Notes (the
“October 2023 Minimum Acceptance Amount”) upon the
terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the exchange
offer memorandum dated 17 April 2023. Pursuant to the
Company’s announcement dated 26 April 2023, US$75,000,000,
representing 100.0% of the total aggregate principal amount
of the outstanding senior notes due in May 2023, and
US$287,819,000, representing approximately 94.8% of the total
aggregate principal amount of the outstanding senior notes
due in October 2023, have been validly tendered for exchange
and accepted pursuant to the Exchange Offer. For details,
please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 17
April 2023 and 26 April 2023.

IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY

As at 31 December 2022, the directors consider the immediate
parent and ultimate controlling party of the Group to be China
Guangdong - Hong Kong Greater Bay Area Holdings Limited, which
is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability. This
entity does not produce financial statements available for public use.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHERI - HAARKTIR)
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()  M2023F3H1H » BRIEABERAT]
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(i) M2023F4A78 » FA—RAEFTAR
ABYIERITESR AQRIRELZES
FREAREZZEGHE -

(i) M2023F4F178 - AR FIRBEEHA
2023F4 417X B ENESER(TR
BRENDFSBEBTRELNGER T
HEMHHRRT - 5L36) = 2 67,500,0005
TCRR2023F R B 12% @8 L 24 » s &
REERSEEN0%([2023F5 8 EH
BIKIEMEEE ) M (i) E 1 273,258,0003
JLFY 2023 F B B A9 13.85% B o =& -
R EKREERSFMN0%([2023F108
ZEREREMSEDHABIREDN - IR
B ATIR2023F4 8268 2 2% 0 DR
75,000,000 3 7T, (1l 2% 17 7E ¥M 2023 FF
SAEBELZEEMNASLREE100%) &
287,819,000 7T ({5 #1T/£ 72023 10
AEEBELERBHN A S ETEL94.8%)
ERBERBENEBIRIEZ R ERE
o FHIBEBE2MART B A2023F4
H178 K2023%F4 B26 BHIR4E o
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(BRSAEHEHAI - HAARKTIR)

42 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW

43

STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2022

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the IASB has
issued a number of new or amended standards, which are not yet
effective for the year ended 31 December 2022 and which have not
been adopted in these financial statements. These developments
include the following which may be relevant to the Group.

42 REF2022F12A31BLEECHE
HERERAERT ENRRE
BT RERCE

EEEVHBRERTEAE  BE SR
BEEDMME TREZE2022612A31H 1t
FEH AR AN B W ER R WER NS
TR TR - HR IR N AIgEEAREE A
BRETE -

Effective for
accounting
periods
beginning

on or after
AL B E
R EBEKRZ
SHHBEN

IFRS 17, Insurance contracts

BRI TSR ERIEN TS - REEA

Amendments to IAS 1, Classification of liabilities as current or non-current

BT ERBVRNER] - KR EDEBRB AT

Amendments to IAS 1, Disclosure of accounting policies
R ETERIEVRNER] - B KRR

Amendments to IAS 8, Definition of accounting estimates
Rt ERIESSRENER] - BA A A ESE

Amendments to IAS 12, Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a single transaction

REHERIEIRNIER]  HE X ZEL B ENE EIEFHELRE

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these developments is expected to be in the period of
initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them
is unlikely to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

COMPARATIVES FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with
the current year’s presentation.

1 January 2023
$2023F181H

1 January 2023
$2023F181H

1 January 2023
720231 81H

1 January 2023
20231 A1H

1 January 2023
20231 A1H

AEBEEEF R EERT R EHERE
FREEAEELENTE - BIERRL - ER

M E
SRAZFERNL A AT e E iR A M HwEK
ERE AT EH R o

43 LERBF
ETHBRBFEEFDBUTAERFEZET
N
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES HELD BY THE GROUP XE BB 2 IR E Y%

COMPLETED INVESTMENT PROPERTIES ERIREEYME
Percentage of
Floor area interest of
BHER the Company
No.  Properties Type Term of land sq.m. AT
Fi W B T ERR FHK FE 3= A
1 Portion of Jewel Market and Convention Center  Convention Medium 18,250 100%

of Wuzhou Trade Center, Center

Shundi Avenue,

Changzhou District,

Wuzhou,

Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region,

PRC

il gRPO ]
Bk E AR

FEN T

Ril&

PN ]
BNEEDRTLEABRGRT OHED

2 Portion of Small Commaodity Market of Zone B Commercial Medium 50,481 100%
of Jining Trade Center,
East State Road 105,
North Juyu Road,
Jining,
Shandong Province,
PRC
E [EES ]
WA
BET
105B1ER ~ FEREKIL
BEEEYIRT LB &
NI ED D

3 Zone D of Jining Trade Center, Intersection Commercial Medium 64,852 100%
of State Road 105 and Taibai Road,
Jining,
Shandong Province,
PRC
B [EE S HH
IWERA
BEM
105B038 B K A B8 X M iR
BEREYRT LDR
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Percentage of

Floor area interest of

BHER the Company

No.  Properties Type Term of land sq.m. ¥ /N
P W kil THFER F 75K R L

4 Portion of Comprehensive Exhibition Center, Commercial Medium 15,907 100%
Ganzhou Hydoo Trade Center,
Southwest side of Tan Dong Road Two,
Northwest Hexie Avenue,
Ganzhou,
Jiangxi Province,
PRC
# [EES I E
IRE
BN
BRIl
BNl
BB EHEDRE
mEagRPLZED

5 Portion of Hall 5, Commercial Medium 28,233 100%
Hydoo International Trade Center,
1228 North Second Ring Road,
Yulin,
Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region,
PRC
Y EES GAEE
Eritkaam
B Uil
ZIRIEBR 12285
RIEBIFRE B
59REEZ #B
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No.
ik

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES HELD BY THE GROUP A &EBiF B 2 IR EW %

Properties

ES

Type
ki)

Term of land

TR

Percentage of

Floor area interest of
BHER the Company
sq.m. ¥ /N

F 7K Rz L

Red Star Macalline Global,

Household Shopping Mall in Heze Trade Center,
East of National Highway 220,

West of Kunming Road, North of Binhe Road,
Mudan District,

Heze,

Shandong Province,

PRC

FE

IERAE

SEET

HAER

220E1 B AR

EERABE LATE

BB AL

SRR IEM
AEFRIERRXELEES

Featured food street,

Ganzhou Hydoo Trade Center,
Southwest side of Tan Dong Road One,
Southeast side of Innovation Avenue,
Ganzhou,

Jiangxi Province,

PRC

HE

NGRS

BN

BIFTAERE A

BR— P Al
BMNREREDRE

FeERMA

Commercial

[EES

Commercial

[EES

Medium

T

Medium

P

54,213 100%

45,323 100%
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES HELD BY THE GROUP "B IFHE 2 IR EY %

Percentage of

Floor area interest of

BHER the Company

No.  Properties Type Term of land sq.m. ¥ /N
P W kil THFER F 75K R L

8 No. 1 pavilion, Commercial Medium 26,538 95%
No. 2 exchange Square of Hydoo,
East side of Xingnan Avenue,
Xingning County,
Meizhou,
Guangdong Province,
PRC
& [EES Gkt
1M
B 22 5%
B A B R A
RER R FES
—SRER

9 Level 40, Block E, Commercial Medium 1,931 100%
China Resources Land Building,
No. 18 First Dachong Road,
Nanshan District,
Shenzhen,
Guangdong Province,
PRC
H [EES FHf
EXRE
Z2lhil
ML
KRR —EE1855%
HEHEBEMAEEE
40/
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